
Page 1 of 3 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular meeting of September 3, 2024. 

Agenda Revisions 

Special Presentations 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 
business.) 

Staff Updates 

Old Business 

2. Pass Ordinance #3079, amending Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to the purpose, eligibility for license, conditions for issuance of license, approval 
required, application for approval; granting of approval, suspension or revocation of approval, 
location and operation-generally, and location and operation-exemptions, upon its second 
consideration. 

3. Pass Ordinance #3080, amending Chapter 12, Human Relations, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to the Human Rights Commission; membership; appointment of members; term of office; and 
qualifications, upon its second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 

discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

4. Approve the following recommendation of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Lauri Young, Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission, term ending 09/30/2028. 

5. Approve the application of J & M Displays, Inc. (Holiday Hoopla) for a fireworks display permit for 
November 29, 2024. 

6. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Hampton Inn & Suites, 101 West 1st Street, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) The Ragged Edge Art Bar & Gallery, 504 Bluff Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
c) Lucky Wife Wine Slushies, 5307 Caraway Lane, Parking Lot, Special Class C retail alcohol & 
outdoor service - 5-day permit. (October 2 - 6, 2024) 

1



Page 2 of 3 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

7. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

8. Resolution approving electronic bidding procedures and Official Statement relative to the sale of 
$4,520,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024. 

9. Resolution approving and adopting amendments to CFD 2257: Personnel Policy – Employee 
Wellness and CFD 2159: Personnel Policy - Severance Pay. 

10. Resolution approving and accepting a Warranty Deed for property located at 4109 West 1st Street 
relative to safety improvements at the Highway 57 & Union Road intersection. 

11. Resolution approving a commitment of local match funds to the Cedar Falls Local Housing Trust 
Fund. 

12. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of an Aerial Platform 
Apparatus for the Public Safety Department. 

13. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Assignment and Assumption Agreement 
relative to an Agreement for Private Development and conveyance of development property by DS 
Warehouse, LLC to Reel Deal Holdings, LLC. 

14. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Public Art Committee Agreement for a Lease 
Extension of Artwork with Rachel Heine relative to the sculpture at 311 Main Street. 

15. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of an application for an Iowa Tourism Grant for 
funding relative to promotional materials to promote the Gateway Water Trail. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing submission of an application for an Iowa Tourism Grant for 
funding relative to joint promotional materials with Iowa Communities to promote white water and 
river recreation. 

17. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Encroachment and Reimbursement 
Agreement with the Greenhill Village Neighborhood Association relative to the installation of a sign 
within the public right-of-way in conjunction with the Greenhill Village Subdivision. 

18. Resolution approving a Hwy-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District site plan for construction of a 
restaurant to be located at 1150 Brandilynn Boulevard. 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement for Compost Facility 
Management Services with T & W Grinding relative to management of the City’s compost facility. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Strand Associates, Inc. relative to development of the 2023 
Stormwater Master Plan. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of two Owner Purchase Agreements; and approving 
and accepting two Temporary Construction Easements; two Storm Sewer and Drainage Easements, 
in conjunction with the Katoski Drive Box Culvert Replacement Project. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for administrative and design services relative to the Gibson Property Development 
Project. 

Ordinances 

23. Pass an ordinance, amending Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to work performed within city right-of-way or property, upon its first consideration. 

2



Page 3 of 3 

24. Pass an ordinance repealing Section 3-46, painter’s or erector’s license, of Chapter 3, Advertising, 
and Section 7-93, Bond; guarantee of service, of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of 
the Code of Ordinances, upon its first consideration. 

25. Pass an ordinance, amending Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to Insurance, and Chapter 25, Vehicles for Hire, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to liability insurance required, upon its first consideration. 

26. Pass an ordinance, amending Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to bond and issuance, Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to unlawful dumping; filling on private land, and Chapter 13, Licenses and 
Business Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances relative to bond, upon its first consideration. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

27. Allow Bills and Claims for September 16, 2024. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

28. Referral to review Land Use Permits and fees. 

Adjournment 

3



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, SEPTEMBER 3, 2024 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR DANIEL LAUDICK PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Laudick led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
54939 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of August 19, 2024 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54940 - Rick Sharp, Cedar Falls, commented on various roundabouts throughout the city 

and requested adding roundabouts at the intersections of Prairie Parkway and 
Greenhill Road and Rownd Street and Greenhill Road. Director of Public Works 
Schrage commented. 

 
54941 - Director of Finance & Business Operations Rodenbeck provided details on the 

Hope & Honor 5K being held on September 11, 2024.    
  
54942 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3075, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to salary 
of members and salary of the Mayor, be passed upon its third and final 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#3075 duly passed and adopted. 

54943 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Hawbaker that Ordinance #3076, 
amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to oath; 
bond and powers and duties, be passed upon its third and final consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance #3076 duly passed and 
adopted. 

54944 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Hawbaker that Ordinance #3077, 
amending Chapter 16, Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to discharge of weapons, be passed upon its third and final 
consideration. Following comments by Councilmember Ganfield, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#3077 duly passed and adopted. 

54945 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that Ordinance #3078, amending 
Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances relative to applicability, 
definitions and requirements for approval of stormwater management plan, be 
passed upon its third and final consideration. Following comments and questions 

4

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

by Councilmember Kruse, and responses by Director of Public Works Schrage, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#3078 duly passed and adopted. 

54946 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Hawbaker that the following items on the 
Consent Calendar be received, filed, and approved:  

 
 Receive and file the City Council Committee of the Whole minutes of August 19, 

2024 relative to the following item: 
a) Public Transit. 

 Receive and file the following resignation of members from Boards and 
Commissions: 
a) Julie Etheredge, Historic Preservation Commission. 

 Receive and file communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to the 
following certified lists: 
a) Civil CAD/GIS Technician. 
b) Construction Project Manager. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Aldi Inc., 315 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
b) Escapology Cedar Falls, 2518 Melrose Drive, Special Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
c) Blue Room, 201 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - renewal. 
d) Hilton Garden Inn, 7213 Nordic Drive, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
- renewal. 
e) Holiday Inn & Suites Hotel/Event Center, 7400 Hudson Road, Class C retail 
alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
f) The Brass Tap, 419 & 421 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
- renewal. 
g) The Landmark, 107 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
h) The Pump Haus Pub & Grill, 311 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service - renewal. 
i) Wilbo, 118 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
j) Aldi Inc., 315 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class B retail alcohol - change in 
ownership. 
k) Jorgensen Plaza (Table 1912, Diamond Event Center and Gilmore’s Pub), 
5307 Caraway Lane, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - temporary 
expansion of outdoor service area. (October 3, 2024) 
l) The Horny Toad American Bar & Grille,202 - 204 Main Street, Class C retail 
alcohol - temporary outdoor service. (September 21, 2024) 

 Motion carried unanimously. 

54947 -  It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Kruse to approve the following 
recommendation of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to Boards 
and Commissions:  

    a) Maggie Watkins, Planning & Zoning Commission, term ending 11/01/2027. 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

 
 

   Following comments by Mayor Laudick and Maggie Watkins, the motion carried 
unanimously.  

 
54948 -   It was moved by Latta and seconded by Crisman to approve the application of 

Crossroads Fireworks LLC for a fireworks display permit for September 28, 2024. 
Following comments by Event Organizer Jacob Paul, questions by 
Councilmember Kruse, and Rick Sharp, Cedar Falls, and responses by City 
Attorney Rogers and Mayor Laudick, the motion carried unanimously. 
 

54949 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Hawbaker that the following 
resolutions be introduced and adopted: 

 Resolution #23,759, approving and authorizing the Transfer of Funds from the 
General Fund to the Health Insurance Fund and Capital Projects Fund relative to 
the Fiscal year ending June 30, 2024. 

 Resolution #23,760, approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product 
Agreement with Benton's Sand & Gravel, Inc. relative to demolition of structures 
located at 2603 South Union Road, 2617 South Union Road, and 6512 West 
Ridgeway Avenue. 

 Resolution #23,761, approving and authorizing execution of an Assignment and 
Assumption Agreement relative to an Agreement for Private Development and 
conveyance of development property by CV Commercial, LLC a/k/a CV 
Commercial, L.L.C. ("CV") to CV Commercial 4, LLC ("CV4"). 

 Resolution #23,762, approving and adopting the May 18, 2022 Cedar Falls 
Resilience Plan as presented by Perkins & Will. 

 Resolution #23,763, approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real 
Estate and Acceptance for property located at 515 West 1st Street. 

 Resolution #23,764, approving and authorizing submission of a Railroad 
Crossing Elimination (RCE) Grant application to the Federal Railroad 
Administration; and approving and authorizing the local match relative to 
abandoning and removing the Cedar Falls Rail Spur. 

 Resolution #23,765, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a F-250 Ford truck for the Public Works Department. 

 Resolution #23,766, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a Ford Transit-250 for the Cable Television Division. 

 Resolution #23,767, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Owen 
Contracting, Inc. for the Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection 
Improvements Project. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,759 through #23,767 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

duly passed and adopted. 

54950 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Crisman that Resolution #23,768, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with HKGi relative to 
consultant services for the Parks and Recreation Master Plan, be adopted.  
Following comments and questions by Councilmembers Kruse and Ganfield, and 
responses by Director of Community Development Sheetz and City Administrator 
Gaines, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, 
Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #23,768 duly passed and adopted. 

54951 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that Ordinance #3079, amending 
Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
the purpose, eligibility for license, conditions for issuance of license, approval 
required, application for approval; granting of approval, suspension or revocation 
of approval, location and operation-generally, and location and operation-
exemptions, be passed upon its first consideration. Following questions by 
Councilmember Kruse and Mayor Laudick, and responses by Planning & 
Community Services Manager Howard, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

54952 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3080, 
amending Chapter 12, Human Relations, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
the Human Rights Commission; membership; appointment of members; term of 
office; and qualifications, be passed upon its first consideration. Following 
comments by Mayor Laudick, questions by Councilmembers Ganfield and Latta, 
and responses by City Attorney Rogers and Mayor Laudick, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54953 -  It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Hawbaker that the bills and claims of 
September 3, 2024 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City 
Treasurer be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the 
proper funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54954 -     Councilmember Kruse questioned where to find information about Land Use 

Permits in the Code of Ordinances. Director of Community Development Sheetz 
and Mayor Laudick responded. 

  
    Councilmember Dunn provided information on the Household Hazardous Waste 

& Electronics Recycling Drop-off Event being held on Saturday, September 7, 
2024 and encouraged people to volunteer. She also noted that registration is 
required to participate. Councilmember Kruse commented. 

   
    Councilmember Latta congratulated the Cedar Falls School District and the 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

Community on the turnout for the first home Cedar Falls football game and 
thanked Public Safety for traffic control. 

 
54955 -     It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Kruse to refer to Goal Setting a 

discussion on escalating the timetable of adding roundabouts to the intersections 
at Prairie Parkway and Greenhill Road and Rownd Street and Greenhill Road. 
Mayor commented that he will include in Goal Setting. 

 
54956 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that the meeting be adjourned 

at 7:33 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
                                                           __________________________________ 
                                                           Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

8

Item 1.



 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager 

 DATE: September 3, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Amendments to Chapter 5 – Alcoholic and Malt Beverages 
 

 
Introduction 
 
Planning and FBO staff worked with the City Attorney to prepare updates to City Code Chapter 
5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, to bring the ordinance into compliance with Iowa Code 
changes in terminology.  Iowa Code no longer identifies separate permits for wine, beer, and 
liquor for on-site consumption. They are now all considered “retail alcohol licenses.”   
 
In reviewing this Chapter, staff recommends several additional changes related to where 
licensed establishments are allowed and to the spacing requirements from residential zones.   
 
Issues and Solutions 
 
The current ordinance requires establishments that sell alcohol for on-site consumption to be 
located at least 150 feet from the boundary of any zoning district that is “more restrictive” than 
the zone in which the establishment is located, unless the establishment meets the definition of 
a “restaurant.” To qualify as a restaurant, the owner is required to submit to the City Clerk 
verified sales statements of the total dollar volume of food sales and total dollar volume of 
alcoholic beverages sales every six months to verify that at least 66.66 percent of sales are 
from food. This has proved to be a very cumbersome process for both the owner and for city 
staff and consequently compliance with this requirement has been inconsistent. In addition, it 
is not always easy to determine which zones are “more restrictive” than others, so this has 
largely been interpreted as 150-foot spacing from a residential zoning district.  
 
To simplify this process, staff recommends eliminating the 150-foot spacing requirement for 
the licensed establishment, but maintain a 150-foot spacing requirement for outdoor service 
areas from residential areas, where the potential nuisance effects of late-night activity outdoors 
may be disturbing to residents in lower density residential neighborhoods nearby. Since there 
are restaurants that currently have outdoor service areas that may be located within 150 feet of 
a residential area, staff recommends including an exemption from the spacing requirement if 
the outdoor service area will be closed by 10:00 PM.  Since most restaurants are not open 
beyond 10:00 PM, this will be easier for establishments to comply and for the City to enforce.  
 

9

Item 2.



 
 

Staff also recommends simplifying the location standards by eliminating the long list of zoning 
districts where establishments are allowed and simply stating that a retail alcohol license is 
allowed if the use is allowed according to the zoning. For example, the restaurant that is 
located in Western Homes Communities is allowed according to the MU District Master Plan 
approved with the development, so a retail alcohol license would be allowed for this restaurant. 
This will eliminate the need for the special provision allowing an alcohol license for a retirement 
community. It will also eliminate the need for updating the ordinance every time a new zoning 
district is added or eliminated from the ordinance over time.   
 
Another change proposed is to eliminate a potential conflict between fencing standards in this 
ordinance (required 5 to 8-foot solid fence around the outdoor service area) and fencing 
standards in the zoning ordinance, which allows front yard fences no taller than 4 feet in most 
cases. According to the ordinance, outdoor service areas are not allowed in the front yard 
(between the building and the public street).  However, licensed establishments may request 
an exemption from this front yard prohibition. Staff recommends that when an exemption is 
granted to allow an outdoor service area in the front yard, that the fencing requirement also be 
adjusted to comply with the standards in the zoning code. For example, the outdoor service 
area at George’s Restaurant downtown would not be as welcoming or attractive if it was 
surrounded by a 5 to 8-foot solid fence and such a fence would not comply with zoning 
standards. At the time the exemption was granted for George’s, staff worked with the owner on 
fencing that would be more appropriate for an outdoor service area along Main Street. Making 
the suggested change to the ordinance will make it clear what is expected for outdoor service 
areas located along street frontages, which should be similar in character to sidewalk cafes.  
 
Other changes to the ordinance are to bring terminology up to date and other minor corrections 
to the language.  
 
Recommendation 
 
Staff recommend approval of the proposed changes to Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt 
Beverages, as indicated in the attached, red-lined draft.  

10

Item 2.



- CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 5 - ALCOHOLIC AND MALT BEVERAGES 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 
 

 

 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:12 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 1 of 5 

ARTICLE I. IN GENERAL 

Sec. 5-1. Purpose. 

Regulations for the sale of alcoholic beverages are preempted to the state by the Iowa Alcoholic Beverage 
Control Act (Iowa Code ch. 123). The purpose of this chapter is to provide for local regulations for the location of 
the premises of retail alcohol wine or beer and liquor control licensed establishments and governing activities or 
such matters which that may affect the health, welfare and morals of the community relating to the establishment 
of certain retail alcohol licenses. and permits 

(Code 2017, § 5-1) 

Sec. 5-2. Penalty for violation of chapter. 

Unless a specific penalty is provided for in this chapter, any person who violates any of the provisions of this 
chapter shall be subject to punishment as provided in section 1-8.  

(Code 2017, § 5-3; Ord. No. 2362, § 3, 12-10-2001) 

Sec. 5-3. Compliance with state law. 

It shall be unlawful to sell, offer or keep for sale or possess alcoholic liquor, wine or beer except upon the 
terms, conditions, limitations and restrictions enumerated in the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, Iowa Code ch. 
123.  

(Code 2017, § 5-4) 

Sec. 5-4. Eligibility for license or permit. 

Upon meeting the requirements imposed by state law and the ordinances of the city, a person may apply for 
a retail alcohol licenseliquor control license or a wine or beer permit.  

(Code 2017, § 5-5) 

Sec. 5-5. Conditions for issuance of license or permit. 

(a) As a condition for issuance of a retail alcoholliquor control license or wine or beer permit, the applicant must 
give consent to members of the fire operations division, police operations division, health department, 
building inspector, county sheriff, deputy sheriff, members of the department of public safety, 
representatives of the department of inspections and appeals, certified police officers and any official county 
health officer to enter upon areas of the premises where alcoholic beverages are stored, served or sold, 
without a warrant, during business hours of the licensee or permittee, to inspect for violations of the 
Alcoholic Beverage Control Act (Iowa Code ch. 123) or of this chapter.  

(b) No retail alcoholliquor control license shall be issued for premises which do not conform to all applicable 
laws, regulations, ordinances, resolutions and health and fire regulations. No licensee shall have or maintain 

11

Item 2.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:11 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 2 of 5 

any interior access to residential or sleeping quarters unless permission is granted by the administrator of 
the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, the permission to be in the form of a living quarters permit.  

(c) In addition to the statutory requirements for a retail alcoholliquor control license or wine or beer permit, the 
following requirements must also be met for the issuance of such licensea liquor control license or wine or 
beer permit that would allow consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises:  

(1) The premisesplace of business for which such retail alcohol licenseliquor control license or wine or beer 
permit is sought must be in a zoning district in which the use is allowed, or is an allowed conditional 
use as approved by the Board of Adjustment.  In the MU and RP districts, the premises for which such 
license is sought must be in a location where the land use is allowed according to the approved master 
plan.  In a Character District, the premises for which such license is sought must be in a location where 
the land use is allowed according to the adopted regulating plan.located within a commercial district 
(C-1, C-2, C-3, S-1, HWY-1, PC-2, PO-1, MPC, BR), industrial district (M-1, M-2, M-P), MU Mixed Use 
Residential District, or CD-DT Downtown Character District.  

a. The zoning district requirements of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply to any public 
agency.  

b. The zoning district requirement of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply to a liquor 
control license or wine or beer permit issued to a private club as defined in Iowa Code § 
123.3(11), provided that such club is owned by, ancillary to, and located on the premises of, a 
retirement community or retirement village.  

bc. The zoning district requirements of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply to a retail 
alcohol licenseany liquor control license or wine or beer permit which  that is issued for any 
establishment located on city-owned property;, provided, however, that the city, as owner of the 
property, shall have consented to the granting of such license or permit.  

(2) Additional requirements related to the location and operation of sidewalk cafes and outdoor service 
areas where alcoholic beverages are served and consumed are stated in section 19-94 and section 5-
67, respectively The liquor control license or wine or beer permit must apply only to building areas, 
with the exception of country clubs or similar type operations.  

(3) Except for a restaurant, which is defined as any retail establishment where the principal business of 
which consists of the sale of food products for consumption on the premises, and where the volume of 
all food sales shall not be less than 66⅔ percent of the dollar volume of sales made by the 
establishment, the licensed building is to be no closer, at the closest point, than 150 feet to the border 
of the zoning district adjacent to the district in which the licensed building is located, if the adjacent 
zoning district is more restrictive than those zoning districts set forth in subsection (c)(1) of this section.  

(4) For establishments that qualify as a restaurant as defined in subsection (c)(3) of this section, the liquor 
control licensee or wine or beer permittee shall furnish to the city clerk verified monthly statements of 
total dollar volume of food sales and total dollar volume of alcoholic beverage sales for six consecutive 
months. Thereafter, sales statements, as provided for in this section, shall be submitted for each 
consecutive six-month period until the liquor control license or wine or beer permit expires or has been 
revoked.  

(Code 2017, § 5-6; Ord. No. 2256, § 1, 2-22-1999; Ord. No. 2397, § 1, 9-23-2002; Ord. No. 2749, § 1, 6-13-2011; 
Ord. No. 2830, § 1, 10-20-2014; Ord. No. 2994, § 10, 11-1-2021) 

 
 

12

Item 2.



- CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 5 - ALCOHOLIC AND MALT BEVERAGES 

ARTICLE III. OUTDOOR SERVICE AREAS 
 

 

 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:12 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 3 of 5 

ARTICLE III. OUTDOOR SERVICE AREAS 

Sec. 5-63. Approval required. 

Any permittee or licensee under article I of this chapter, or any applicant for a license or permit under article 
I of this chapter, desiring to operate an outdoor service area adjacent to and in conjunction with the licensed 
premises must obtain the approval of the city council and of the state alcoholic beverages division before 
commencing operation of such outdoor service area.  An approved outdoor service area shall be considered part of 
the licensed premises that it adjoins.  

(Code 2017, § 5-76) 

Sec. 5-64. Application for approval; granting of approval. 

(a) An application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be made to the state alcoholic beverages 
division. Such application may accompany the initial application or any renewal application for a license or 
permit under article I of this chapter or may be submitted at any time in conjunction with an amended 
application for a license or permit. An application for the approval of an outdoor service area shall include all 
information required to be submitted with applications for retail alcoholbeer permits and liquor licenses. The 
accompanying application materials shall be submitted to the city clerk at least 15 days prior to the date it is 
to be considered by the city council. An outdoor service area shall be subject to the same annual renewal 
requirements as are all retail alcoholbeer permits and liquor licenses. Approval by the city council of an 
outdoor service area shall be to the state alcoholic beverages division with regard to the diagram, dram shop 
insurance coverage and all other state and local requirements.  

(b) Upon submitting an application for approval of an outdoor service area, the applicant shall provide the name 
and address of the owner of each abutting property as well as every other property which is within 150 feet 
of the applicant's premises. The city will then notify these property owners by letter of the nature of the 
application and the date and time when it will appear on the agenda for approval by the city council, so that 
these property owners will have an opportunity to comment on the application if they wish.  

(c) Approval or disapproval of an application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be at the discretion of 
the city council. Such discretion shall be exercised with due regard to public health, safety and welfare 
considerations. If there is a change of ownership, the outdoor service area use shall be permitted to 
continue, provided that the usage is continuous and the area has not been altered.  

(Code 2017, § 5-77) 

Sec. 5-65. Suspension or revocation of approval. 

(a) The city may, after notice to the licensee or permittee and after a reasonable opportunity for hearing, 
suspend or revoke authorization for the operation of an outdoor service area for any establishment when 
the licensee or permittee has violated or has permitted or allowed the violation of any provision of the Iowa 
Code or this Code pertaining to the operation of an outdoor service area that constitutes a threat to public 
health, welfare or safety, or constitutes a nuisance.  

13

Item 2.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:12 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 4 of 5 

(b) The suspension or revocation procedure shall be initiated by the police chief by the filing of a complaint with 
the city council or state alcoholic beverages division. Written notice of the hearing, as well as a copy of the 
complaint, shall be served upon the licensee or permittee at least ten days prior to the date set for hearing. 
In the event of suspension or revocation, the city shall notify the state alcoholic beverages division pursuant 
to Iowa Code § 123.32.  

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) of this section, the city council may order the 
immediate closure of an outdoor service area if it is determined that its continued operation presents a clear 
and imminent threat to public health, safety and welfare.  

(d) Suspension or revocation of authorization by the city for the operation of an outdoor service area shall not 
affect the licensing of the principal establishment, unless separate action to suspend or revoke that license 
or permit is also initiated.  

(Code 2017, § 5-78) 

Sec. 5-66. Inspection. 

Outdoor service areas shall be subject to inspection at least annually at the same time inspection of the 
adjacent licensed establishment occurs. The city may, in its discretion, inspect an outdoor service area at any other 
time.  

(Code 2017, § 5-79) 

Sec. 5-67. Location and operation—Generally. 

The operation of an outdoor service area shall be subject to the following terms, conditions and regulations:  

(1) Outdoor service areas must be located on private property and may not encroach on any public right-
of-way, except as provided for in section 19-9416-132 for use of public sidewalks for sidewalk cafes.  

(2) Outdoor service areas shall not be located in the front yard of any licensed premises. If an exemption is 
granted under section 5-68 allowing an outdoor service area in the front yard, fencing and screening 
may not exceed 4 feet in height, be no more than 50% solid, and meet any other requirements for 
fencing within the zoning district where the premises are located.   

(3) Outdoor service areas shall be screened on all sides from public view. Screening shall consist of a fence 
or other suitable barrier not less than five feet in height and not more than eight feet in height. It shall 
be of solid construction which will effectively prevent ingress or egress from the premises except by 
way of an emergency fire exit. Such fire exit shall be required of all outdoor service areas.  

(4) An outdoor service area shall not be accessible except from the licensed premises which it adjoins. The 
required fire exit shall be an emergency exit only.  

(5) An outdoor service area must be immediately adjacent to the licensed establishment of which it is a 
part.  

(6) Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only where the adjacent licensed premises is allowed as 
providedin those zones listed in section 5-56(c)(1)., and shall be permitted only if the service area . The 
premises may request an exemption from this spacing requirement if the outdoor service area will not 
be open after 10:00 PM. meets or exceeds the requirements of section 5-6(c)(3).  

(7)     Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only if the outdoor service area is located at least 150 feet 
from the nearest point of an R-1, R-2, or R-3 zoning district, designated residential area within an RP or 
MU district master plan, or neighborhood frontage area within a Character District.  The licensee may 

14

Item 2.



 

 

 
    Created: 2024-05-29 12:04:12 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 19) 

 
Page 5 of 5 

request an exemption under section 5-68 from this spacing requirement if the outdoor service area will 
not be open after 10:00 p.m.   

(87) Outdoor service areas shall comply with appropriate building, housing and fire codes and with all other 
applicable state and city laws.  

(98) Seating or other accommodations in an outdoor service area shall not exceed one person per 15 
square feet of floor area accessible to the public.  

(109) Amplified sound equipment shall be prohibited in outdoor service areas. Compliance with the city 
noise ordinance shall be required.  

(11)   Additional advertising or identification signage beyond that permitted for the main licensed 
establishment shall not be permitted.  

(12) The owner or operator of an outdoor service area shall be required to observe the same per square 
foot occupancy limits that apply to the building to which it abuts adjoins. The occupancy limit for each 
outdoor service area shall be determined by the city building official. If inclement weather requires 
early closing of the outdoor service area, the licensee or permittee shall not allow patrons of the 
outdoor service area to enter that portion of the licensed premises housed in the adjacent building if to 
do so would result in exceeding the occupancy limits therefor as determined by the city building 
official.  

(Code 2017, § 5-80) 

Sec. 5-68. Location and operation—Exemptions. 

(a) An applicant may, as a part of the application for an outdoor service area, request exemption from the 
requirements of section 5-67(2), (3), (4), (7) and (109). After review and comment by appropriate city staff, 
the city council may approve such exemptions if it determines that to do so would not jeopardize the health, 
welfare or safety of the users of the outdoor service area or the owners or users of abutting property. The 
burden of establishing entitlement to such exemption shall be upon the applicant, and cost of compliance 
alone shall not be sufficient grounds to justify exemption. Outdoor service areas in existence on the date of 
passage of the ordinance from which this article is derived are required to comply with all requirements for 
outdoor service areas stated in this articlesubsection (a) of this section, or to obtain exemption therefrom as 
provided in this section.  

(b) For the purpose of this article, an outdoor service area shall be considered a building area as provided for in 
section 5-6(c)(2).  

(Code 2017, § 5-81) 

 

15

Item 2.



 
 

 
 

Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner II, City of Cedar Falls. 220 Clay Street,  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 268-5184 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 3079 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, AND 

ARTICLE III, OUTDOOR SERVICE AREAS, WITHIN CHAPTER 5, 

ALCOHOLIC AND MALT BEVERAGES, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

 
WHEREAS, amendments to Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages are necessary to 

update terms to be consistent with Iowa Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, amendments will address administrative challenges that have been 

identified in the evaluation of requests for retail alcohol licenses and associated outdoor 
services areas related to the location of the premises and proximity to certain residential zones; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls City Council has determined that said amendments to 

Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages, are in the best interests of the community. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, THAT: 

 
Section 1: Sec. 5-1, Purpose, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following Section 5-1, is 
enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-1. Purpose. 

Regulations for the sale of alcoholic beverages are preempted to the state by the Iowa Alcoholic 
Beverage Control Act (Iowa Code ch. 123). The purpose of this chapter is to provide for local 
regulations for the location of the premises of retail alcohol licensed establishments and 
governing activities or such matters that may affect the health, welfare and morals of the 
community relating to the establishment of certain retail alcohol licenses. 

 

Section 2:  Sec. 5-4, Eligibility for license or permit, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the 
following Sec. 5-4, is enacted in lieu thereof:  

Sec. 5-4. Eligibility for license. 

Upon meeting the requirements imposed by state law and the ordinances of the city, a person 
may apply for a retail alcohol license. 

 

Section 3:  Sec. 5-5, Conditions for issuance of license or permit, is hereby repealed in its 
entirety and the following Sec. 5-5 is enacted in lieu thereof: 

16

Item 2.



 
 

Sec. 5-5. Conditions for issuance of license. 

(a) As a condition for issuance of a retail alcohol license, the applicant must give consent to 
members of the fire operations division, police operations division, health department, 
building inspector, county sheriff, deputy sheriff, members of the department of public 
safety, representatives of the department of inspections and appeals, certified police 
officers and any official county health officer to enter upon areas of the premises where 
alcoholic beverages are stored, served or sold, without a warrant, during business hours of 
the licensee or permittee, to inspect for violations of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act 
(Iowa Code ch. 123) or of this chapter.  

(b) No retail alcohol license shall be issued for premises which do not conform to all applicable 
laws, regulations, ordinances, resolutions and health and fire regulations. No licensee shall 
have or maintain any interior access to residential or sleeping quarters unless permission is 
granted by the administrator of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, the permission to be in 
the form of a living quarters permit.  

(c) In addition to the statutory requirements for a retail alcohol license, the following 
requirements must also be met for the issuance of such license that would allow 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises:  

(1) The premises for which such retail alcohol license is sought must be in a zoning 
district in which the use is allowed, or is an allowed conditional use as approved by 
the Board of Adjustment.  In the MU and RP districts, the premises for which such 
license is sought must be in a location where the land use is allowed according to the 
approved master plan.  In a Character District, the premises for which such license is 
sought must be in a location where the land use is allowed according to the adopted 
regulating plan.  

a. The zoning district requirements of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply 
to any public agency.  

b. The zoning district requirements of subsection (c)(1) of this section shall not apply 
to a retail alcohol license that is issued for any establishment located on city-
owned property; provided, however, that the city, as owner of the property, shall 
have consented to the granting of such license.  

(2) Additional requirements related to the location and operation of sidewalk cafes and 
outdoor service areas where alcoholic beverages are served and consumed are 
stated in section 19-94 and section 5-67, respectively   

 
Section 4:  Sec. 5-63, Approval required, is hereby repealed in its entirety and the following Sec. 
5-63, is enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-63. Approval required. 

Any licensee under article I of this chapter, or any applicant for a license under article I of this 
chapter, desiring to operate an outdoor service area adjacent to and in conjunction with the 
licensed premises must obtain the approval of the city council and of the state alcoholic 
beverages division before commencing operation of such outdoor service area.  An approved 
outdoor service area shall be considered part of the licensed premises that it adjoins. 
 

 

 

17

Item 2.



 
 

Section 5:  Sec. 5-64, Application for approval; granting of approval, repealed in its entirety and 
the following Sec. 5-64, is enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-64. Application for approval; granting of approval 

(a) An application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be made to the state alcoholic 
beverages division. Such application may accompany the initial application or any renewal 
application for a license under article I of this chapter or may be submitted at any time in 
conjunction with an amended application for a license. An application for the approval of an 
outdoor service area shall include all information required to be submitted with applications 
for retail alcohol licenses. The accompanying application materials shall be submitted to the 
city clerk at least 15 days prior to the date it is to be considered by the city council. An 
outdoor service area shall be subject to the same annual renewal requirements as are all 
retail alcohol licenses. Approval by the city council of an outdoor service area shall be to 
the state alcoholic beverages division with regard to the diagram, dram shop insurance 
coverage and all other state and local requirements.  

(b) Upon submitting an application for approval of an outdoor service area, the applicant shall 
provide the name and address of the owner of each abutting property as well as every 
other property which is within 150 feet of the applicant's premises. The city will then notify 
these property owners by letter of the nature of the application and the date and time when 
it will appear on the agenda for approval by the city council, so that these property owners 
will have an opportunity to comment on the application if they wish.  

(c) Approval or disapproval of an application for approval of an outdoor service area shall be at 
the discretion of the city council. Such discretion shall be exercised with due regard to 
public health, safety and welfare considerations. If there is a change of ownership, the 
outdoor service area use shall be permitted to continue, provided that the usage is 
continuous and the area has not been altered. 

 

Section 6:  Sec. 5-65, Suspension or revocation of approval, is hereby repealed in its entirety 
and the following Sec. 5-65, is enacted in lieu thereof:  

Sec. 5-65. Suspension or revocation of approval 

(a) The city may, after notice to the licensee and after a reasonable opportunity for hearing, 
suspend or revoke authorization for the operation of an outdoor service area for any 
establishment when the licensee has violated or has permitted or allowed the violation of 
any provision of the Iowa Code or this Code pertaining to the operation of an outdoor 
service area that constitutes a threat to public health, welfare or safety, or constitutes a 
nuisance.  

(b) The suspension or revocation procedure shall be initiated by the police chief by the filing of 
a complaint with the city council or state alcoholic beverages division. Written notice of the 
hearing, as well as a copy of the complaint, shall be served upon the licensee at least ten 
days prior to the date set for hearing. In the event of suspension or revocation, the city 
shall notify the state alcoholic beverages division pursuant to Iowa Code § 123.32.  

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a) and (b) of this section, the city council 
may order the immediate closure of an outdoor service area if it is determined that its 
continued operation presents a clear and imminent threat to public health, safety and 
welfare.  

18

Item 2.



 
 

(d) Suspension or revocation of authorization by the city for the operation of an outdoor service 
area shall not affect the licensing of the principal establishment, unless separate action to 
suspend or revoke that license is also initiated.  

 
Section 7:  Sec. 5-67, Location and operation–Generally, is hereby repealed in its entirety and 
the following Sec. 5-67, is enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-67. Location and operation—Generally. 

The operation of an outdoor service area shall be subject to the following terms, conditions and 
regulations: 
  
(1) Outdoor service areas must be located on private property and may not encroach on any 

public right-of-way, except as provided for in section 19-94 for use of public sidewalks for 
sidewalk cafes.  

 
(2) Outdoor service areas shall not be located in the front yard of any licensed premises. If an 

exemption is granted under section 5-68 allowing an outdoor service area in the front yard, 
fencing and screening may not exceed 4 feet in height, be no more than 50% solid, and 
meet any other requirements for fencing within the zoning district where the premises are 
located. 

   
(3) Outdoor service areas shall be screened on all sides from public view. Screening shall 

consist of a fence or other suitable barrier not less than five feet in height and not more 
than eight feet in height. It shall be of solid construction which will effectively prevent 
ingress or egress from the premises except by way of an emergency fire exit. Such fire exit 
shall be required of all outdoor service areas.  

 
(4) An outdoor service area shall not be accessible except from the licensed premises which it 

adjoins. The required fire exit shall be an emergency exit only.  
 
(5) An outdoor service area must be immediately adjacent to the licensed establishment of 

which it is a part.  
 
(6) Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only where the adjacent licensed premises is 

allowed as provided in section 5-5(c)(1). 
 
(7)   Outdoor service areas shall be permitted only if the outdoor service area is located at least 

150 feet from the nearest point of an R-1, R-2, or R-3 zoning district, designated residential 
area within an RP or MU district master plan, or neighborhood frontage area within a 
Character District.  The licensee may request an exemption under section 5-68 from this 
spacing requirement if the outdoor service area will not be open after 10:00 p.m.  

  
(8) Outdoor service areas shall comply with appropriate building, housing and fire codes and 

with all other applicable state and city laws.  
 
(9) Seating or other accommodations in an outdoor service area shall not exceed one person 

per 15 square feet of floor area accessible to the public.  
 
(10) Amplified sound equipment shall be prohibited in outdoor service areas. Compliance with 

the city noise ordinance shall be required.  
 

19

Item 2.



 
 

(11) Additional advertising or identification signage beyond that permitted for the main licensed 
establishment shall not be permitted.  

 
(12) The owner or operator of an outdoor service area shall be required to observe the same 

per square foot occupancy limits that apply to the building to which it adjoins. The 
occupancy limit for each outdoor service area shall be determined by the city building 
official. If inclement weather requires early closing of the outdoor service area, the licensee 
or permittee shall not allow patrons of the outdoor service area to enter that portion of the 
licensed premises housed in the adjacent building if to do so would result in exceeding the 
occupancy limits therefor as determined by the city building official. 
 

Section 8:  Sec. 5-68, Location and operation–Exemptions, is hereby repealed in its entirety and 
the following Sec. 5-68 is enacted in lieu thereof: 

Sec. 5-68. Location and operation—Exemptions.  

An applicant may, as a part of the application for an outdoor service area, request exemption 
from the requirements of section 5-67(2), (3), (4), (7) and (10). After review and comment by 
appropriate city staff, the city council may approve such exemption if it determines that to do so 
would not jeopardize the health, welfare or safety of the users of the outdoor service area or the 
owners or users of abutting property. The burden of establishing entitlement to such exemption 
shall be upon the applicant, and cost of compliance alone shall not be sufficient grounds to 
justify exemption. Outdoor service areas in existence on the date of passage of the ordinance 
from which this article is derived are required to comply with all requirements for outdoor service 
areas stated in this article, or to obtain exemption therefrom as provided in this section.  
 

 

INTRODUCED:     September 3, 2024         

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   September 3, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:             

 

 
____________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  
 

20

Item 2.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Human Resources Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Chelsie Luhring, Human Rights Commission Staff Liaison 

 DATE: August 19, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Human Rights Commission Ordinance 

 
During the August 12, 2024, regular Human Rights Commission (HRC) meeting, 
commissioners unanimously supported a proposed ordinance revision to shift from an 
11-member to a 9-member commission. The current commission is at 7 of 11 members. 
If approved, quorum would be set at 5 commissioners instead of the current 6. The 
above revision could aid in setting practicable expectations for recruitment, retention, 
and collaboration of the commission. 
 
Moving to a 9-member commission would also be more closely aligned with other major 
Iowa cities: West Des Moines (7); Des Moines (7); Cedar Rapids (9); Davenport (7); 
Ames (7); and Dubuque (9).   
 
Also included in the proposed ordinance revision is removal of the stipulation of having 
“vacancies filled within 60 days” for the remainder of an unexpired term. There is 
currently no repercussions for not filling a vacancy within that timeframe and eliminating 
this piece will allow the time necessary for the HRC to find the best qualified candidates.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. Please reach out with any questions. 
 
  

21

Item 3.



ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 12-2, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION; 

MEMBERSHIP; APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS; TERM OF OFFICE; AND 

QUALIFICATIONS, OF ARTICLE I, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION, OF CHAPTER 12, 

HUMAN RELATIONS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA, TO REDUCE THE NUMBER OF COMMISSIONERS FROM ELEVEN TO NINE. 

                  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                  Section 12-2, Human Rights Commission; Membership; Appointment of Members; Term of 

Office; and Qualifications, of Article I, Human Rights Commission, of Chapter 12, Human Relations, of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 

12-2, of the same title, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 12-2. Human Rights Commission; membership; appointment of members; term of office; 

and qualifications. 

(a) The city human rights commission shall consist of nine11 members, appointed by the mayor with the advice 
and consent of the city council. Appointees subsequent to the initial appointees shall serve for a term of 
three years, and thereafter until a successor has been appointed. Vacancies shall be filled within 60 days for 
the remainder of an unexpired term. Appointments shall take into consideration the various racial, religious, 
economic, cultural, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, physical disability and social groups in the 
city.  

(b) In so far as reasonably practicable, appointees for membership on the commission shall be residents of the 
city, or, if that is not reasonably practicable, shall have a place of employment in the city. Appointees who 
are neither residents of the city nor who have a place of employment in the city may be eligible for 
appointment to the commission upon a finding of the unavailability of qualified applicants, as determined by 
the mayor. Any person who is a member of the commission on the date of adoption of the ordinance from 
which this article is derived who does not meet the qualifications for membership set forth herein shall 
continue to be eligible to serve as a member of the commission until both the expiration of his current term 
and the member's non-reappointment by the mayor to an additional term.  

(Ord. No. 2977, § 1, 1-4-2021; Ord. No. 3005, § 1, 2-21-2022) 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

Formatted: Top:  2"

22

Item 3.



 

_______________________                                   Attest:    _________________________ 
   Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                        Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23

Item 3.



ORDINANCE NO. 3080 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 12-2, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION; 

MEMBERSHIP; APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS; TERM OF OFFICE; AND 

QUALIFICATIONS, OF ARTICLE I, HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION, OF CHAPTER 12, 

HUMAN RELATIONS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA, TO REDUCE THE NUMBER OF COMMISSIONERS FROM ELEVEN TO NINE. 

                  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                  Section 12-2, Human Rights Commission; Membership; Appointment of Members; Term of 

Office; and Qualifications, of Article I, Human Rights Commission, of Chapter 12, Human Relations, of the 

Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 

12-2, of the same title, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows:  

Sec. 12-2. Human Rights Commission; membership; appointment of members; term of office; and 

qualifications. 

(a) The city human rights commission shall consist of nine members, appointed by the mayor with the 
advice and consent of the city council. Appointees subsequent to the initial appointees shall serve 
for a term of three years, and thereafter until a successor has been appointed. Vacancies shall be 
filled for the remainder of an unexpired term. Appointments shall take into consideration the various 
racial, religious, economic, cultural, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, physical disability 
and social groups in the city.  

(b) In so far as reasonably practicable, appointees for membership on the commission shall be 
residents of the city, or, if that is not reasonably practicable, shall have a place of employment in the 
city. Appointees who are neither residents of the city nor who have a place of employment in the city 
may be eligible for appointment to the commission upon a finding of the unavailability of qualified 
applicants, as determined by the mayor. Any person who is a member of the commission on the 
date of adoption of the ordinance from which this article is derived who does not meet the 
qualifications for membership set forth herein shall continue to be eligible to serve as a member of 
the commission until both the expiration of his current term and the member's non-reappointment by 
the mayor to an additional term.  

(Ord. No. 2977, § 1, 1-4-2021; Ord. No. 3005, § 1, 2-21-2022) 

 

INTRODUCED:     September 3, 2024   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   September 3, 2024   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

 

                                             
           Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
Attest: 

 

      

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

24

Item 3.



 MAYOR DANNY LAUDICK  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 

 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Danny Laudick   

 DATE: September 16, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Bicycle and Pedestrian Commission – Member Reappointment 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-462(a): Bicycle and Pedestrian 

Commission 

   

1. In accordance with the candidacy and qualification requirements of reference (a), I 
hereby nominate the following citizen for reappointment to a four year term: 

 
 Lauri Young, term ends 9/30/2028 
   

2. Please contact me with any questions you may have about these reappointments. 
 

 

 

xc:   City Administrator 

  Director of Community Development 

 

 

 
 

### 
 
 
 

25

Item 4.



26

Item 5.



27

Item 5.



28

Item 5.



29

Item 5.



30

Item 5.



31

Item 5.



32

Item 5.



33

Item 5.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Laudick and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  September 9, 2024 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Hampton Inn & Suites, 101 West 1st Street, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 

b) The Ragged Edge Art Bar & Gallery, 504 Bluff Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

c) Lucky Wife Wine Slushies, 5307 Caraway Lane, Parking Lot, Special Class C retail alcohol & 
outdoor service - 5-day permit. (October 2 - 6, 2024) 

34

Item 6.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick & City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: September 10, 2024 

 SUBJECT:  2024 Bond Sales 

 
On October 7, 2024, the City is scheduled to sell General Obligation Capital Loan Notes 
for various purposes and projects (the list was provided in a previous council packet).  
The attached resolution directs the notice of the sale and allows for electronic bidding 
procedure for the sale.   
 
Also attached is the Preliminary Official Statement (POS) that was emailed out ahead of 
time to Council members for review.  This POS includes various financial information 
about the City and is subject to Federal Securities Law regulation. Staff has worked with 
Public Financial Management, our financial advisors and Ahlers Cooney Law Firm, our 
bond counsel to prepare this document.  
 

 
If you have any questions regarding the bond sale, please feel free to contact me.  

35

Item 8.



ITEMS TO INCLUDE ON AGENDA 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

$4,520,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 

 

  Resolution approving electronic bidding procedures and Official Statement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE MUST BE GIVEN PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE 

CHAPTER 21 AND THE LOCAL RULES OF THE CITY. 

 

 

 

36

Item 8.



- 1 - 

 

September 16, 2024 

 

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, met in Regular session, in the 

Council Chambers, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M., on the above 

date.  There were present Mayor Laudick, in the chair, and the following named Council 

Members: 

 

Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn 

 

 

Absent: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Vacant: ___________________________________________ 

 

* * * * * * *  

  

37

Item 8.



- 2 - 

Council Member ____________________ introduced the following resolution entitled 

"RESOLUTION APPROVING ELECTRONIC BIDDING PROCEDURES AND OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT", and moved that the resolution be adopted.  Council Member 

____________________ seconded the motion to adopt.  The roll was called and the vote was, 

 

AYES: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

NAYS: ___________________________________________ 

 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the resolution duly adopted as follows: 

RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 

RESOLUTION APPROVING ELECTRONIC BIDDING 

PROCEDURES AND OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with its Municipal Advisor, PFM Financial Advisors LLC, 

the City has caused an Official Statement to be prepared outlining the details of the proposed sale 

of the Notes; and 

WHEREAS, the Council has received information from its Municipal Advisor evaluating 

and recommending the procedure hereinafter described for electronic and internet bidding to 

maintain the integrity and security of the competitive bidding process and to facilitate the 

delivery of bids by interested parties; and 

WHEREAS, the Council deems it in the best interests of the City and the residents 

thereof to receive bids to purchase such Notes by means of both sealed and electronic internet 

communication. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, STATE OF IOWA: 

Section 1. That the preliminary Official Statement in the form presented to this meeting 

be and the same hereby is approved as to form and deemed final for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 of 

the Securities and Exchange Commission, subject to such revisions, corrections or modifications 

as the Mayor and Clerk, upon the advice of bond counsel, and the City's Municipal Advisor, 

shall determine to be appropriate, and is authorized to be distributed in connection with the 

offering of the Notes for sale. 

Section 2. That the receipt of electronic bids through the PARITY® Competitive Bidding 

System described in the Official Statement are hereby found and determined to provide 

38

Item 8.



- 3 - 

reasonable security and to maintain the integrity of the competitive bidding process, and to 

facilitate the delivery of bids by interested parties in connection with the offering at public sale. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 16th day of September, 2024. 

  

 

 

  

Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

  

Kim Kerr, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

39

Item 8.



 

CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 

I, the undersigned City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, do hereby certify 

that attached is a true and complete copy of the portion of the records of the City showing 

proceedings of the Council, and the same is a true and complete copy of the action taken by the 

Council with respect to the matter at the meeting held on the date indicated in the attachment, 

which proceedings remain in full force and effect, and have not been amended or rescinded in 

any way; that meeting and all action thereat was duly and publicly held in accordance with a 

notice of meeting and tentative agenda, a copy of which was timely served on each member of 

the Council and posted on a bulletin board or other prominent place easily accessible to the 

public and clearly designated for that purpose at the principal office of the Council pursuant to 

the local rules of the Council and the provisions of Chapter 21, Code of Iowa, upon reasonable 

advance notice to the public and media at least twenty-four hours prior to the commencement of 

the meeting as required by law and with members of the public present in attendance; I further 

certify that the individuals named therein were on the date thereof duly and lawfully possessed of 

their respective City offices as indicated therein, that no Council vacancy existed except as may 

be stated in the proceedings, and that no controversy or litigation is pending, prayed or 

threatened involving the incorporation, organization, existence or boundaries of the City or the 

right of the individuals named therein as officers to their respective positions. 

 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the Council hereto affixed this 16th day of 

September, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

Kim Kerr, City Clerk 

City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa 

 

 
02400169\10283-193 

40

Item 8.



PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 

New Issue Rating:  Moody’s Investors Service ‘Aaa’ 
 

Assuming compliance with certain covenants, in the opinion of Ahlers & Cooney, P.C., Bond Counsel, under present law and assuming continued compliance with the 
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), interest on the Notes is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  
Interest on the Notes is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax on individuals; however, such interest is taken into account 
in determining the annual adjusted financial statement income of applicable corporations (as defined in Section 59(k) of the Code) for the purpose of computing the 
alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations for tax years beginning after December 31, 2022.  Interest on the Notes is NOT exempt from present Iowa income 
taxes. The Notes will NOT be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligation”.  See “TAX MATTERS” section herein for a more detailed discussion. 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

$4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 
 

BIDS RECEIVED: Monday, October 7, 2024, 10:00 A.M., Central Time  
AWARD: Monday, October 7, 2024, 7:00 P.M., Central Time 

 

Dated:  Date of Delivery (November 13, 2024) Principal Due: June 1, as shown inside front cover 
 
The $4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 (the “Notes”) are being issued pursuant to Subchapter III of 
Chapter 384 of the Code of Iowa and a resolution (the “Resolution) to be adopted by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa (the “City”).  The Notes are being issued to provide funds to pay costs of City capital projects, including opening, widening, 
extending, grading, and draining of the right-of-way of streets, highways, avenues, alleys and public grounds, and market places, and 
the removal and replacement of dead or diseased trees thereon; the construction, reconstruction, and repairing of any street 
improvements, bridges, grade crossing separations and approaches; the acquisition, installation, and repair of sidewalks, culverts, 
retaining walls, storm sewers, sanitary sewers, water service lines, street lighting, and traffic control devices, and the acquisition of 
any real estate needed for any of the foregoing purposes; rehabilitation and improvement of parks already owned, including the 
removal, replacement and planting of trees in the parks, and facilities, equipment, and improvements commonly found in city parks; 
and equipping the fire department; acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, improvement, equipping of City facilities, 
including camera installation, replacement and maintenance, library handler equipment, public safety building maintenance and 
equipping the community center; and expanded public infrastructure, related amenities and site improvements. 
 
The Purchaser of the Notes agrees to enter into a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) with the City pursuant to the authority 
contained in Sections 384.24A and 384.25 of the Code of Iowa.  The Notes are issued in evidence of the City’s obligations under the 
Loan Agreement.  The Notes are general obligations of the City for which the City will pledge its power of levy direct ad valorem 
taxes against all taxable property within the City without limitation as to rate or amount to the repayment of the Notes. 
 
The Notes will be issued as fully registered Notes without coupons and, when issued, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., 
as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”).  DTC will act as securities depository for the Notes.  Individual purchases 
may be made in book-entry-form only, in the principal amount of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof.  The Purchaser will not 
receive certificates representing their interest in the Notes purchased.  Principal of the Notes, payable annually on each June 1, 
beginning June 1, 2026 and interest on the Notes, payable initially on June 1, 2025 and thereafter on each December 1 and June 1, 
will be paid to DTC by the City’s Controller/City Treasurer (the “Registrar”).  DTC will in turn remit such principal and interest to 
its participants for subsequent disbursements to the beneficial owners of the Notes as described herein.  Interest and principal shall be 
paid to the registered holder of a note as shown on the records of ownership maintained by the Registrar on the 15th day of the month 
preceding such interest payment date (the “Record Date”). 
 

THE NOTES WILL MATURE AS LISTED ON THE INSIDE FRONT COVER 
  

 MINIMUM BID: $4,474,800 
 
 GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT: $45,200 Required of Purchaser Only 
 
 TAX MATTERS: Federal:  Tax-Exempt 
  State:  Taxable 
  See “TAX MATTERS” section for more information. 
 
The Notes are offered, subject to prior sale, withdrawal or modification, when, as, and if issued subject to the unqualified approving 
legal opinion of Ahlers & Cooney, P.C., Bond Counsel, Des Moines Iowa, to be furnished upon delivery of the Notes.  It is expected 
that the Notes in definitive form will be available for delivery on or about November 13, 2024 through DTC in New York, New 
York.  The Preliminary Official Statement in the form presented is deemed final for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, subject to revisions, corrections or modifications as determined to be appropriate, and is authorized to be 
distributed in connection with the offering of the Notes for sale. 
 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 

T
hi

s 
P

re
li

m
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l 
St

at
em

en
t 

an
d 

th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
he

re
in

 a
re

 s
ub

je
ct

 t
o 

co
m

pl
et

io
n,

 a
m

en
dm

en
t o

r 
ot

he
r 

ch
an

ge
 w

ith
ou

t n
ot

ic
e.

  
T

he
 N

ot
es

 m
ay

 n
ot

 b
e 

so
ld

 n
or

 m
ay

 o
ff

er
s 

to
 b

uy
 b

e 
ac

ce
pt

ed
 p

ri
or

 t
o 

th
e 

ti
m

e 
th

e 
P

re
li

m
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l 
St

at
em

en
t 

is
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 i
n 

fi
na

l 
fo

rm
. 

 U
nd

er
 n

o 
ci

rc
um

st
an

ce
s 

sh
al

l 
th

is
 P

re
li

m
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l 
St

at
em

en
t 

co
ns

tit
ut

e 
an

 o
ff

er
 t

o 
se

ll 
or

 t
he

 s
ol

ic
ita

tio
n 

of
 a

n 
of

fe
r 

to
 b

uy
, 

no
r 

sh
al

l 
th

er
e 

be
 a

ny
 

sa
le

 o
f 

th
e 

N
ot

es
 in

 a
ny

 ju
ri

sd
ic

tio
n 

in
 w

hi
ch

 s
uc

h 
of

fe
r,

 s
ol

ic
ita

tio
n 

or
 s

al
e 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
un

la
w

fu
l p

ri
or

 to
 r

eg
is

tr
at

io
n 

or
 q

ua
lif

ic
at

io
n 

un
de

r 
th

e 
ap

pl
ic

ab
le

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 la

w
s 

of
 a

ny
 s

uc
h 

ju
ri

sd
ic

ti
on

. 

41

Item 8.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

$4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 
 
MATURITY: The Notes will mature June 1 in the years and amounts as follows: 

 
Year Amount* Year Amount* 

    

2026 $250,000 2032 $355,000 
2027 610,000 2033 370,000 
2028 290,000 2034 390,000 
2029 305,000 2035 410,000 
2030 320,000 2036 430,000 
2031 340,000 2037 450,000 

 
*PRINCIPAL 
  ADJUSTMENT: Preliminary; subject to change.  The City reserves the right to increase or decrease the 

aggregate principal amount of the Notes and to increase or reduce each scheduled maturity 
thereof after the determination of the successful bidder.  The City may increase or decrease each 
maturity in increments of $5,000 but the total amount to be issued, will not exceed $4,750,000.  
Interest rates specified by the successful bidder for each maturity will not change. Final 
adjustments shall be in the sole discretion of the City. 

The dollar amount of the purchase price proposed by the successful bidder will be 
changed if the aggregate principal amount of the Notes is adjusted as described above. Any 
change in the principal amount of any maturity of the Notes will be made while maintaining, 
as closely as possible, the successful bidder's net compensation, calculated as a percentage of 
note principal.  The successful bidder may not withdraw or modify its bid as a result of any 
post-bid adjustment.  Any adjustment shall be conclusive and shall be binding upon the 
successful bidder. 

 
INTEREST: Interest on the Notes will be payable on June 1, 2025 and semiannually thereafter. 

 
OPTIONAL 
REDEMPTION: The Notes, due after June 1, 2032, will be subject to call prior to maturity in whole, or from 

time to time in part, in any order of maturity and within a maturity by lot on said date or on 
any date thereafter upon terms of par plus accrued interest to date of call.  Written notice of 
such call shall be given at least thirty (30) days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the 
registered owners of the Notes to be redeemed at the address shown on the registration books. 

  

42

Item 8.



COMPLIANCE WITH S.E.C. RULE 15c2-12 
 
Municipal obligations (issued in an aggregate amount over $1,000,000) are subject to General Rules and Regulations, 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Rule 15c2-12 Municipal Securities Disclosure. 
 
Preliminary Official Statement:  This Preliminary Official Statement was prepared for the City for dissemination to 
prospective bidders.  Its primary purpose is to disclose information regarding the Notes to prospective bidders in the 
interest of receiving competitive bids in accordance with the TERMS OF OFFERING contained herein. Unless an 
addendum is received prior to the sale, this document shall be deemed the near final “Official Statement”. 
 
Review Period:  This Preliminary Official Statement has been distributed to City staff as well as to prospective bidders 
for an objective review of its disclosure.  Comments, omissions or inaccuracies must be submitted to PFM Financial 
Advisors LLC (the “Municipal Advisor”) at least two business days prior to the sale.  Requests for additional 
information or corrections in the Preliminary Official Statement received on or before this date will not be considered a 
qualification of a bid received.  If there are any changes, corrections or additions to the Preliminary Official Statement, 
prospective bidders will be informed by an addendum at least one business day prior to the sale. 
 
Final Official Statement:  Upon award of sale of the Notes, the legislative body will authorize the preparation of a 
final Official Statement that includes the offering prices, interest rates, selling compensation, aggregate principal 
amount, principal amount per maturity, anticipated delivery date and other information required by law and the identity 
of the underwriter (the “Syndicate Manager”) and syndicate members.  Copies of the final Official Statement will be 
delivered to the Syndicate Manager within seven business days following the bid acceptance. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the City, the Municipal Advisor or the underwriter 
to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Preliminary Official Statement 
or the final Official Statement and, if given or made, such information and representations must not be relied upon as 
having been authorized by the City, the Municipal Advisor or the underwriter.  This Preliminary Official Statement or 
the final Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there by any 
sale of the Notes by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, 
solicitation or sale.  The information set forth herein has been obtained from the City and other sources which are 
believed to be reliable, but it is not to be construed as a representation by the Municipal Advisor or underwriter.  The 
information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this 
Preliminary Official Statement or the final Official Statement, nor any sale made thereafter shall, under any 
circumstances, create any implication there has been no change in the affairs of the City or in any other information 
contained herein, since the date hereof.  This Preliminary Official Statement is submitted in connection with the sale of 
the securities referred to herein and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any other purpose. 
 
This Preliminary Official Statement and any addenda thereto were prepared relying on information from the City and 
other sources, which are believed to be reliable. 
 
Bond Counsel has not participated in the preparation of this Preliminary Official Statement and is not expressing any 
opinion as to the completeness or accuracy of the information contained therein. 
 
Compensation of the Municipal Advisor, payable entirely by the City, is contingent upon the sale of the issue. 

43

Item 8.



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

City Council 
 

  Term Expires 

Danny Laudick Mayor January 1, 2026 
Gil Schultz Council Member – 1st Ward  December 31, 2025 
Chris Latta Council Member – 2nd Ward/Mayor Pro-Tem  December 31, 2027 
Daryl Kruse Council Member – 3rd Ward December 31, 2025 
Aaron Hawbaker Council Member – 4th Ward December 31, 2027 
Dustin Ganfield Council Member – 5th Ward December 31, 2025 
Kelly Dunn Council Member – At Large December 31, 2025 
Hannah Crisman Council Member – At Large December 31, 2027 

 

Administration 
 

Ron Gaines – City Administrator 
Jennifer Rodenbeck – Director of Finance & Business Operations 

Lisa Roeding – Controller/City Treasurer 
Kim Kerr – City Clerk/Public Records 

 
 

City Attorney 
 

Kevin Rogers 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

Bond Counsel 
 

Ahlers & Cooney, P.C., 
Des Moines, Iowa 

 
 

Municipal Advisor 
 

PFM Financial Advisors LLC, 
Des Moines, Iowa 

44

Item 8.



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

TERMS OF OFFERING ................................................................................................................................ i 

SCHEDULE OF NOTE YEARS ............................................................................................................... vii 

EXHIBIT 1 - FORMS OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATES 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

Introduction ................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Authority and Purpose .................................................................................................................................. 1 

Interest on the Notes ..................................................................................................................................... 1 

Optional Redemption of the Notes ............................................................................................................... 2 

Payment of and Security for the Notes ......................................................................................................... 2 

Book-Entry-Only Issuance ........................................................................................................................... 2 

Future Financing ........................................................................................................................................... 4 

Litigation ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Debt Payment History ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Legality. ........................................................................................................................................................ 5 

Tax Matters ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

Noteholder's Risks .................................................................................................................................... 8 

Rating .......................................................................................................................................................... 12 

Municipal Advisor ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

Continuing Disclosure ................................................................................................................................ 12 

Financial Statements ................................................................................................................................... 13 

Certification ................................................................................................................................................ 13 

APPENDIX A - GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

APPENDIX B - FORM OF LEGAL OPINION 

APPENDIX C - JUNE 30, 2023 COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 

APPENDIX D - FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 

OFFICIAL BID FORM 

45

Item 8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page has been left blank intentionally.) 
 

46

Item 8.



i 

TERMS OF OFFERING 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

$4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 
 
 

Bids for the purchase of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa’s (the “City”) $4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan 
Notes, Series 2024 (the “Notes”) will be received on Monday, October 7, 2024, before 10:00 A.M., Central Time, after 
which time they will be tabulated.  The City Council will consider award of the Notes at 7:00 P.M., Central Time, on 
the same day.  Questions regarding the sale of the Notes should be directed to the City’s Municipal Advisor, PFM 
Financial Advisors LLC (the “Municipal Advisor”), 801 Grand Avenue, Suite 3300, Des Moines, Iowa, 50309, 
telephone 515-724-5724.  Information can also be obtained from Ms. Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & 
Business Operations, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, telephone 319-268-5108. 
 

This section sets forth the description of certain terms of the Notes as well as the TERMS OF OFFERING with 
which all bidders and bid proposals are required to comply, as follows: 
 

DETAILS OF THE NOTES 
 
GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN NOTES, SERIES 2024 in the principal amount of $4,520,000*, will 
be dated the date of delivery (anticipated to be November 13, 2024), in the denomination of $5,000 or multiples 
thereof, and will mature June 1 as follows: 
 
 

Year Amount* Year Amount* 
    

2026 $250,000 2032 $355,000 
2027 610,000 2033 370,000 
2028 290,000 2034 390,000 
2029 305,000 2035 410,000 
2030 320,000 2036 430,000 
2031 340,000 2037 450,000 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
 

ADJUSTMENT TO NOTE MATURITY AMOUNTS 
 
The City reserves the right to increase or decrease the aggregate principal amount of the Notes and to increase or reduce 
each scheduled maturity thereof after the determination of the successful bidder.  The City may increase or reduce 
each maturity in increments of $5,000 but the total amount to be issued will not exceed $4,750,000. Interest rates 
specified by the successful bidder for each maturity will not change.  Final adjustments shall be in the sole discretion of 
the City. 
 
The dollar amount of the purchase price proposed by the successful bidder will be changed if the aggregate principal 
amount of the Notes is adjusted as described above.  Any change in the principal amount of any maturity of the Notes 
will be made while maintaining, as closely as possible, the successful bidder's net compensation, calculated as a 
percentage of note principal.  The successful bidder may not withdraw or modify its bid as a result of any post-bid 
adjustment.  Any adjustment shall be conclusive and shall be binding upon the successful bidder. 
 

INTEREST ON THE NOTES 
 
Interest on the Notes will be payable on June 1, 2025 and semiannually on the 1st day of December and June thereafter.  
Interest and principal shall be paid to the registered holder of a note as shown on the records of ownership maintained 
by the Registrar as of the 15th day of the month (whether or not a business day) preceding such interest payment date 
(the “Record Date”).  Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months and will be 
rounded pursuant to rules of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 
  

47

Item 8.



ii 

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF THE NOTES 
 
The Notes, due after June 1, 2032, will be subject to call prior to maturity in whole, or from time to time in part, in any 
order of maturity and within a maturity by lot on said date or on any date thereafter at the option of the City, upon terms 
of par plus accrued interest to date of call.  Written notice of such call shall be given at least thirty (30) days prior to the 
date fixed for redemption to the registered owners of the Notes to be redeemed at the address shown on the registration 
books. 
 

TERM-NOTE OPTION 
 
Bidders shall have the option of designating the Notes as serial notes or term notes, or both.  The bid must designate 
whether each of the principal amounts shown above represent a serial maturity or a mandatory redemption requirement 
for a term Note maturity. (See the OFFICIAL BID FORM for more information.)  In any event, the above principal 
amount scheduled shall be represented by either serial note maturities or mandatory redemption requirements, or a 
combination of both. 
 

GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT 
 
A good faith deposit in the amount of $45,200 (the “Deposit”) is required from the lowest bidder only.  The lowest 
bidder is required to submit such Deposit payable to the order of the City, not later than 12:00 P.M., Central Time, on the 
day of the sale of the Notes and in the form of either (i) a cashier’s check provided to the City or its Municipal Advisor, 
or (ii) a wire transfer as instructed by the City’s Municipal Advisor.  If not so received, the bid of the lowest bidder may 
be rejected, and the City may direct the second lowest bidder to submit a Deposit and thereafter may award the sale of 
the Notes to the same. No interest on a Deposit will accrue to the successful bidder (the “Purchaser”).  The Deposit 
will be applied to the purchase price of the Notes.  In the event a Purchaser fails to honor its accepted bid proposal, the 
Deposit will be retained by the City. 
 

FORM OF BIDS AND AWARD 
 
All bids shall be unconditional for the Notes for a price not less than $4,474,800, plus accrued interest, and shall 
specify the rate or rates of interest in conformity to the limitations set forth under the “BIDDING PARAMETERS” 
section herein.  Bids must be submitted on or in substantial compliance with the OFFICIAL BID FORM provided by 
the City. The Notes will be awarded to the bidder offering the lowest interest rate to be determined on a true interest 
cost (the “TIC”) basis assuming compliance with the “ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE” and “GOOD FAITH 
DEPOSIT” sections herein.  The TIC shall be determined by the present value method, i.e., by ascertaining the 
semiannual rate, compounded semiannually, necessary to discount to present value as of the dated date of the Notes, the 
amount payable on each interest payment date and on each stated maturity date or earlier mandatory redemption, so that 
the aggregate of such amounts will equal the aggregate purchase price offered, therefore.  The TIC shall be stated in 
terms of an annual percentage rate and shall be that rate of interest, which is twice the semiannual rate so ascertained 
(also known as the Canadian Method).  The TIC shall be as determined by the Municipal Advisor based on the 
TERMS OF OFFERING and all amendments, and on the bids as submitted.  The Municipal Advisor’s computation of 
the TIC of each bid shall be controlling.  In the event of tie bids for the lowest TIC, the Notes will be awarded by lot. 
 
The City will reserve the right to (i) waive non-substantive informalities of any bid or of matters relating to the receipt 
of bids and award of the Notes, (ii) reject all bids without cause, and (iii) reject any bid which the City determines to 
have failed to comply with the terms herein. 
 

BIDDING PARAMETERS 
 
Each bidder’s proposal must conform to the following limitations: 
 

1. Each annual maturity must bear a single rate of interest from the dated date of the Notes to the date of maturity. 
 

2. Rates of interest bid must be in multiples of one-eighth or one-twentieth of one percent. 
 

3. The initial price to the public for each maturity must be 98% or greater. 
  

48

Item 8.



iii 

RECEIPT OF BIDS 
 
Forms of Bids: Bids must be submitted on or in substantial compliance with the TERMS OF OFFERING and 
OFFICIAL BID FORM provided by the City or through PARITY® competitive bidding system (the “Internet Bid 
System”).  Neither the City nor its agents shall not be responsible for malfunction or mistake made by any person, or as 
a result of the use of an electronic bid or the means used to deliver or complete a bid.  The use of such facilities or 
means is at the sole risk of the prospective bidder who shall be bound by the terms of the bid as received. 
 
No bid will be accepted after the time specified in the TERMS OF OFFERING and OFFICIAL BID FORM.  The 
time, as maintained by the Internet Bid System, shall constitute the official time with respect to all bids submitted.  A 
bid may be withdrawn before the bid deadline using the same method used to submit the bid.  If more than one bid is 
received from a bidder, the last bid received shall be considered. 
 
Sealed Bids: Sealed bids may be submitted and will be received at the office of the Director of Finance & Business 
Operations at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. 
 
Electronic Internet Bidding: Electronic internet bids will be received at the office of the Director of Finance & 
Business Operations at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, and at the office of PFM Financial 
Advisors LLC, 801 Grand Avenue, Suite 3300, Des Moines, Iowa 50309.  The electronic internet bids must be 
submitted through the Internet Bid System.  Information about the Internet Bid System may be obtained by calling 
(212) 849-5021. 
 
Each prospective bidder shall be solely responsible for making necessary arrangements to access the Internet Bid System 
for purposes of submitting its electronic internet bid in a timely manner and in compliance with the requirements of the 
TERMS OF OFFERING and OFFICIAL BID FORM.  The City is permitting bidders to use the services of the Internet 
Bid System solely as a communication mechanism to conduct the electronic internet bidding and the Internet Bid System 
is not an agent of the City.  Provisions of the TERMS OF OFFERING and OFFICIAL BID FORM shall control in the 
event of conflict with information provided by the Internet Bid System. 
 

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE 
 
The Notes will be issued by means of a book-entry-only issuance with no physical distribution of note certificates made 
to the public.  The Notes will be issued in fully registered form and one note certificate, representing the aggregate 
principal amount of the Notes maturing in each year, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of The 
Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, which will act as securities depository of the Notes.  
Individual purchases of the Notes may be made in the principal amount of $5,000 or any multiple thereof of a single 
maturity through book entries made on the books and records of DTC and its participants.  Principal and interest are 
payable by the Registrar to DTC or its nominee as registered owner of the Notes.  Transfer of principal and interest 
payments to participants of DTC will be the responsibility of DTC; transfer of principal and interest payments to 
beneficial owners by participants will be the responsibility of such participants and other nominees of beneficial owners.  
The Purchaser, as a condition of delivery of the Notes, will be required to deposit the note certificates with DTC. 
 

MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE AT PURCHASER’S OPTION 
 
If the Notes qualify for issuance of any policy of municipal bond insurance or commitment therefore at the option of 
the bidder, the purchase of any such insurance policy or the issuance of any such commitment shall be at the sole option 
and expense of the Purchaser.  Any increased costs of issuance of the Notes resulting from such purchase of insurance 
shall be paid by the Purchaser, except that, if the City has requested and received a rating on the Notes from a rating 
agency, the City will pay that initial rating fee.  Any other rating agency fees shall be the responsibility of the Purchaser. 
Failure of the municipal bond insurer to issue the policy after the Notes have been awarded to the Purchaser shall not 
constitute cause for failure or refusal by the Purchaser to accept delivery on the Notes.  The City reserves the right in its 
sole discretion to accept or deny changes to the financing documents requested by the insurer selected by the Purchaser. 
  

49

Item 8.



iv 

DELIVERY 
 
The Notes will be delivered to the Purchaser through DTC in New York, New York, against full payment in 
immediately available cash or federal funds.  The Notes are expected to be delivered within forty-five days after the 
sale.  Should delivery be delayed beyond sixty days from date of sale for any reason except failure of performance by a 
Purchaser, the Purchaser may withdraw their bid and thereafter their interest in and liability for the Notes will cease.  
When the Notes are ready for delivery, the City may give the Purchaser five working days’ notice of the delivery date 
and the City will expect payment in full on that date, otherwise reserving the right of its option to determine that the 
Purchaser has failed to comply with the offer of purchase. 
 

ELECTRONIC EXECUTED DOCUMENTS 
 
Purchaser consents to the receipt of electronic transcripts and acknowledges the City’s intended use of electronically 
executed documents.  Iowa Code chapter 554D establishes electronic signatures have the full weight and legal authority 
as manual signatures. 
 

ESTABLISHMENT OF ISSUE PRICE 
 

The Purchaser shall assist the City in establishing the issue price of the Notes and shall execute and deliver to the City at 
closing an “issue price” or similar certificate setting forth the reasonably expected initial offering price to the public or 
the sales price or prices of the Notes, together with the supporting pricing wires or equivalent communications, 
substantially in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT 1 - FORMS OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATES to the TERMS 
OF OFFERING, with such modifications as may be appropriate or necessary, in the reasonable judgment of the 
Purchaser, the City and Bond Counsel.  All actions to be taken by the City under the TERMS OF OFFERING to 
establish the issue price of the Notes may be taken on behalf of the City by the Municipal Advisor identified herein and 
any notice or report to be provided to the City may be provided to the Municipal Advisor. 
 
The City intends the provisions of Treasury Regulation Section 1.148-1(f)(3)(i) (defining “competitive sale” for 
purposes of establishing the issue price of the Notes) will apply to the initial sale of the Notes (the “competitive sale 
requirements”) because (i) the City shall disseminate this TERMS OF OFFERING to potential underwriters in a manner 
that is reasonably designed to reach potential underwriters, (ii) all bidders shall have an equal opportunity to bid, (iii) 
the City may receive bids from at least three underwriters of municipal notes who have established industry reputations 
for underwriting new issuances of municipal notes and (iv) the City anticipates awarding the sale of the Notes to the 
bidder who submits a firm offer to purchase the Notes at the highest price (or lowest interest cost), as set forth in the 
TERMS OF OFFERING. 
 
Any bid submitted pursuant to the TERMS OF OFFERING shall be considered a firm offer for the purchase of the 
Notes, as specified in the bid. 
 
In the event the competitive sale requirements are not satisfied, the City shall so advise the Purchaser.  The City may, as 
set forth below, determine to treat (i) the first price at which 10% of a maturity of the Notes (the “10% test”) is sold to 
the public as the issue price of that maturity, and/or (ii) the initial offering price to the public as of the sale date of any 
maturity of the Notes as the issue price of that maturity (the “hold-the-offering-price rule”), in each case applied on a 
maturity-by-maturity basis (and if different interest rates apply within a maturity, to each separate CUSIP number 
within that maturity).  The Purchaser shall advise the City if any maturity of the Notes satisfies the 10% test as of the 
date and time of the award of the Notes.  The City shall promptly advise the Purchaser, at or before the time of award of 
the Notes, which maturities (and if different interest rates apply within a maturity, which separate CUSIP number within 
that maturity) of the Notes, if any, shall be subject to the 10% test and which shall be subject to the hold-the-offering-
price rule.  Bids will not be subject to cancellation in the event the City determines to apply the hold-the-offering-price 
rule to any maturity of the Notes.  Prospective bidders should prepare their bids on the assumption that some or all 
of the maturities of the Notes will be subject to the hold-the-offering-price rule in order to establish the issue 
price of the Notes. 
 
By submitting a bid, the Purchaser shall (i) confirm the underwriters have offered or will offer the Notes to the public on 
or before the date of award at the offering price or prices (the “initial offering price”) or at the corresponding yield or 
yields set forth in the bid submitted by the Purchaser, and (ii) agree on behalf of the underwriters participating in the 

50

Item 8.



v 

purchase of the Notes that the underwriters will neither offer nor sell unsold Notes of any maturity to which the hold-
the-offering-price rule shall apply to any person at a price that is higher than the initial offering price to the public 
during the period starting on the sale date and ending on the earlier of the following:  (a) the close of the fifth (5th) 
business day after the sale date, or (b) the date on which the underwriters have sold at least 10% of that maturity of the 
Notes to the public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public. 
 
The Purchaser shall promptly advise the City when the underwriters have sold 10% of that maturity of the Notes to the 
public at a price that is no higher than the initial offering price to the public, if that occurs prior to the close of the fifth 
(5th) business day after the sale date. 
 
The City acknowledges that, in making the representation set forth above, the Purchaser of the Notes will rely on (i) the 
agreement of each underwriter to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, as set forth in an agreement among 
underwriters and the related pricing wires, (ii) in the event a selling group has been created in connection with the initial 
sale of the Notes to the public, the agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group to comply with the 
hold-the-offering-price rule, as set forth in a selling group agreement and the related pricing wires, and (iii) in the event, 
an underwriter is a party to a retail distribution agreement that was employed in connection with the initial sale of the 
Notes to the public, the agreement of each broker-dealer that is a party to such agreement to comply with the hold-the-
offering-price rule, as set forth in the retail distribution agreement and the related pricing wires.  The City further 
acknowledges that each underwriter shall be solely liable for its failure to comply with its agreement regarding the hold-
the-offering-price rule and that no underwriter shall be liable for the failure of any other underwriter, or of any dealer 
who is a member of a selling group, or of any broker-dealer that is a party to a retail distribution agreement to comply 
with its corresponding agreement regarding the hold-the-offering-price rule as applicable to the Notes. 
 
By submitting a bid, each bidder confirms that (i) any agreement among underwriters, any selling group agreement and 
each retail distribution agreement (to which the bidder is a party) relating to the initial sale of the Notes to the public, 
together with the related pricing wires, contains or will contain language obligating each underwriter, each dealer who is 
a member of the selling group, and each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail distribution agreement, as applicable, 
to (a) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Notes of each maturity allotted to it until it is notified by 
the Purchaser that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Notes of that maturity or all Notes of that maturity 
have been sold to the public, and (b) comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule, if applicable, in each case if and for 
so long as directed by the Purchaser and as set forth in the related pricing wires, and (ii) any agreement among 
underwriters relating to the initial sale of the Notes to the public, together with the related pricing wires, contains or will 
contain language obligating each underwriter that is a party to a retail distribution agreement to be employed in 
connection with the initial sale of the Notes to the public to require each broker-dealer that is a party to such retail 
distribution agreement to (a) report the prices at which it sells to the public the unsold Notes of each maturity allotted to 
it until it is notified by the Purchaser or such underwriter that either the 10% test has been satisfied as to the Notes of 
that maturity or all Notes of that maturity have been sold to the public, and (b) comply with the hold-the-offering-price 
rule, if applicable, in each case if and for so long as directed by the Purchaser or such underwriter and as set forth in the 
related pricing wires. 
 

Sales of any Notes to any person that is a related party to an underwriter shall not constitute sales to the public for 
purposes of this TERMS OF OFFERING.  Further, for purposes of this TERMS OF OFFERING, (i) “public” means 
any person other than an underwriter or a related party, (ii) “underwriter” means (a) any person that agrees pursuant to a 
written contract with the City (or with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the 
initial sale of the Notes to the public, and (b) any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly 
with a person described in clause “(a)” to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the public (including a member of 
a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement participating in the initial sale of the Notes to the public), (iii) 
a purchaser of any of the Notes is a “related party” to an underwriter if the underwriter and the Purchaser are subject, 
directly or indirectly, to (a) at least 50% common ownership of the voting power or the total value of their stock, if both 
entities are corporations (including direct ownership by one corporation of another), (b) more than 50% common 
ownership of their capital interests or profits interests, if both entities are partnerships (including direct ownership by 
one partnership of another), or (c) more than 50% common ownership of the value of the outstanding stock of the 
corporation or the capital interests or profit interests of the partnership, as applicable, if one entity is a corporation and 
the other entity is a partnership (including direct ownership of the applicable stock or interests by one entity of the 
other), and (iv) “sale date” means the date the Notes are awarded by the City to the Purchaser. 
 

51

Item 8.



vi 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 
The City has authorized the preparation of a Preliminary Official Statement containing pertinent information relative to 
the Notes.  The Preliminary Official Statement will be further supplemented by offering prices, interest rates, selling 
compensation, aggregate principal amount, principal amount per maturity, anticipated delivery date, and underwriter, 
together with any other information required by law or deemed appropriate by the City, shall constitute a final Official 
Statement of the City with respect to the Notes, as that term is defined in Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  By awarding the Notes to any 
underwriter or underwriting-syndicate submitting an OFFICIAL BID FORM therefore, the City agrees that no more 
than seven (7) business days after the date of such award, it shall provide without cost to the senior managing 
underwriter of the syndicate to which the Notes are awarded up to 15 copies of the final Official Statement to permit 
each “Participating Underwriter” (as that term is defined in the Rule) to comply with the provisions of such Rule.  The 
City shall treat the senior managing underwriter of the syndicate or syndicates to which the Notes are awarded as its 
designated agent for purposes of distributing copies of the final Official Statement to the Participating Underwriter.  
Any underwriter executing and delivering an OFFICIAL BID FORM with respect to the Notes agrees, thereby, that if 
its bid is accepted by the City, (i) it shall accept such designation and (ii) it shall enter into a contractual relationship 
with all Participating Underwriters of the Notes for purposes of assuring the receipt by each such Participating 
Underwriter of the final Official Statement. 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 

The City will covenant in a Continuing Disclosure Certificate for the benefit of the owners and beneficial owners of the 
Notes to provide annually certain financial information and operating data relating to the City (the “Annual Report”), 
and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events.  The Annual Report is to be filed by the City not 
later than two hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each fiscal year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending 
June 30, 2024, with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, at its internet repository named “Electronic Municipal 
Market Access” (“EMMA”).  The notices of events, if any, are also to be filed with EMMA.  See FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE included in APPENDIX D to this Preliminary Official Statement.  The 
specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Report or the notices of events, and the manner in 
which such materials are to be filed, are summarized in the FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE.  
These covenants have been made in order to assist the Purchaser in complying with SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) (the 
“Rule”). 
 
The City is not aware of any instance in the previous five years in which it has failed to comply, in all material respects, 
with previous undertakings in a written contract or agreement specified in the Rule. 
 
After issuance, the City’s General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 were amended to remove the bank 
qualified designation due to a proportionate allocation of debt pursuant to Section 265(b) of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended, from a joint powers issuer of which the Cedar Falls Utilities is a member, with notice thereof 
posted to EMMA on March 1, 2023. 
 
Breach of the undertakings will not constitute a default or an “Event of Default” under the Notes or the Resolution.  A 
broker or dealer is to consider a known breach of the undertakings, however, before recommending the purchase or 
sale of the Notes in the secondary market.  Thus, a failure on the part of the City to observe the undertakings 
may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Notes and their market price. 
 
  

52

Item 8.



vii 

CUSIP NUMBERS 
 
It is anticipated the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures (“CUSIP”) numbers will be printed on 
the Notes and the Purchaser must agree in the bid proposal to pay the cost thereof.  In no event will the City, Bond 
Counsel or Municipal Advisor be responsible for the review of or express any opinion that the CUSIP numbers are 
correct.  Incorrect CUSIP numbers on said Notes shall not be cause for the Purchaser to refuse to accept delivery of 
said Notes. 
 

BY ORDER OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
/s/ Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 
 

 
  

53

Item 8.



viii 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 SCHEDULE OF NOTE YEARS

$4,520,000*
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024

Notes Dated:
Interest Due: June 1, 2025 and each December 1 and June 1 to maturity
Principal Due: June 1, 2026-2037

Cumulative
Year   Principal * Note Years Note Years

2026 $250,000 387.50 387.50
2027 610,000 1,555.50 1,943.00
2028 290,000 1,029.50 2,972.50
2029 305,000 1,387.75 4,360.25
2030 320,000 1,776.00 6,136.25
2031 340,000 2,227.00 8,363.25
2032 355,000 2,680.25 11,043.50
2033 370,000 3,163.50 14,207.00
2034 390,000 3,724.50 17,931.50
2035 410,000 4,325.50 22,257.00
2036 430,000 4,966.50 27,223.50
2037 450,000 5,647.50 32,871.00

Average Maturity (dated date): 7.272 Years

* Preliminary; subject to change.

November 13, 2024

54

Item 8.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 1 
 

FORMS OF ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATES 

55

Item 8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page has been left blank intentionally.) 
 

56

Item 8.



EXHIBIT 1-A to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 

 

 

 

COMPETITIVE SALES WITH AT LEAST THREE BIDS FROM ESTABLISHED UNDERWRITERS 

 
ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 
 

The undersigned, on behalf of [NAME OF UNDERWRITER] ("Purchaser"), hereby certifies as set forth below with 
respect to the sale of the above-captioned obligations (the "Notes"). 

 
1. Reasonably Expected Initial Offering Price. 

 
 a) As of the Sale Date, the reasonably expected initial offering prices of the Notes to the Public by Purchaser are the 
prices listed in Schedule A (the "Expected Offering Prices").  The Expected Offering Prices are the prices for the Maturities of the 
Notes used by Purchaser in formulating its bid to purchase the Notes.  Attached as Schedule B is a true and correct copy of the bid 
provided by Purchaser to purchase the Notes. 

 
 b) Purchaser was not given the opportunity to review other bids prior to submitting its bid. 
 
 c) The bid submitted by Purchaser constituted a firm offer to purchase the Notes. 
 
2. Defined Terms. 
 
 a) Issuer means City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
 b) Maturity means Notes with the same credit and payment terms.  Notes with different maturity dates, or Notes 

with the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate Maturities. 
 
 c) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or 

corporation) other than an Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter.  The term "related party" for purposes of this 
certificate generally means any two or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

 
 d) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale of a Maturity of the 

Notes.  The Sale Date of the Notes is October 7, 2024. 
 
 e) Underwriter means (i) the Purchaser or any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the Issuer (or 

with the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public, and (ii) any 
person that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to 
participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution 
agreement participating in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public). 

 
 The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing in this certificate represents 
Purchaser’s interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be relied 
upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Exemption Certificate and with respect to 
compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Notes, and by Bond Counsel in connection with rendering its opinion 
that the interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal 
Revenue Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the 
Notes. 

 
 

[UNDERWRITER] 
 
By: ______________________________________ 

Name: ____________________________________ 
Dated:  November 13, 2024 

57

Item 8.



EXHIBIT 1-A to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 

 

 

SCHEDULE A 
 

EXPECTED OFFERING PRICES 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 

 
(Attached) 

58

Item 8.



EXHIBIT 1-A to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 

 

 

SCHEDULE B 
 

COPY OF UNDERWRITER’S BID 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 

 
(Attached) 

59

Item 8.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-B to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

 
 

COMPETITIVE SALES WITH FEWER THAN THREE BIDS FROM ESTABLISHED UNDERWRITERS  
HOLD OFFERING PRICE 

 

 
ISSUE PRICE CERTIFICATE 

 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 
 

The undersigned, on behalf of [NAME OF UNDERWRITER/REPRESENTATIVE] (["Purchaser")][the "Representative")][, 
on behalf of itself and [NAMES OF OTHER UNDERWRITERS] (together, the "Underwriting Group"),] hereby certifies as set forth 
below with respect to the sale and issuance of the above-captioned obligations (the "Notes"). 

1. Sale of the General Rule Maturities.  As of the date of this certificate, for each Maturity of the General Rule Maturities, 
the first price at which at least 10% of such Maturity was sold to the Public is the respective price listed in Schedule A. 

2. Initial Offering Price of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities. 
 

a) [Purchaser][The Underwriting Group] offered the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities to the Public for purchase at 
the respective initial offering prices listed in Schedule A (the "Initial Offering Prices") on or before the Sale Date.  A copy of the 
pricing wire or equivalent communication for the Notes is attached to this certificate as Schedule B. 

 
b) As set forth in the Official TERMS OF OFFERING and bid award, [Purchaser][the members of the Underwriting 

Group] [has][have] agreed in writing that, (i) for each Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities, [it][they] would neither offer 
nor sell any of the Notes of such Maturity to any person at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price for such Maturity during 
the Holding Period for such Maturity (the "hold-the-offering-price rule"), and (ii) any selling group agreement shall contain the 
agreement of each dealer who is a member of the selling group, and any retail distribution agreement shall contain the agreement of 
each broker-dealer who is a party to the retail distribution agreement, to comply with the hold-the-offering-price rule.  Pursuant to such 
agreement, no Underwriter (as defined below) has offered or sold any Maturity of the Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities at a price 
that is higher than the respective Initial Offering Price for that Maturity of the Notes during the Holding Period. 

 
3. Defined Terms. 
 
 a) General Rule Maturities means those Maturities of the Notes listed in Schedule A hereto as the "General Rule 

Maturities." 
 
 b) Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturities means those Maturities of the Notes listed in Schedule A hereto as the "Hold-

the-Offering-Price Maturities." 
 
 c) Holding Period means, with respect to a Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity, the period starting on the Sale Date and 

ending on the earlier of (i) the close of the fifth business day after the Sale Date, or (ii) the date on which [Purchaser][the 
Underwriters] [has][have] sold at least 10% of such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity to the Public at prices that are no higher than the 
Initial Offering Price for such Hold-the-Offering-Price Maturity. 

 
d) Issuer means City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 
e) Maturity means Notes with the same credit and payment terms.  Notes with different maturity dates, or Notes with 

the same maturity date but different stated interest rates, are treated as separate maturities. 
 

 f) Public means any person (including an individual, trust, estate, partnership, association, company, or corporation) 
other than an Underwriter or a related party to an Underwriter.  The term "related party" for purposes of this certificate generally 
means any two or more persons who have greater than 50 percent common ownership, directly or indirectly. 

 g) Sale Date means the first day on which there is a binding contract in writing for the sale of a Maturity of the Notes.  
The Sale Date of the Notes is October 7, 2024. 

 h) Underwriter means (i) the Purchaser or any person that agrees pursuant to a written contract with the Issuer (or with 
the lead underwriter to form an underwriting syndicate) to participate in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public, and (ii) any person 
that agrees pursuant to a written contract directly or indirectly with a person described in clause (i) of this paragraph to participate in 

60

Item 8.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-B to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

the initial sale of the Notes to the Public (including a member of a selling group or a party to a retail distribution agreement 
participating in the initial sale of the Notes to the Public). 

 
The representations set forth in this certificate are limited to factual matters only.  Nothing in this certificate represents [the 

Purchaser][the Representative's] interpretation of any laws, including specifically Sections 103 and 148 of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended, and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.  The undersigned understands that the foregoing information will be 
relied upon by the Issuer with respect to certain of the representations set forth in the Tax Exemption Certificate and with respect to 
compliance with the federal income tax rules affecting the Notes, and by Bond Counsel in connection with rendering its opinion that 
the interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes, the preparation of the Internal Revenue 
Service Form 8038-G, and other federal income tax advice that it may give to the Issuer from time to time relating to the Notes. 

[UNDERWRITER] 
 
By: ______________________________________ 

Name: ____________________________________ 
Dated:  November 13, 2024 
  

61

Item 8.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-B to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

SCHEDULE A 
 

SALE PRICES OF THE GENERAL RULE MATURITIES AND 
INITIAL OFFERING PRICES OF THE HOLD-THE-OFFERING-PRICE MATURITIES 

 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 
 
 
 

(Attached) 
  

62

Item 8.



 
 

EXHIBIT 1-B to TERMS OF OFFERING 
 
 

 
SCHEDULE B 

 
PRICING WIRE OR EQUIVALENT COMMUNICATION 

 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

$_______ General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 
 
 
 

(Attached) 
 

 

63

Item 8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page has been left blank intentionally.) 
 

64

Item 8.



 

1 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

$4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 
 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This Preliminary Official Statement contains information relating to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”) and 
its issuance of $4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 (the “Notes”). This Preliminary 
Official Statement has been executed on behalf of the City and its Director of Finance & Business Operations 
and may be distributed in connection with the sale of the Notes authorized therein.  Inquiries may be directed to 
the City’s Municipal Advisor, PFM Financial Advisors LLC (the “Municipal Advisor”), 801 Grand Avenue, Suite 
3300, Des Moines, Iowa 50309, telephone 515-724-5724. Information may also be obtained from Ms. Jennifer 
Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa  50613, telephone 319-
268-5108. 
 
AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE 
 
The Notes are being issued pursuant to Subchapter III of Chapter 384 of the Code of Iowa and a resolution (the 
“Resolution”) to be adopted by the City Council of the City.  The Notes are being issued to provide funds pay costs of 
City capital projects, including opening, widening, extending, grading, and draining of the right-of-way of streets, 
highways, avenues, alleys and public grounds, and market places, and the removal and replacement of dead or diseased 
trees thereon; the construction, reconstruction, and repairing of any street improvements, bridges, grade crossing 
separations and approaches; the acquisition, installation, and repair of sidewalks, culverts, retaining walls, storm sewers, 
sanitary sewers, water service lines, street lighting, and traffic control devices, and the acquisition of any real estate 
needed for any of the foregoing purposes; rehabilitation and improvement of parks already owned, including the 
removal, replacement and planting of trees in the parks, and facilities, equipment, and improvements commonly found 
in city parks; and equipping the fire department; acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, improvement, 
and equipping of City facilities, including camera installation, replacement and maintenance, library handler equipment, 
public safety building maintenance and equipping the community center; and expanded public infrastructure, related 
amenities and site improvements. 
 
The estimated sources and uses of the Notes are as follows:  
 

Estimated Sources of Funds*   
   

 Par Amount of Notes $4,520,000.00 
  

Uses of Funds*  
  

 Deposit to Project Fund $4,298,500.00 
 Deposit to Debt Service Fund 124,300.00 
 Underwriter’s Discount 45,200.00 
 Cost of Issuance & Contingency       52,000.00 
   

 Total Uses $4,520,000.00 
 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
 
INTEREST ON THE NOTES 
 
Interest on the Notes will be payable on June 1, 2025, and semiannually on the 1st day of December and June thereafter. 
Interest and principal shall be paid to the registered holder of a note as shown on the records of ownership maintained by 
the Registrar as of the 15th day of the month preceding such interest payment date (the “Record Date”). Interest will be 
computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months and will be rounded pursuant to rules of the 
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 
  

65

Item 8.



 

2 

OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF THE NOTES 
 
The Notes, due after June 1, 2032, will be subject to call prior to maturity in whole, or from time to time in part, in any 
order of maturity and within a maturity by lot on said date or on any date thereafter at the option of the City, upon 
terms of par plus accrued interest to date of call.  Written notice of such call shall be given at least thirty (30) days 
prior to the date fixed for redemption to the registered owners of the Notes to be redeemed at the address shown on the 
registration books. 
 
PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES 
 
The Notes are general obligations of the City and the unlimited taxing powers of the City are irrevocably pledged for 
their payment.  Upon issuance of the Notes, the City will levy taxes for the years and in amounts sufficient to provide 
100% of annual principal and interest due on the Notes.  If, however, the amount credited to the debt service fund for 
payment of the Notes is insufficient to pay principal and interest, whether from transfers or from original levies, the City 
is required to levy ad valorem taxes upon all taxable property in the City without limit as to rate or amount sufficient to 
pay the debt service deficiency. 
 
Iowa Code Section 76.2 provides that when an Iowa political subdivision issues general obligation Notes, “the 
governing authority of these political subdivisions before issuing Notes shall, by resolution, provide for the assessment 
of an annual levy upon all the taxable property in the political subdivision sufficient to pay the interest and principal of 
the Notes within a period named not exceeding twenty years.  A certified copy of this resolution shall be filed with 
the county auditor or the auditors of the counties in which the political subdivision is located; and the filing shall make 
it a duty of the auditors to enter annually this levy for collection from the taxable property within the boundaries of 
the political subdivision until funds are realized to pay the Notes in full.” 
 
Nothing in the Resolution prohibits or limits the ability of the City to use legally available moneys other than the 
proceeds of the general ad valorem property taxes levied, as described in the preceding paragraph, to pay all or any 
portion of the principal of or interest on the Notes.  If and to the extent such other legally available moneys are used to 
pay the principal of or interest on the Notes, the City may, but shall not be required to, (a) reduce the amount of taxes 
levied for such purpose, as described in the preceding paragraph; or (b) use proceeds of taxes levied, as described in the 
preceding paragraph, to reimburse the fund or account from which such other legally available moneys are withdrawn 
for the amount withdrawn from such fund or account to pay the principal of or interest on the Notes. 
 
The Resolution does not restrict the City’s ability to issue or incur additional general obligation debt, although issuance 
of additional general obligation debt is subject to the same constitutional and statutory limitations that apply to the 
issuance of the Notes.  For a further description of the City’s outstanding general obligation debt upon issuance of the 
Notes and the annual debt service on the Notes and a description of certain constitutional and statutory limits on the 
issuance of general obligation debt, see “DIRECT LIMIT” under “CITY INDEBTEDNESS” included in 
“APPENDIX A” to this Preliminary Official Statement. 
 
BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE 
 
The information contained in the following paragraphs of this subsection “Book-Entry-Only Issuance” has been 
extracted from a schedule prepared by Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) entitled “SAMPLE OFFERING 
DOCUMENT LANGUAGE DESCRIBING DTC AND BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE”.  The information in this 
section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry-only issuance has been obtained from sources that the City believes to 
be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. 
 
The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the securities (the 
“Securities”).  The Securities will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s 
partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-
registered Security certificate will be issued for each issue of the Securities, each in the aggregate principal amount of 
such issue, and will be deposited with DTC.  If, however, the aggregate principal amount of any issue exceeds $500 
million, one certificate will be issued with respect to each $500 million of principal amount, and an additional certificate 
will be issued with respect to any remaining principal amount of such issue.  

66

Item 8.



 

3 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York 
Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal 
Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a 
“clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC 
holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and 
municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (the “Direct 
Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and 
other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry-only transfers and 
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.  
Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 
corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing 
Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed 
Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated 
subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and 
dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a 
Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (the “Indirect Participants”).  DTC has Standard & Poor’s rating: AA+.  
The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More 
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 
 
Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a 
credit for the Securities on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Security (the 
“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will 
not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive 
written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the 
Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership 
interests in the Securities are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting 
on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in 
Securities, except in the event that use of the book-entry-only issuance for the Securities is discontinued. 
 
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of 
DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of 
DTC.  The deposit of Securities with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee 
do not affect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 
Securities; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Securities are 
credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible 
for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 
 
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect 
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements 
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial 
Owners of Securities may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events 
with respect to the Securities, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Security 
documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Securities 
for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners 
may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to 
them. 
 
Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Securities within an issue are being redeemed, DTC’s 
practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 
 
Neither DTC nor Cede & Co., nor any other DTC nominee, will consent or vote with respect to Securities unless 
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails 
an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s 
consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Securities are credited on the record date 
identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy. 
 

67

Item 8.



 

4 

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Securities will be made to Cede & Co., or such other 
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ 
accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the City or Agent, on payable date in 
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will 
be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of 
customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of 
DTC, Agent, or the City, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  
Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC, is the responsibility of the City or Agent, disbursement of such 
payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial 
Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 
 
A Beneficial Owner shall give notice to elect to have its Securities purchased or tendered, through its Participant, to 
Tender/Remarketing Agent, and shall effect delivery of such Securities by causing the Direct Participant to transfer the 
Participant’s interest in the Securities, on DTC’s records, to Tender/Remarketing Agent.  The requirement for physical 
delivery of Securities in connection with an optional tender or a mandatory purchase will be deemed satisfied when the 
ownership rights in the Securities are transferred by Direct Participants on DTC’s records and followed by a book-entry-
only credit of tendered Securities to Tender/Remarketing Agent’s DTC account. 
 
DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Securities at any time by giving reasonable 
notice to the City or Agent.  Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Security 
certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 
 
The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor 
securities depository).  In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 
 
FUTURE FINANCING 
 
The City does not anticipate any additional general obligation borrowing needs within 90 days of this Preliminary 
Official Statement. 
 
LITIGATION 
 
To the knowledge of the City, there is no legal action, suit, proceeding, inquiry or investigation at law or in equity before 
or by any court, public board or body for which the City has been served with process or official notice or threatened 
against or affecting the City or any reasonable basis therefore, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would 
adversely affect the transaction contemplated by this Preliminary Official Statement or the validity of the Notes, the 
Resolution, or any agreement or instrument to which the City is a party and which is used or contemplated for use in the 
transactions contemplated by this Preliminary Official Statement, and no member, employee or agent of the City has been 
served with any legal process regarding such litigation or other proceeding. 
 
To the knowledge of the City, no litigation is pending or threatened which, in the opinion of the City’s counsel, if decided 
adversely to the City would be likely to result, either individually or in the aggregate, in final judgments against the City 
which would materially adversely affect its ability to meet debt service payments on the Notes when due, or its obligations 
under the Resolution, or materially adversely affect its financial condition. 
 
DEBT PAYMENT HISTORY 
 
The City knows of no instance in which it has defaulted in the payment of principal or interest on its debt. 
 
LEGALITY 
 
The Notes are subject to approval as to certain matters by Ahlers & Cooney, P.C. of Des Moines, Iowa as Bond 
Counsel.  Bond Counsel has reviewed or prepared information describing the terms of the Notes, Iowa and Federal law 
pertinent to the validity of and the tax-exempt status of interest on the Notes, which can be found generally under the 
sections “AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE”, “OPTIONAL REDEMPTION OF THE NOTES”, “PAYMENT AND 

68

Item 8.



 

5 

SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” and “TAX MATTERS”, herein.  Additionally, Bond Counsel has provided its Form of 
Legal Opinion and Form of Continuing Disclosure Certificate, included in APPENDIX B and APPENDIX D, 
respectively, within this Preliminary Official Statement.  The FORM OF LEGAL OPINION as set out in APPENDIX B 
to this Preliminary Official Statement, will be delivered at closing. 

The legal opinion to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Notes expresses the professional judgment of the 
attorneys rendering the opinion as to legal issues expressly addressed therein.  By rendering a legal opinion, the opinion 
giver does not become an insurer or guarantor of the result indicated by that expression of professional judgment, or of 
the transaction on which the opinion is rendered, or of the future performance of parties to the transaction.  Nor does 
the rendering of the opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 
 
There is no bond trustee or similar person to monitor or enforce the provisions of the Resolution.  The owners of the 
Notes should, therefore, be prepared to enforce such provisions themselves if the need to do so arises.  In the event of a 
default in the payment of principal of or interest on the Notes, there is no provision for acceleration of maturity of the 
principal of the Notes.  Consequently, the remedies of the owners of the Notes (consisting primarily of an action in the 
nature of mandamus requiring the City and certain other public officials to perform the terms of the Resolution) may 
have to be enforced from year to year.  The obligation to pay general ad valorem property taxes is secured by a statutory 
lien upon the taxed property, but is not an obligation for which a property owner may be held personally liable in the 
event of a deficiency.  The owners of the Notes cannot foreclose on property within the boundaries of the City or sell 
such property in order to pay the debt service on the Notes. 
 
In addition, the enforceability of the rights and remedies of owners of the Notes may be subject to limitation as set forth 
in the Bond Counsel’s opinion.  The opinion will state, in part, that the obligation of the City with respect to the Notes 
may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors’ rights 
heretofore or hereafter enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable, to the exercise of judicial discretion in 
appropriate cases. 
 
TAX MATTERS 
 
Tax Exemption and Related Considerations:  Federal tax law contains a number of requirements and restrictions that 
apply to the Notes.  These include investment restrictions, periodic payments of arbitrage profits to the United States, 
requirements regarding the proper use of Notes proceeds and facilities financed with Notes proceeds, and certain other 
matters.  The City has covenanted to comply with all requirements that must be satisfied in order for the interest on the 
Notes to be excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Failure to comply with certain of such 
covenants could cause interest on the Notes to become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes 
retroactively to the date of issuance of the Notes. 
 
Subject to the City’s compliance with the above referenced covenants, under present law, in the opinion of Bond 
Counsel, interest on the Notes is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  Interest on the Notes is 
not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax on individuals; however, such interest 
is taken into account in determining the annual adjusted financial statement income of applicable corporations (as 
defined in Section 59(k) of the Code) for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on 
corporations for tax years beginning after December 31, 2022. 
 
Prospective purchasers of the Notes should be aware that ownership of the Notes may result in collateral federal income 
tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, corporations subject to the branch profits tax, 
financial institutions, certain insurance companies, certain S corporations, individual recipients of Social Security or 
Railroad Retirement benefits and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred (or continued) indebtedness to 
purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations.  Bond Counsel will not express any opinion as to such collateral tax 
consequences.  The prospective purchaser of the Notes should consult their tax advisors as to collateral federal income 
tax consequences. 
 
The interest on the Notes is NOT exempt from present Iowa income taxes. 
 

69

Item 8.



 

6 

Ownership of the Notes may result in other state and local tax consequences to certain taxpayers.  Bond Counsel 
expresses no opinion regarding any such collateral consequences arising with respect to the Notes.  The prospective 
purchaser of the Notes should consult their tax advisors regarding the applicability of any such state and local taxes. 
 
NOT-Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations:  The City will NOT designate the Series 2024A Bonds as “qualified tax-
exempt obligations” under the exception provided in Section 265(b)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the “Code”). 
 
Discount and Premium on Certain Notes:  The initial public offering price of certain Notes (“Discount Notes”) may be 
less than the amount payable on such Discount Notes at maturity.  An amount equal to the difference between the initial 
public offering price of Discount Notes (assuming that a substantial amount of the Discount Notes of that maturity are 
sold to the public at such price) and the amount payable at maturity constitutes original issue discount to the initial 
purchaser of such Discount Notes.  Owners of Discount Notes should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to 
the determination of accrued original issue discount on Discount Notes for federal income tax purposes and with respect 
to the state and local tax consequences of owning and disposing of Discount Notes.  It is possible that, under applicable 
provisions governing determination of state and local income taxes, accrued interest on Discount Notes may be deemed 
to be received in the year of accrual even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment. 
 
The initial public offering price of certain Notes (“Premium Notes”) may be greater than the amount of such Premium 
Notes at maturity.  An amount equal to the difference between the initial public offering price of Premium Notes 
(assuming that a substantial amount of the Premium Notes of that maturity are sold to the public at such price) and the 
amount payable at maturity constitutes a premium to the initial purchaser of such Premium Notes.  Purchasers of the 
Premium Notes should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination of amortizable note 
premium on Premium Notes for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of 
owning and disposing of Premium Notes. 
 
Other Tax Advice:  In addition to the income tax consequences described above, potential investors should consider 
the additional tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership, and disposition of the Notes.  For instance, state income 
tax law may differ substantially from state to state, and the foregoing is not intended to describe any aspect of the 
income tax laws of any state.  Therefore, potential investors should consult their own tax advisors with respect to 
federal tax issues and with respect to the various state tax consequences of an investment in Notes. 
 
Audits:  The Internal Revenue Service (the “Service”) has an ongoing program of auditing tax-exempt obligations to 
determine whether, in the view of the Service, interest on such tax-exempt obligations is includable in the gross income 
of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.  It cannot be predicted whether or not the Service will commence 
an audit of the Notes.  If an audit is commenced, under current procedures the Service may treat the City as a taxpayer 
and the Noteholders may have no right to participate in such procedure.  The commencement of an audit could 
adversely affect the market value and liquidity of the Notes until the audit is concluded, regardless of the ultimate 
outcome. 
 
Withholdings:  Payments of interest on, and proceeds of the sale, redemption or maturity of tax-exempt obligations, 
including the Notes, are in certain cases required to be reported to the Service.  Additionally, backup withholding may 
apply to any such payments to any note owner who fails to provide an accurate Form W-9 Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification, or a substantially identical form, or to any note owner who is notified by the 
Service of a failure to report any interest or dividends required to be shown on federal income tax returns.  The reporting 
and backup withholding requirements do not affect the excludability of such interest from gross income for federal tax 
purposes. 
 
Legislation:  Legislation affecting tax-exempt obligations is regularly considered by the United States Congress and may 
be considered by the Iowa legislature.  Judicial interpretation of state or federal laws, rules or regulations may also affect 
the tax treatment.  There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed, or actions by a court, after the date of 
issuance of the Notes will not have an adverse effect on the tax status of interest or other income on the market value or 
marketability of the Notes.  These adverse effects could result, for example, from changes to federal or state income tax 
rates, changes in the structure of federal or state income taxes (including replacement with another type of tax), or repeal 
(or reduction in the benefit) of the exclusion of interest on the Notes from gross income for federal or state income tax 
purposes for all or certain taxpayers. 

70

Item 8.



 

7 

Current and future legislative proposals, including some that carry retroactive effective dates, if enacted into law, or 
clarification of the Code may cause interest on the Notes to be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal income taxation, 
or otherwise prevent owners of the Notes from realizing the full current benefit of the tax status of such interest.  From 
time to time, proposals are made that could significantly reduce the benefit of, or otherwise affect, the exclusion from 
gross income of interest on obligations like the Notes.  The introduction or enactment of any such legislative proposals 
or clarification of the Code may also affect, perhaps significantly, the market price for, or marketability of the Notes.  
The prospective purchaser of the Notes should consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed tax 
legislation, as to which Bond Counsel expresses no opinion except as expressly set forth in APPENDIX B to this 
Preliminary Official Statement. 
 
Enforcement:  Holders of the Notes shall have and possess all the rights of action and remedies afforded by the common 
law, the Constitution and statutes of the State of Iowa and of the United States of America for the enforcement of 
payment of the Notes, including, but not limited to, the right to a proceeding in law or in equity by suit, action or 
mandamus to enforce and compel performance of the duties required by Iowa law and the Resolution.  There is no note 
trustee or similar person to monitor or enforce the terms of the Resolution.  In the event of a default in the payment of 
principal of or interest on the Notes, there is no provision for acceleration of maturity of the principal of the Notes.  
Consequently, the remedies of the owners of the Notes (consisting primarily of an action in the nature of mandamus 
requiring the City and certain other public officials to perform the terms of the Resolution) may have to be enforced 
from year to year.  The enforceability of the rights and remedies of owners of the Notes may be subject to limitation as 
set forth in Bond Counsel’s opinion. 
 
The obligation to pay general ad valorem property taxes is secured by a statutory lien upon the taxed property but is not 
an obligation for which a property owner may be held personally liable in the event of a deficiency.  The owners of the 
Notes cannot foreclose on property within the boundaries of the City or sell such property in order to pay the debt 
service on the Notes.  In addition, the enforceability of the rights and remedies of owners of the Notes may be subject to 
limitation as set forth in Bond Counsel’s opinion.  The opinion to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the 
Notes will be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by general 
principles of equity and public policy and by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting 
the rights of creditors generally, and to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases. 
 
Opinion:  The opinion expressed by Bond Counsel are based upon existing legislation and regulations as interpreted by 
relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Notes, and Bond Counsel has 
expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent thereto or with respect to any proposed or pending legislation, regulatory 
initiatives or litigation. 
 
Bond Counsel’s opinion is not a guarantee of a result, or of the transaction on which the opinion is rendered, or of the 
future performance of parties to the transaction, but represents its legal judgment based upon its review of existing 
statutes, regulations, published rulings and court decisions and the representations and covenants of the City described in 
this section.  No ruling has been sought from the Service with respect to the matters addressed in the opinion of Bond 
Counsel and Bond Counsel’s opinion is not binding on the Service.  Bond Counsel assumes no obligation to update its 
opinion after the issue date to reflect any further action, fact or circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or 
otherwise. 
 
ALL POTENTIAL PURCHASERS OF THE NOTES SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX ADVISORS WITH 
RESPECT TO FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL TAX CONSEQUENCES OF OWNERSHIP OF THE NOTES 
(INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THOSE LISTED ABOVE). 
 
NOTEHOLDER’S RISKS 
 
An investment in the Notes is subject to certain risks.  No person should purchase the Notes unless such person 
understands the risks described below and is willing to bear those risks.  There may be other risks not listed below which 
may adversely affect the value of the Notes.  An investment in the Notes involves an element of risk.  In order to identify 
risk factors and make an informed investment decision, potential investors should be thoroughly familiar with this entire 
Preliminary Official Statement (including the Appendices hereto) in order to make a judgment as to whether the Notes are 
an appropriate investment. 
 

71

Item 8.



 

8 

Secondary Market Not Established:  There is no established secondary market for the Notes, and there is no assurance 
that a secondary market will develop for the purchase and sale of the Notes.  Prices of municipal notes traded in the 
secondary market, if any, are subject to adjustment upward and downward in response to changes in the credit markets 
and changes in the operating performance of the entities operating the facilities subject to bonded indebtedness.  From 
time to time it may be necessary to suspend indefinitely secondary market trading in selected issues of municipal notes 
as a result of the financial condition or market position, prevailing market conditions, lack of adequate current financial 
information about the entity, operating the subject facilities, or a material adverse change in the operations of that entity, 
whether or not the subject notes are in default as to principal and interest payments, and other factors which, may give 
rise to uncertainty concerning prudent secondary market practices. 
 
Municipal notes are generally viewed as long-term investments, subject to material unforeseen changes in the investor’s 
circumstances, and may require commitment of the investor’s funds for an indefinite period of time, perhaps until 
maturity. 
 
EACH PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ASSESSING THE MERITS AND RISKS OF AN 
INVESTMENT AND MUST BE ABLE TO BEAR THE ECONOMIC RISK OF SUCH INVESTMENT.  THE 
SECONDARY MARKET FOR THE NOTES, IF ANY, COULD BE LIMITED. 
 
Ratings Loss:  Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”) has assigned a rating of ‘___’ to the Notes.  Generally, 
a rating agency bases its rating on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and 
assumptions of its own. There is no assurance the ratings will continue for any given period of time, or that such 
ratings will not be revised, suspended or withdrawn, if, in the judgment of Moody’s, circumstances so warrant.  A 
revision, suspension or withdrawal of a rating may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Notes. 
 
Rating agencies are currently not regulated by any regulatory body. Future regulation of rating agencies could 
materially alter the methodology, rating levels, and types of ratings available, for example, and these changes, if ever, 
could materially affect the market value of the Notes. 
 
Matters Relating to Enforceability:  Holders of the Notes shall have and possess all the rights of action and remedies 
afforded by the common law, the Constitution and statutes of the State of Iowa and of the United States of America for 
the enforcement of payment of the Notes, including but not limited to, the right to a proceeding in the law or in equity by 
suit, action or mandamus to enforce and compel performance of the duties required by Iowa law and the Resolution. 
 
The practical realization of any rights upon any default will depend upon the exercise of various remedies specified in the 
Resolution.  The opinion, to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Notes, will be qualified as to the 
enforceability of the various legal instruments by limitations imposed by general principals of equity and public policy 
and by bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors generally. 
 
No representation is made, and no assurance is given that the enforcement of any remedies with respect to such assets will 
result in sufficient funds to pay all amounts due under the Resolution, including principal of and interest on the Notes. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements:  This Preliminary Official Statement contains statements relating to future results that are 
“forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  When used in this 
Preliminary Official Statement, the words “estimate,” “forecast,” “intend,” “expect” and similar expressions identify 
forward-looking statements.  Any forward-looking statement is subject to uncertainty.  Accordingly, such statements are 
subject to risks that could cause actual results to differ, possibly materially, from those contemplated in such forward-
looking statements.  Inevitably, some assumptions used to develop forward-looking statements will not be realized or 
unanticipated events and circumstances may occur.  Therefore, investors should be aware there are likely to be differences 
between forward-looking statements and the actual results.  These differences could be material and could impact the 
availability of funds of the City to pay debt service when due on the Notes. 
 
Financial Condition of the City from time to time:  No representation is made as to the future financial condition of the 
City.  Certain risks discussed herein could adversely affect the financial condition and or operations of the City in future.  
The Notes are secured by an unlimited ad valorem property tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND 
SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 

72

Item 8.



 

9 

Loss of Tax Base/Climate Impacts:  Economic and other factors beyond the City’s control, such as economic recession, 
deflation of property values, or financial difficulty or bankruptcy by one or more major property taxpayers, or the 
complete or partial destruction of taxable property caused by, among other eventualities, earthquake, flood, fire or other 
natural disaster, could cause a reduction in the assessed value within the corporate boundaries of the City.  In addition, 
the State of Iowa and the City have been susceptible to tornados, flooding and other extreme weather wherein winds and 
flooding have from time to time caused significant damage, which if such events were to occur, may have an adverse 
impact on the City’s financial position. 
 
Potential Impacts Resulting from Epidemics or Pandemics:  The City’s finances may be materially adversely affected by 
unforeseen impacts of future public health events, including epidemics and pandemics.  The City cannot predict future 
impacts of epidemics or pandemics, any similar outbreaks, or their impact on travel, on assemblies or gatherings, on the 
State, national or global economy, or on securities markets, or whether any such disruptions may have a material adverse 
impact on the financial condition or operations of the City, included but not limited to the payment of debt service on 
any of its outstanding debt obligations. 
 
Changes in Property Taxation:  The Notes are general obligations of the City secured by an unlimited ad valorem 
property tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein.  Prior State 
Public Health Emergency Declarations, relative to the COVID-19 pandemic, have temporarily suspended the provisions 
that required the imposition of penalty and interest for delay in property tax payments and directed that no such penalty or 
interest could be imposed for the duration of the declarations and any future extension of the suspension.  No current 
property tax payment suspensions are imposed, and collections stayed consistent during the pandemic.  It is impossible to 
predict whether the declarations or any amendments to or extensions thereof would have a material effect on the City’s 
ability to collect property taxes necessary for the payment of principal and interest on the Notes.  See “LEVIES AND 
TAX COLLECTIONS” under the “CITY” section included in APPENDIX A to this Preliminary Official Statement for 
more information of the City’s tax collection history, despite prior suspensions. 
 
From time to time the Iowa General Assembly has altered the method of property taxation and could do so again.  Such 
alterations could adversely affect the City’s financial condition.  Historically, changes to property tax calculations and 
impositions are imposed on a prospective basis.  However, there is no assurance future changes to property taxation by 
the Iowa General Assembly will not be applied retroactively.  See “PROPERTY TAX LEGISLATION” herein for 
additional discussion on recent legislation impacting property taxes.  It is impossible to predict the outcome of future 
property taxation changes by the Iowa General Assembly or resulting impacts on the City’s financial condition.  The 
Notes are secured by an unlimited ad valorem property tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND 
SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 
Tax Matters and Loss of Tax Exemption:  As discussed under the heading “TAX MATTERS” herein, the interest on the 
Notes could become includable in gross income for purposes of federal income taxation retroactive to the date of delivery 
of the Notes, as a result of acts or omissions of the City in violation of its covenants in the Resolution.  Should such an 
event of taxability occur, the Notes would not be subject to a special prepayment and would remain outstanding until 
maturity or until prepaid under the prepayment provisions contained in the Notes, and there is no provision for an 
adjustment of the interest rates on the Notes. 
 
It is possible legislation will be proposed or introduced that could result in changes in the way that tax exemption is 
calculated, or whether interest on certain securities are exempt from taxation at all.  Prospective purchasers should consult 
with their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal income tax legislation.  The likelihood of 
legislation being enacted cannot be reliably predicted. 
 
It is also possible actions of the City after the closing of the Notes, will alter the tax status of the Notes, and, in the 
extreme, remove the tax-exempt status from the Notes.  In that instance, the Notes are not subject to mandatory 
prepayment and the interest rate on the Notes does not increase or otherwise reset.  A determination of taxability on the 
Notes, after closing of the Notes, could materially adversely affect the value and marketability of the Notes. 
 
Federal Tax Legislation:  From time to time, there are Presidential proposals, proposals of various federal committees, 
and legislative proposals pending in Congress that could, if enacted, alter or amend one or more of the federal (or state) 
tax matters described herein in certain respects or would adversely affect the market value of the Notes or otherwise 
prevent holders of the Notes from realizing the full benefit of the tax exemption of interest on the Notes.  Further, such 

73

Item 8.



 

10 

proposals may impact the marketability or market value of the Notes simply by being proposed.  It cannot be predicted 
whether or in what forms any of such proposals, either pending or that may be introduced, may be enacted and there can 
be no assurance that such proposals will not apply to the Notes.  In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time 
announced or proposed and litigation threatened or commenced, which if implemented or concluded in a particular 
manner, could adversely affect the market value, marketability or tax status of the Notes.  It cannot be predicted whether 
any such regulatory action will be implemented, how any particular litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or 
whether the Notes would be impacted thereby. 
 
Cybersecurity:  The City, like many other public and private entities, relies on a large and complex technology 
environment to conduct its operations.  As such, it may face multiple cybersecurity threats including but not limited to, 
hacking, viruses, malware and other attacks on computer or other sensitive digital systems and networks.  There can be 
no assurances that any security and operational control measures implemented by the City will be completely successful 
to guard against and prevent cyber threats and attacks.  Failure to properly maintain functionality, control, security, and 
integrity of the City’s information systems could impact business operations and/or digital networks and systems and the 
costs of remedying any such damage could be significant.  Along with significant liability claims or regulatory penalties, 
any security breach could have a material adverse impact on the City’s operations and financial condition.  The City 
maintains insurance policies that cover its general liability, errors, employment practice liability, policy liability, auto 
liability, bus liability as well as a cyber liability policy.  The City cannot predict whether any insurance policies that may 
be maintained by the City would be sufficient in the event of a cyber breach.  The Notes are secured by an unlimited ad 
valorem property tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 
Pensions:  Pursuant to GASB 68, the City reported a liability of $5,322,320 within its Annual Comprehensive Financial 
Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability related to IPERS, 
as defined herein.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City’s proportion of the 
net pension liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all 
IPERS participating employers.  At June 30, 2022, the City’s collective proportion was 0.140871%, which was an 
increase of 0.196391% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2021. 
 
Additionally, the City reported a liability of $9,824,664 with its Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal 
Year ended June 30, 2023 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability related to MFPRSI, as defined herein.  
The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan 
relative to the contributions of all MFPRSI participating employers.  At June 30, 2022, the City’s proportion was 
1.749498%, which was a decrease of 0.007715% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2021.  See “EMPLOYEES 
AND PENSIONS” under the “THE CITY” section included in APPENDIX A to this Preliminary Official Statement for 
more summary information related to the City’s contributions, and the City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023, included in APPENDIX C to this Preliminary Official Statement, for additional 
information related to the City’s deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions, actuarial assumptions, 
discount rate and discount rate sensitivity.  Changes to the City’s pension contributions, or available sources to fund said 
contributions, may adversely affect the City’s financial condition.  The Notes are secured by an unlimited ad valorem 
property tax as described more fully in the “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 
Continuing Disclosure:  A failure by the City to comply with continuing disclosure obligations (see “CONTINUING 
DISCLOSURE” herein) will not constitute an event of default on the Notes.  Any such failure must be disclosed in 
accordance with Rule 15c2-12 promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”), and may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Notes and their 
market price. 
 
Bankruptcy:  The rights and remedies available to holders of the Notes may be limited by and are subject to the 
provisions of federal bankruptcy laws, to other laws or equitable principles that may affect the enforcement of creditor’s 
rights, to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations in legal remedies against exercise of 
judicial discretion in appropriate cases and to limitations on legal remedies against municipal corporations in the State of 
Iowa.  The various opinions of counsel to be delivered with respect to the Notes and the Resolution, including the 
opinion of Bond Counsel, will be similarly qualified.  If the City were to file a petition under Chapter 9 of the 
Bankruptcy Code, the owners of the Notes could be prohibited from taking any steps to enforce their rights under the 
Resolution.  In the event the City fails to comply with its covenants under the Resolution or fails to make payments on 

74

Item 8.



 

11 

the Notes, there can be no assurance of the availability of remedies adequate to protect the interests of the holders of the 
Notes. 
 
Under Iowa Code Chapter 76, specifically sections 76.16 and 76.16A, as amended, a city, county, or other political 
subdivision may become a debtor under Chapter 9 of the Federal bankruptcy code, if it is rendered insolvent, as defined 
in 11 U.S.C. §101(32)(c), as a result of a debt involuntarily incurred.  As used therein, “ debt”  means an obligation to 
pay money, other than pursuant to a valid and binding collective bargaining agreement or previously authorized note 
issue, as to which the governing body of the city, county, or other political subdivision has made a specific finding set 
forth in a duly adopted resolution of each of the following: (1) all or a portion of such obligation will not be paid from 
available insurance proceeds and must be paid from an increase in general tax levy; (2) such increase in the general tax 
levy will result in a severe, adverse impact on the ability of the city, county, or political subdivision to exercise the 
powers granted to it under applicable law, including without limitation providing necessary services and promoting 
economic development; (3) as a result of such obligation, the city, county, or other political subdivision is unable to pay 
its debts as they become due; and (4) the debt is not an obligation to pay money to a city, county, entity organized 
pursuant to chapter 28E of the Code of Iowa, or other political subdivision. 
 
Suitability of Investment:  The interest rate borne by the Notes is intended to compensate the investor for assuming the 
risk of investing in the Notes.  Each prospective investor should carefully examine this Preliminary Official Statement 
and its own financial condition to make a judgment as to its ability to bear the economic risk of such an investment, and 
whether or not the Notes are an appropriate investment for such investor. 
 
Tax Levy Procedures:  The Notes are general obligations of the City, payable from and secured by a continuing ad 
valorem tax levied against all of the property valuation within the City.  As part of the budgetary process each fiscal year, 
the City will have an obligation to request a debt service levy to be applied against all of the taxable property within the 
City.  A failure on the part of the City to make a timely levy request or a levy request by the City that is inaccurate or is 
insufficient to make full payments of the debt service of the Notes for a particular fiscal year may cause noteholders to 
experience a delay in the receipt of distributions of principal of and/or interest on the Notes.  In the event of a default in 
the payment of principal of or interest on the Notes, there is no provision for acceleration of maturity of the principal of 
the Notes.  Consequently, the remedies of the owners of the Notes (consisting primarily of an action in the nature of 
mandamus requiring the City and certain other public officials to perform the terms of the Resolution) may have to be 
enforced from year to year.  See “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 
Federal Funds Orders and State Funds Legislation:  Various federal executive orders, and Iowa Code Chapter 27A 
(collectively “ICE Enforcement Initiatives”), impose requirements intended to ensure compliance with the federal 
immigration detainment processes.  The ICE Enforcement Initiatives impose various penalties for non-compliance, 
including the loss of state and/or federal funding under certain circumstances.  The loss of state and/or federal funds in 
any significant amount would negatively impact the City’s overall financial position and could affect its rating.  The 
Notes are secured by a debt service levy upon real property in the jurisdictional limits of the City and are not secured by 
state or federal funds.  See “PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE NOTES” herein. 
 
DTC-Beneficial Owners:  Beneficial Owners of the Notes may experience some delay in the receipt of distributions of 
principal of and interest on the Notes since such distributions will be forwarded by the Registrar to DTC and DTC will 
credit such distributions to the accounts of the Participants which will, thereafter, credit them to the accounts of the 
Beneficial Owner either directly or indirectly through indirect Participants.  Neither the City nor the Registrar will have 
any responsibility or obligation to assure any such notice or payment is forwarded by DTC to any Participants or by any 
Participant to any Beneficial Owner. 
 
In addition, since transactions in the Notes can be affected only through DTC Participants, indirect participants and 
certain banks, the ability of a Beneficial Owner to pledge the Notes to persons or entities that do not participate in the 
DTC system, or otherwise to take actions in respect of such Notes, may be limited due to lack of a physical certificate.  
Beneficial Owners will be permitted to exercise the rights of registered Owners only indirectly through DTC and the 
Participants.  See “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY ISSUANCE” herein. 
  

75

Item 8.



 

12 

Summary:  The foregoing is intended only as a summary of certain risk factors attendant to an investment in the Notes.  In 
order for potential investors to identify risk factors and make an informed investment decision, potential investors should 
become thoroughly familiar with this entire Preliminary Official Statement and the Appendices hereto to make a 
judgment as to whether the Notes are an appropriate investment. 
 
RATING 
 
The Notes have been rated ‘___’ by Moody’s.  Currently, Moody’s maintains a rating of ‘Aaa’ on the City’s long-term 
general obligation debt.  The existing ratings on long-term debt reflect only the view of the rating agency and any 
explanation of the significance of such rating may only be obtained from Moody’s. There is no assurance that such 
rating will continue for any period of time or that it will not be revised or withdrawn. Any revision or withdrawal of the 
rating may have an effect on the market price of the Notes. 
 
MUNICIPAL ADVISOR 
 
The City has retained PFM Financial Advisors LLC, Des Moines, Iowa, as Municipal Advisor in connection with 
the preparation of the Preliminary Official Statement for the issuance of the Notes. In preparing the Preliminary 
Official Statement, the Municipal Advisor has relied on government officials, and other sources to provide accurate 
information for disclosure purposes. The Municipal Advisor is not obligated to undertake, and has not undertaken 
to make, an independent verification of the information provided by the City, or to assume responsibility for the 
accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in the Preliminary Official Statement. PFM 
Financial Advisors LLC is an independent advisory firm and is not engaged in the business of underwriting, trading or 
distributing municipal securities or other public securities. 
 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 

The City will covenant in a Continuing Disclosure Certificate for the benefit of the owners and beneficial owners of the 
Notes to provide annually certain financial information and operating data relating to the City (the “Annual Report”), and 
to provide notices of the occurrence of certain enumerated events.  The Annual Report is to be filed by the City not later 
than two hundred seventy (270) days after the close of each fiscal year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending 
June 30, 2024, with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, at its internet repository named “Electronic Municipal 
Market Access” (“EMMA”).  The notices of events, if any, are also to be filed with EMMA.  See FORM OF 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE included in APPENDIX D to this Preliminary Official Statement.  The 
specific nature of the information to be contained in the Annual Report or the notices of events, and the manner in which 
such materials are to be filed, are summarized in the FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE.  These 
covenants have been made in order to assist the Purchaser in complying with SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) (the “Rule”). 

The City is not aware of any instance in the previous five years in which it has failed to comply, in all material respects, 
with previous undertakings in a written contract or agreement specified in the Rule. 
 
After issuance, the City’s General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2022 were amended to remove the bank 
qualified designation due to a proportionate allocation of debt pursuant to Section 265(b) of the Internal Revenue Code 
of 1986, as amended, from a joint powers issuer of which the Cedar Falls Utilities is a member, with notice thereof 
posted to EMMA on March 1, 2023. 
 
Breach of the undertakings will not constitute a default or an “Event of Default” under the Notes or the Resolution.  
A broker or dealer is to consider a known breach of the undertakings, however, before recommending the purchase or 
sale of the Notes in the secondary market.  Thus, a failure on the part of the City to observe the undertakings may 
adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of the Notes and their market price. 
 
  

76

Item 8.



 

13 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The City’s Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2023 is reproduced in 
APPENDIX C to this Preliminary Official Statement.  The City’s certified public accountant has not consented to 
distribution of the audited financial statements and has not undertaken added review of their presentation.  Further 
information regarding financial performance and copies of the City’s prior Annual Comprehensive Financial Reports 
may be obtained from the City’s Municipal Advisor PFM Financial Advisors LLC. 
 
CERTIFICATION 
 
The City has authorized the distribution of this Preliminary Official Statement for use in connection with the initial sale 
of the Notes.  I have reviewed the information contained within the Preliminary Official Statement prepared on behalf 
of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by PFM Financial Advisors LLC, Des Moines, Iowa, and to the best of my knowledge, 
information and belief, said Preliminary Official Statement does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or 
omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements made therein, in 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading regarding the issuance of $4,520,000* General 
Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024. 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
/s/ Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 
* Preliminary; subject to change. 

77

Item 8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page has been left blank intentionally.) 
 

78

Item 8.



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
The $4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 (the “Notes) are general obligations of the City 
of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the “City”) for which the City will pledge its power to levy direct ad valorem taxes against all 
taxable property within the City without limitation as to rate or amount to the repayment of the Notes. 
 
 
 
* Preliminary; subject to change. 

79

Item 8.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(This page has been left blank intentionally.) 
 

80

Item 8.



 

A-1 

CITY PROPERTY VALUES 

IOWA PROPERTY VALUATIONS 
 
In compliance with Section 441.21 of the Code of Iowa, the State Director of Revenue annually directs the county 
auditors to apply prescribed statutory percentages to the assessments of certain categories of real property.  The 2023 
final Actual Values were adjusted by the Blackhawk County Auditor.  The reduced values, determined after the 
application of rollback percentages, are the taxable values subject to tax levy.  For assessment year 2023 (applicable 
for fiscal year 2024-25), the taxable value rollback rate is 46.3428% of actual value for residential property; 
71.8370% of actual value for agricultural property and 100.0000% of the actual value of utility property.  The 
residential taxable rollback rate of 46.3428% would apply to the value of each property unit of commercial, industrial 
and railroad property that exceeds zero dollars ($0) but does not exceed one hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000) 
with a taxable value rollback rate of 90.0000% to the value that exceeds one hundred fifty thousand dollars 
($150,000).  No adjustment was ordered for utility property because its assessed value did not increase enough to 
qualify for reduction.  Utility property is limited to an 8% annual growth. 
 
The Legislature’s intent has been to limit the growth of statewide taxable valuations for the specific classes of 
property to 3% annually.  Political subdivisions whose taxable values are thus reduced or are unusually low in growth 
are allowed to appeal the valuations to the State Appeal Board, in order to continue to fund present services.  See 
“PROPERTY TAX LEGISLATION” herein for a discussion on recent legislative revisions to the administration of 
certain property taxes in Iowa beginning in Fiscal Year 2024-25. 
 
PROPERTY VALUATIONS (1/1/2023 Valuations for Taxes payable July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2025) 
 

  
100% Actual Value 

Taxable Value 

(With Rollback) 
Residential $3,520,224,439 $1,607,971,139 
Commercial 653,267,157 536,771,088 
Industrial 32,210,898 25,900,122 
Railroads 2,937,298 2,606,595 
Utilities w/o Gas & Electric          497,624          497,624 

Gross valuation $4,209,137,416 $2,173,746,568 
Less exemptions         (17,599,950)         (17,599,950) 

Net valuation $4,191,537,466 $2,156,146,618 

TIF increment (used to compute debt service   

levies and constitutional debt limit) $301,040,192 $285,083,909 

Taxed Separately 

  

Ag. Land & Buildings   $8,582,690 1)                $6,165,545 1) 

Gas & Electric Utilities $54,310,184 $4,280,609 

 
1) Includes $28,110 Ag Land and Ag Building TIF. 

 
2023 GROSS TAXABLE VALUATION BY CLASS OF PROPERTY 1)

 
 

 Taxable Valuation Percent Total 

Residential $1,607,971,139 73.83% 
Commercial, Industrial, and Utilities 563,168,834 25.86% 
Gas & Electric Utilities 4,280,609 0.19% 
Railroads        2,606,595     0.12% 
   

Total Gross Taxable Valuation $2,178,027,177 100.00% 
 

1) Excludes Taxable TIF Increment and Ag. Land & Buildings.  
81

Item 8.



 

A-2 

TREND OF VALUATIONS 

Assessment 
Year 

Payable 
Fiscal Year 

 
100% Actual Valuation 

Taxable Valuation 
(With Rollback) 

Taxable 
TIF Increment 

     

2019 2020-21 $3,417,168,394 1,968,057,686 138,806,175 
2020 2021-22 3,490,992,530 1,964,300,512 225,821,072 
2021 2022-23 3,735,193,238 2,064,620,691 204,625,917 
2022 2023-24 3,806,549,210 2,068,909,898 213,793,804 
2023 2024-25 4,555,470,532 2,160,427,227 285,083,909 

 
The 100% Actual Valuation, before rollback and after reduction of military exemption, includes Ag. Land, Ag. 
Buildings, Taxable TIF Increment and Gas & Electric Utilities.  The Taxable Valuation, with the rollback and after 
the reduction of military exemption, includes Gas & Electric Utilities and excludes Ag. Land, Ag. Buildings and 
Taxable TIF Increment.  Iowa cities certify operating levies against Taxable Valuation excluding the Taxable TIF 
Increment and debt service levies are certified against Taxable Valuations including the Taxable TIF Increment. 

LARGER TAXPAYERS 

Set forth in the following tables are the persons or entities which represent the larger taxpayers within the boundaries 
of the City, as provided by the Black Hawk County Auditor’s office.  No independent investigation has been made of 
and no representation is made herein as to the financial condition of any of the taxpayers listed below or that such 
taxpayers will continue to maintain their status as major taxpayers in the City.  The City’s mill levy is uniformly 
applicable to all of the properties included in the table, and thus taxes expected to be received by the City from such 
taxpayers will be in proportion to the assessed valuations of the properties.  The total tax bill for each of the properties 
is dependent upon the mill levies of the other taxing entities which overlap the properties. 
 

 
Taxpayer 1) 

 
Type of Property 

1/1/2023 
Taxable Valuation 2) 

   

Target Corporation Commercial/Industrial $76,349,084 
Reel Deal Holdings LLC Commercial 21,543,676 
Midland Tarkenton LLC Commercial 19,630,618 
Vereit Real Estate LP Commercial 14,833,682 
Menard Inc. Commercial 14,531,273 
RBR Holdings II LLC Commercial 14,521,085 
Prime RE 2 LLC Commercial 14,277,916 
The Bluff Pack LLC Commercial 12,808,997 
Park at Nine23 Owner LP Commercial 12,424,774 
Martin Realty Company LLC Commercial 12,101,775 

 

1) This list represents some of the larger taxpayers in the City, not necessarily the 10 largest taxpayers. 
2) The 1/1/2023 taxable valuations listed represent only those valuations associated with the title holder and may not necessarily 

represent the entire taxable valuation. 
 

Source:  Black Hawk County Auditor’s Office 

82

Item 8.



 

A-3 

PROPERTY TAX LEGISLATION 

Over time, the Iowa Legislature has modified the process and calculation of taxable valuations for various 
classifications of property.  For example, in 2013 maximum annual taxable value growth due to revaluation of 
residential and agricultural property was reduced from 4% to 3%, rollback calculations were modified, a new multi-
residential classification was created, and an appropriation made to replace some lost tax revenue due to rollbacks.  
In 2019, the process for hearings on total maximum property tax dollars under certain levies in the City’s budget was 
modified and a super-majority vote required to raise taxes above a prescribed formula.  In 2021, the multi-residential 
classification was removed, and a phase out of the appropriation for rollback initiated.  In 2023, SF 181 was signed 
into law by the Governor on February 20, 2023, effective upon enactment.  SF 181 reduced the residential rollback 
for the 2022 assessment year (affecting Fiscal Year 2023-24) from 56.4919% to 54.6501%.  This resulted in a 
reduction in taxable valuation in the residential, commercial, industrial and railroad property classes upon which the 
City levies property taxes for Fiscal Year 2023-24. 
 
On May 4, 2023, the Governor signed House File 718 (“HF 718”), a property tax reform law aimed at reducing 
property tax growth in Iowa.  Among other things, HF 718 permanently consolidates several existing city property 
tax levies and creates a new adjusted city general fund levy (“ACGFL”).  To control the growth of property taxes, the 
new ACGFL is subject to potential limitation or reduction by constraining growth by 2% or 3% each year depending 
on if certain growth triggers are met or exceeded during the prior year.  The levy limitation is only applicable Fiscal 
Year 2024-25 through Fiscal Year 2027-28 and will be specific to each city.  For Fiscal Year 2023-24, the City 
calculated the new ACGFL as the baseline rate and the first annual ACGFL adjustment will begin Fiscal Year 2024-
25.  The ACGFL rates for Fiscal Years 2024-25 through 2027-28 are based on growth in city taxed value and the 
previous year’s city tax rate. Beginning in Fiscal Year 2028-29, all cities go to a $8.10 ACGFL maximum and the 
levy limitation calculation ceases. Certain levies like debt service, pensions, employee benefits and capital 
improvement reserve fund are not included in the new ACGFL limitation.  The City has experienced property 
valuation growth within the parameters of the new legislative caps.  Assuming the City exceeds the legislative caps 
in the future, the City’s general fund levies will lag its relative valuation growth.  For Fiscal Year 2024-25, the City’s 
non TIF tax valuation growth was 4.42% causing the City’s property tax revenue growth to be reduced by 2%.  The 
City’s Budget for Fiscal Year 2024-25 accommodated this reduced tax revenue relative to its non-TIF tax valuation 
growth. 
 
On May 1, 2024, new legislation (“SF 2442”) was signed into law by the Governor, which amongst other things, 
adjusts levy rates modified under HF 718 based on default rates and certain growth parameters for taxes and budgets 
beginning on or after July 1, 2025. 
 
From time to time, legislative proposals are pending in Congress and the Iowa General Assembly that would, if 
enacted, alter or amend one or more of the property tax matters described herein.  It cannot be predicted whether or in 
what forms any of such proposals, either pending or that may be introduced, may be enacted, and there can be no 
assurance that such proposals will not apply to valuation, assessment or levy procedures for taxes levied by the City or 
have an adverse impact on standing appropriations or the future tax collections of the City.  Purchasers of the Bonds 
should consult their tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal or state tax legislation.  The opinion 
expressed by Bond Counsel is based upon existing legislation as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds and 
Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent thereto or with respect to any pending federal or 
state tax legislation. 
 
Notwithstanding any modifications to property tax revenues that may result from prior, or any pending or future 
legislation, the Bonds are secured by an unlimited ad valorem property tax as described more fully in the 
“PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE BONDS” herein. 

83

Item 8.



 

A-4 

CITY INDEBTEDNESS 

DEBT LIMIT 

Article XI, Section 3 of the State of Iowa Constitution limits the amount of debt outstanding at any time of any 
county, municipality or other political subdivision to no more than 5% of the actual value of all taxable property 
within the corporate limits, as taken from the last state and county tax list.  The debt limit for the City, based on its 
2023 valuation currently applicable to the Fiscal Year 2024-25 is as follows: 
 
 2023 Actual Valuation of Property $4,555,470,532 1) 
 Legal Debt Limit of 5%  0.05 
  Legal Debt Limit $227,773,527 
 Less:  G. O. Debt Subject to Debt Limit  (16,325,000) * 
 Less:  Developer Rebate Agreements      (1,698,148) 2) 
 Net Debt Limit $209,750,379 * 
 

1) Actual Valuation as reported by the Iowa Department of Management. 
2) As reported by the City pursuant to development agreements for urban renewal projects under the authority of Iowa Code 

Chapter 403 or other intergovernmental agreements (under chapter 28E, etc.).  The Iowa Supreme Court has not formally ruled 
on the question of whether contracts to rebate the tax increment generated by a particular development constitutes 
indebtedness of a City for constitutional debt limit purposes.  The amount above includes rebate agreements that may not be 
debt.  Some development agreements are subject to the right of annual appropriation by the City, thereby limiting the extent of 
possible debt to only amounts currently due and appropriated in the current fiscal year.  Amounts payable under a particular 
development agreement may not constitute legal indebtedness but are memorialized in the table below to conservatively state 
the City’s possible financial exposure.  Payment of future installments may be dependent upon undertakings by the developers, 
which may have not yet occurred.  The City actively pursues opportunities consistent with the development goals of its various 
urban renewal plans, which may be amended from time to time, and the City may enter into additional development 
agreements committing to additional rebate incentives in calendar year 2024 or thereafter.  Includes TIF rebate agreement 
payments for Fiscal Year 2024-25 which were appropriated by the City Council.  For additional information see “OTHER 
DEBT: Tax Increment Rebate Agreements” table herein. 

DIRECT DEBT 

General Obligation Debt Paid by Property Taxes (Includes the Notes) 
 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 11/13/24 
      

7/16 $2,865,000 Capital Improvements 6/26 $575,000  
7/18 2,860,000 Capital Improvements 6/28 1,325,000  
7/20 3,430,000 Capital Improvements 6/30 2,275,000  
7/22 3,860,000 Capital Improvements 6/35 3,610,000  

11/24 4,520,000* Capital Improvements 6/37     4,520,000 * 
      

Subtotal    $12,305,000 * 
 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
  

84

Item 8.



 

A-5 

General Obligation Debt Paid by Sewer Utility Revenues 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 11/13/24 
      

7/16 $6,790,000 Capital Improvements 6/28 $2,600,000  
7/18 2,160,000 Capital Improvements 6/28     995,000  

      

Subtotal    $3,595,000  
 
General Obligation Debt Paid by Storm Water Utility Revenues 
 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 11/13/24 
      

7/18 $920,000 Capital Improvements 6/28 $425,000  
 
Total Outstanding General Obligation Debt $16,325,000* 

Annual Fiscal Year Debt Service Payments 

General Obligation Debt Paid by Property Taxes (Includes the Notes) 
 

 Current Outstanding Notes Total Outstanding 

Fiscal Year 
 

Principal 
Principal & 

Interest 
 

Principal* 
Principal & 

Interest* 
 

Principal* 
Principal & 

Interest* 
       

2024-25 $1,210,000 $1,466,500 $0 $124,300 1) $1,210,000 $1,590,800 1) 
2025-26 1,255,000 1,470,200 250,000 476,000 1,505,000 1,946,200 
2026-27 1,000,000 1,175,350 610,000 823,500 1,610,000 1,998,850 
2027-28 1,035,000 1,175,000 290,000 473,000 1,325,000 1,648,000 
2028-29 700,000 803,300 305,000 473,500 1,005,000 1,276,800 
2029-30 730,000 810,000 320,000 473,250 1,050,000 1,283,250 
2030-31 340,000 395,650 340,000 477,250 680,000 872,900 
2031-32 355,000 400,450 355,000 475,250 710,000 875,700 
2032-33 370,000 404,800 370,000 472,500 740,000 877,300 
2033-34 385,000 408,700 390,000 474,000 775,000 882,700 
2034-35      405,000 417,150 410,000 474,500 815,000 891,650 
2035-36   430,000 474,000 430,000 474,000 
2036-37        450,000 472,500       450,000 472,500 

       

Total $7,785,000  $4,520,000*  $12,305,000*  
 

* Preliminary; subject to change. 
 
1) The June 1, 2025 $124,300 interest payment will be paid from capitalized interest deposited into the Debt Service Fund. 
  

85

Item 8.



 

A-6 

General Obligation Debt Paid by Sewer Utility Revenues 
 

 Current Outstanding 

Fiscal Year 
 

Principal 
Principal & 

Interest 
   

2024-25 $865,000 $959,150 
2025-26 890,000 959,800 
2026-27 910,000 957,100 
2027-28      930,000 953,800 

Total $3,595,000  
 
General Obligation Debt Paid by Storm Water Utility Revenues 
 

 Current Outstanding 

Fiscal Year 
 

Principal 
Principal & 

Interest 
   

2024-25 $100,000 $118,000 
2025-26 105,000 118,000 
2026-27 110,000 118,800 
2027-28   110,000 114,400 

Total $425,000  
 

OTHER DEBT 

Tax Increment Rebate Agreements 

  Estimated Total Estimated 
Obligation 

Subject to Debt 
Limit as of 11/13/24 

 Total Estimated Final 
TIF Rebate Obligation Outstanding Payment 
Agreements as of 11/13/24 Date 

     

Strickler Properties $30,750 6/30/26 $15,375 1) 

River Place Properties 16,640,000 6/30/37 1,280,000 1) 

CV Commercial 2, LLC 41,600 6/30/25 41,600 1) 

Martin Realty Company II, LLC 1,677 6/30/25 1,677 1) 

Arabella, LLC 132,256 6/30/26 66,128 1) 

Panther Builders, LLC 27,240 6/30/26 13,620 1) 

Standard Distribution Co. 8,162 6/30/25 8,162 1) 

SDC Real Estate, LLC 5,974 6/30/25 5,974 1) 

River Place Properties II, LLC 562,911 6/30/27 187,637 1) 

McWing, LLC 106,171 6/30/31 0 2) 

Prestige WW, LLC 42,897 6/30/29 8,579 1) 

Six Kids, LLC 56,417 6/30/27 28,208 1) 

Stone and Terrace, LLC 65,940 6/30/29 13,188 1) 

Community Bank & Trust 112,000 6/30/28        28,000 1) 

Total   $1,698,148 
 

1) TIF rebate agreement payments for Fiscal Year 2024-25 which were appropriated by the City Council; and subject to the Debt 
Limit. 

2) No TIF rebate agreement payments were appropriated for Fiscal Year 2024-25. 
 
 
  

86

Item 8.



 

A-7 

SEWER UTILITY REVENUE DEBT 
 

The City has revenue debt payable solely from net revenues of the sewer utility as follows: 
 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 11/13/24 
      

8/11 $6,998,104 Capital Improvements (SRF Loan) 6/33 $3,703,000  

ELECTRIC UTILITY REVENUE DEBT 
 

Cedar Falls Utilities (“CFU”) has revenue debt payable solely from net revenues of the electric utility as follows: 
 

 
Date 

of Issue 

 
Original 
Amount 

 
 

Purpose 

 
Final 

Maturity 

Principal 
Outstanding 

As of 11/13/24 
      

6/15 $26,395,000 Electric Refunding 12/26 $5,820,000  
 
NATURAL GAS UTILITY 

CFU is a member of joint powers entity, Central Plains Energy Project (“CPEP”), a separate legal entity organized 
under the laws of the state of Nebraska.  CFU is member of CPEP, and a Project Participant with an enumerated 
amount of gas allocated to CFU by CPEP pursuant to a pre-paid gas financing.  Debt issuances by CPEP are not 
obligations of Project Participants, rather are limited obligations of CPEP payable solely from the revenues and 
receipts pledged by CPEP, including revenues and receipts arising from the sale of gas to Project Participants. 

INDIRECT GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT 

    Taxing District 
1/1/2023 

Taxable Valuation 1) 

Portion of  
Taxable Valuation  

within the City 
Percent 
In City   G.O. Debt 2) 

City's 
Proportionate 

Share 
      

Black Hawk County $6,968,929,563 $2,451,676,681 3) 35.18% $12,290,000 $4,323,622 
Cedar Falls CSD 2,560,367,240 2,370,710,147 3) 92.59% 87,475,000 80,993,103 
Hudson CSD 279,896,968 21,888,043 7.82% 11,660,000 911,812 
Waterloo CSD 3,442,788,748 59,078,491 1.72% 0 0 
Dike-New Hartford CSD 352,123,530 0 0.00% 8,870,000 0 
Hawkeye Comm. College 12,281,033,376 2,451,676,681 3) 19.96% 16,735,000     3,340,306 
     

City’s Share of Total Overlapping Debt   $89,568,843 
 
1) Taxable Valuation excludes exemptions and includes Ag. Land & Buildings, Taxable TIF Increment and all Utilities. 
2) Includes general obligation Notes, PPEL Notes, certificates of participation and new jobs training certificates.  Estimate based 

on publicly available data as of August 5, 2024. 
3) Includes $28,110 of Ag. TIF Increment valuation. 
  

87

Item 8.



 

A-8 

DEBT RATIOS 

 
 

 
 

  G.O. Debt 

Debt/Actual 
Market Value 

($4,555,470,532) 1) 

 
Debt/40,713 
Population 2) 

    

Total General Obligation Debt $16,325,000* 0.36%* $400.98* 
   Less: G. O. Debt Paid by Enterprise Funds 3)  (4,020,000)*   
    

Net G.O. Debt Paid by Taxes and Tax Increment $12,305,000* 0.27%* $302.24* 
    

City's Share of Overlapping Debt  $89,568,843 1.97% $2,200.01 
 
1)  Based on the City’s 1/1/2023 100% Actual Valuation; includes Ag Land, Ag Buildings, all Utilities and TIF Increment. 
2) Population based on the City’s 2020 U.S. Census. 
3) Includes general obligation debt paid by sewer and storm water utility revenues. 
 
* Preliminary; subject to change. 
  

88

Item 8.



 

A-9 

THE CITY 

CITY GOVERNMENT 
 
Incorporated in 1854, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is governed by a seven member City Council under a Mayor-
Council form of government, with an appointed City Administrator.  One Council Member is elected from each of 
the City’s five wards.  Two City Council members and the Mayor are elected at large.  The office of Mayor is a 
full-time position.  The Mayor is the presiding officer of the City Council and coordinates the City Council’s work 
and that of City officials.  The City Administrator is appointed by the City Council and serves as the chief 
administrative officer. 
 
Various City officials hold administrative responsibility. Department Directors of Finance & Business 
Operations, Community Development, Public Works and Public Safety Services have management and 
administrative responsibilities for their respective departments and report to the City Administrator.  An appointed 
City Clerk is the custodian of City records and reports to the Director of Finance & Business Operations.  The 
Controller/City Treasurer has financial, accounting and budget control responsibilities and reports to the Director of 
Finance & Business Operations. 
 
The City uses a committee system to study routine problems more efficiently and comprehensively.  All the City 
Council Members serve on the Committee of the Whole and report their findings, conclusions and 
recommendations to the Council as a whole.  Many other Boards and Commissions also serve City needs, 
including a nine member Planning and Zoning Commission which acts in advisory capacity to the City Council. 
 
LEVIES AND TAX COLLECTIONS 
 

  Collected During Percent 
Fiscal Year Levy 1) Collection Year 1) Collected 

    

2020-21 $25,791,096 $27,036,815 2) 104.83% 
2021-22 29,058,353 29,056,811 99.99% 
2022-23 29,826,879 29,797,625 99.90% 
2023-24 29,747,987 29,695,665 99.82% 
2024-25 33,920,870 ---------In Process of Collection--------- 

 

1) Includes TIF levies and collections. 
2) Higher collections due to no tax sale in 2020 due to Covid-19. 
 

Collections include delinquent taxes from all prior years.  Taxes in Iowa are delinquent each October 1 and April 1 and a 
late payment penalty of 1.5% per month of delinquency is enforced as of those dates.  If delinquent taxes are not paid, 
the property may be offered at the regular tax sale on the third Monday of June following the delinquency date.  
Purchasers at the tax sale must pay an amount equal to the taxes, special assessments, interest and penalties due on the 
property and funds so received are applied to taxes.  A property owner may redeem from the regular tax sale but, failing 
redemption within three years, the tax sale purchaser is entitled to a deed, which in general conveys the title free and 
clear of all liens except future tax installments. 

 

Source: The City 
  

89

Item 8.



 

A-10 

TAX RATES 

 FY 2020-21 
$/$1,000 

FY 2021-22 
$/$1,000 

FY 2022-23 
$/$1,000 

FY 2023-24 
$/$1,000 

FY 2024-25 
$/$1,000 

Black Hawk County 6.33625 6.17391 5.63335 5.57357 5.53278 
City of Cedar Falls 11.43408 11.38273 11.51171 11.40320 11.86133 
Cedar Falls Community School District 13.89314 13.95299 15.83886 15.27999 14.78628 
Hawkeye Community College 1.15802 1.17640 1.18571 1.21183 1.23407 
Assessor/Appraiser 0.22095 0.22103 0.22911 0.20918 0.21834 
Agriculture Ext. Service 0.09580 0.09872 0.11456 0.10041 0.10172 
State of Iowa   0.00270   0.00260   0.00240   0.00180   0.00180 

Total Tax Rate City Resident 33.14094 33.00838 34.51570 33.77998 33.73632 

LEVY LIMITS 

Pursuant to HF 718 the City’s new adjusted city general fund levy (“ACGFL”) for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 is 
$8.22247.  To control the growth of property taxes, the ACGFL is subject to potential limitation or reduction by 
constraining growth each year depending on if certain growth triggers are met or exceeded during the prior year.  The 
levy limitation is only applicable Fiscal Year 2024-2025 through Fiscal Year 2027-2028. Beginning in Fiscal Year 
2028-2029, the levy limitation ceases and the City will go to a $8.10 ACGFL maximum. Certain levies like debt 
service, pensions, employee benefits and capital improvement reserve fund are not included in the new ACGFL 
limitation.  The City’s recent property valuation growth has often exceeded the new legislative caps.  Assuming the 
City exceeds the legislative caps in the future, the City’s general fund levies will lag its relative valuation growth.  
For Fiscal Year 2024-25, the City’s non TIF tax valuation growth was 4.42% causing the City’s property tax revenue 
growth to be reduced by 2% of its revenues.  The City’s Budget for Fiscal Year 2024-25 accommodated this 
reduction of tax revenues relative to its non-TIF tax valuation growth. Debt service levies are not limited, rather the 
City is only subject to the aggregate constitutional debt limits.  See “DEBT LIMIT” under “CITY 
INDEBTEDNESS” and “PROPERTY TAX LEGISLATION” under “CITY PROPERTY VALUES” included in 
APPENDIX A to this Preliminary Official Statement for a discussion of revisions to the administration of the general 
fund levy beginning in Fiscal Year 2024-25 and a legislative update for Fiscal Year 2025-26. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank.) 
  

90

Item 8.



 

A-11 

FUNDS ON HAND (Cash and Investments as of June 30, 2024) 
 

General $8,632,209  
Street Construction 7,606,490 
Local Street Repair 12,711,324 
Cable Television 1,700,602 
Parking Meter 302,436 
Visitors & Tourism Services 1,388,081 
Police Forfeiture & D.A.R.E. 17,314 
Police Retirement 3,369,040 

Fire Retirement 2,542,731 
Library Reserve 342,375 
Softball Player 218,745 
Golf Capital 460,930 
Rec. Center Capital 622,187 
Hearst Center Capital 430,694 
Debt Service 363,190 
Washington Park/Par 3 35,445 
FEMA 970,688 
Coronavirus Local Relief 1,664,728 
TIF Bond Fund (19,206,599) 1) 

2024 Bond Fund (286,586) 2) 

2018 Bond Fund 113,455 

2020 Bond Fund (4,469,173) 3) 

2022 Bond Fund 1,577,257 

Capital Projects and Equipment 28,676,025 
Parkade Renovation 16,116 
Sidewalk Assessment (22,348) 4) 

Economic Development 10,271,642 
Sewer Bond Funds 2,027,311 
Refuse 5,561,408 
Sewer Rental 20,416,180 
Storm Water Utility   1,461,398 
Data Processing 1,765,193 
Health Insurance 1,677,000 
Health Severance 275,955 
Vehicle Maintenance 2,558,732 
Payroll 3,011,445 
Workmen’s Compensation  1,356,493 
L.T.D. Insurance 470,673 
Liability Insurance 1,749,809 
Greenwood Perpetual Care 263,421 
Fairview Perpetual Care 189,108 
Hillside Perpetual Care 58,278 
Sartori Memorial Hospital 15,520,636 
Section 8 Housing Vouchers 946,504 
Block Grant          79,968 

Total Cash & Investments $119,438,510 
 
 

1) Deficit will be eliminated by future TIF revenues. 
2) Deficit will be eliminated by bond proceeds. 
3) Deficit will be eliminated by grant reimbursements. 
4) Deficit will be eliminated by future special assessment collections.  

91

Item 8.



 

A-12 

EMPLOYEES AND PENSIONS 

The City currently has 227 full-time employees and 102 part-time or seasonal employees, excluding Cedar Falls 
Utilities personnel.  In addition, the City has a public safety department with 76 sworn fire, police and public safety 
officers. The City participates in two statewide employee retirement systems, the Iowa Public Employees Retirement 
System (“IPERS”) and the Municipal Fire and Police Retirement System of Iowa (“MFPRSI”).  The State of Iowa 
administers IPERS and a nine-member board of trustees governs the MFPRSI.  Though separate and apart from state 
government, the MFPRSI board is authorized by state legislature, which also establishes by statute the pension and 
disability benefits and the system’s funding mechanism.  All full-time employees must participate in either IPERS or 
MFPRSI. 
 
Iowa Public Employees Retirement System:  IPERS membership is mandatory for employees of the City except those 
covered by another retirement system.  The City contributes to IPERS, which is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, 
contributory defined benefit public employee retirement system administered by State of Iowa.  IPERS provides 
retirement and death benefits, which are established by state statute, to plan members and beneficiaries.  IPERS is 
authorized to adjust the total contribution rate up or down each year, by no more than 1 percentage point, based upon 
the actuarially required contribution rate.  The City’s contributions to IPERS for the previous three fiscal years, as 
shown below, equal the required contributions for each year. 
 

 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 
IPERS City Contribution $1,047,351 $1,072,135 $1,157,515 

 
The IPERS Annual Comprehensive Financial Report is available on the IPERS website, or by contacting IPERS at 
7401 Register Drive P.O. Box 9117, Des Moines, IA 50321.  However, the information presented in such financial 
reports or on such website is not incorporated into this Preliminary Official Statement by any references. 
 
Bond Counsel, the City and the Municipal Advisor undertake no responsibility for and make no representations as to 
the accuracy or completeness of the information available from the IPERS discussed above or included on the IPERS 
website, including, but not limited to, updates of such information on the State Auditor’s website or links to other 
Internet sites accessed through the IPERS website. 
 
Pursuant to Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 68, the City reported a liability of 
$5,322,320 within its Annual Comprehensive Financial Report as of June 30, 2023 for its proportionate share of the 
net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used 
to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The City’s proportion of 
the net pension liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions 
of all IPERS participating employers.  At June 30, 2022, the City’s collective proportion was 0.140871% which was 
an increase of 0.196391% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2021. 
 
The City cannot predict the levels of funding that will be required in the future as any IPERS unfunded pension 
benefit obligation could be reflected in future years in higher contribution rates.  The investment of moneys, 
assumptions underlying the same and the administration of IPERS is not subject to the direction of the City.  Thus, it 
is not possible to predict, control or prepare for future unfunded actuarial liabilities (“UAL”) of IPERS.  The UAL is 
the difference between total actuarially accrued liabilities and actuarially calculated assets available for the payment 
of such benefits.  The UAL is based on assumptions as to retirement age, mortality, projected salary increases 
attributed to inflation, across-the-board raises and merit raises, adjustments, cost-of-living adjustments, valuation of 
current assets, investment return and other matters.  Such UAL could be substantial in the future, requiring 
significantly increased contributions from the City which could affect other budgetary matters. 
 
Municipal Fire and Police Retirement System of Iowa:  The City contributes to MFPRSI, which is a cost-sharing, 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan.  MFPRSI provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan 
members and beneficiaries.  Benefit provisions are established by state statute, and vest after four years of credited 
service.  MFPRSI membership is mandatory for fire fighters and police officers covered by the provisions of Chapter 
411 of the Code of Iowa. 
  

92

Item 8.



 

A-13 

MFPRSI plan members are required to contribute a percentage of their annual covered salary, and the City is required 
to contribute at an actuarially determined rate of annual covered payroll.  The contribution requirements of plan 
members and the City are established and may be amended by state statute.  The City’s contributions to MFPRSI for 
the previous three fiscal years, as shown below, equal the required contributions for each year. 
 

 FY 2020-21 FY 2021-22 FY 2022-23 
MFPRSI City Contribution $1,445,236 $1,546,941 $1,598,647 

 
The MFPRSI’s Independent Auditors Report is available on the MFPRSI website, or by contacting MFPRSI at 7155 
Lake Drive, Suite 201, West Des Moines, IA 50266.  However, the information presented in such financial reports or 
on such websites is not incorporated into this Preliminary Official Statement by any references. 
 
Bond Counsel, the City and the Municipal Advisor undertake no responsibility for and make no representations as to 
the accuracy or completeness of the information available from MFPRSI discussed above or included on the MFPRSI 
website, including, but not limited to, updates of such information on the State Auditor’s website or links to other 
Internet sites accessed through the MFPRSI website. 
 
Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 68, the City reported a liability of $9,824,664 with its Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report as of June 30, 2023 for its proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability 
was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on 
the City’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the contributions of all MFPRSI participating 
employers.  At June 30, 2022, the City’s proportion was 1.749498% which was a decrease of 0.007715% from its 
proportion measured as of June 30, 2021. 
 
For additional information on the City’s Pension Plans, including information related to deferred outflows and inflows 
of resources related to pensions, expenses, actuarial assumption, discount rate and discount rate sensitivities refer to 
Note F beginning on page 74 of the City’s June 30, 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report contained in 
APPENDIX C to this Preliminary Official Statement. 

OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 

Plan Description: The City operates a single-employer health benefit plan which provides medical, prescription drug 
and life benefits for all full-time, active employees and retired employees and their eligible dependents.  Group 
insurance benefits are established under Iowa Code Chapter 509A.13.  No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets 
the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75.  The plan does not issue a stand-alone financial report. 
 
OPEB Benefits: Employees of the City who are eligible to participate in the group health plan are eligible to continue 
healthcare benefits upon retirement.  Retirees under age 65 pay the same premium for the medical, prescription drug 
and life benefits as active employees, which results in an implicit rate subsidy and an OPEB liability. 
 
Retired participants must be age 55 or older at retirement.  As of June 30, 2023, there were 17 inactive employees or 
beneficiaries and 196 active employees receiving benefit payments. 
 
Funding Policy:  The contribution requirements of plan members are established and may be amended by the City.  
The City currently finances the benefit plan on a pay-as-you-go basis.  Most expenditures are paid for out of the 
General Fund. 
 
  

93

Item 8.



A-14

The City’s total OPEB liability of $3,541,710 as of June 30, 2023 was measured as of June 30, 2022, and was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  The following table represents the change in the total OPEB 
liability from the prior year: 

Total OPEB liability beginning of year $3,410,500 
Changes for year: 
    Service cost 239,867 
    Interest 129,371 
    Difference between expected and actual experience -- 
    Change in assumptions -- 
    Benefit payments     (238,028) 

        Net changes    $131,210 

Net OPEB liability, end of year $3,541,710 

For additional information on the City’s OPEB, refer to Note G - Other Postemployment Benefits, beginning on 
page 84 of the City’s June 30, 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report included in APPENDIX C to this 
Preliminary Official Statement. 

UNION CONTRACTS 

The City currently has negotiated contracts with the two employee groups as shown in the table below. 

Contract
Employee Group Expiration Date % Annual Increase 

Teamsters – Parks & Public Works 06/30/27 

Teamsters – Police 06/30/27 

Years 1-2:  3% 
Year 3:  $1.00 market adjustment + 3.5% 
Years 4-5:  $.50 market adjustment plus no less than 
2.5%, no more than 3.5%. 

Years 1-2:  $.50 market adjustment plus 3.5% 
Year 3:  $.50 market adjustment + 4.1% 
Years 4-5:  $.50 market adjustment + no less than 
3.5%, no more than 4.5% 

(The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank.) 

94

Item 8.



 

A-15 

INSURANCE 
 
The City's insurance coverage is as follows: 
 

Type of Insurance Coverage 
  

Property  $180,499,141 Total Insured Values 
$100,000 Deductible 

Public Risk General Liability 
 

$7,000,000 Limit 
$10,000,000 General Aggregate 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Employee Benefits Liability 
 

Limit Included in GL Limit  
Aggregate Included in GL Limit 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Business Auto Liability 
  

$7,000,000 Limit 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Public Officials Liability 
 
 

$7,000,000 Limit 
$10,000,000 Aggregate 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Law Enforcement Coverage 
 

$7,000,000 Limit 
$10,000,000 Aggregate 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Employment Practices Liability 
 

$7,000,000 Limit 
$10,000,000 Aggregate 
$150,000 Self-Insured Retention 

Auto Physical Damage 
 

$20,863,033 Total Vehicle Values 
$10,000 Deductible Per Vehicle 

Equipment Breakdown 
 

$100,000,000 Limit 
$5,000 Deductible 

Excess Workers’ Compensation 
   

$1,000,000 Limit 
$1,000,000 Aggregate Limit 
$500,000 Self-Insured Retention 
$750,000 Retention (Police/Fire) 

Crime 
 

$500,000 Limit  
$25,000 Deductible 

Cyber Liability 
 
 
 

$2,000,000 Limit 
$2,000,000 Aggregate 
$25,000 Deductible 
 

 
The City maintains insurance policies in the amount of $7,000,000 limit for general liability, and $2,000,000 limit for 
cyber liability (including a $2,000,000 limit for cyber breach coverage). 
  

95

Item 8.



 

A-16 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

LOCATION AND TRANSPORTATION 
 
The City, with a 2020 U.S. census population of 40,713 and a total land area of 29.1 square miles, is located adjacent 
to the City of Waterloo, Iowa.  The City is 105 miles northeast of Des Moines, Iowa, 192 miles south of Minneapolis, 
Minnesota and 275 miles west of Chicago, Illinois.  The City is accessible by U.S. Highways No. 20, 63 and 218 and 
State Highways No. 21, 57, 281 and 412.  Interstate Highway No. 380 links the City and the City of Waterloo, Iowa 
with the southeastern area of the State and connects with Interstate Highway No. 80.  Interstate Highway No. 35 is 
located about 65 miles west of the City.  Bus transportation is provided in the City by the Metropolitan Transit 
Authority and both in and out of state by three bus lines.  Commercial and charter air service is available at the 
Waterloo Municipal Airport. 
 
LARGER EMPLOYERS 
 
A representative list of larger employers in the City is as follows: 
 

Employer Type of Business Number of Employees 1) 
   

John Deere Product Eng. Center Manufacturer 5,000 2) 
MercyOne Medical Health Care Hospital & Clinics 2,669 2) 
University of Northern Iowa Post-secondary education 1,811 
Cedar Falls Community School District Education 1,353 3) 

Hy-Vee Food Stores Retail  1,325 2) 

The Western Home Elderly Housing/Care 1,052 
Target Distribution Retail Distributor    840  
Omega Cabinetry Ltd Manufacturer    812 2) 

Martin Brothers Distribution Frozen Foods/Institutional Products    710 
Area Education Agency 267 Education    615  
   

 

1) Number of employees includes all full-time, part-time and seasonal employees.  
2) Number of employees includes multiple locations in both Cedar Falls and Waterloo. 
3) Number of employees includes all full-time, part-time, seasonal, substitutes and coaches. 
 
  

Source:  The City.  The list is updated frequently as changes are identified and is not to be construed as a complete profile. 
 

U.S. CENSUS DATA 

Population Trend 1980 U.S. Census 36,322 
 1990 U.S. Census 34,298 
 2000 U.S. Census 36,145 
 2010 U.S. Census 39,260 
 2020 U.S. Census 40,713 

 

Source:  U.S. Census Bureau 
  

96

Item 8.



 

A-17 

BUILDING PERMITS 

City officials report the following construction activity as of June 30, 2024.  Building permits are reported on a fiscal 
year basis. 

 
 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

Single Family Homes      
No. of new homes: 94 127 82 90 89 
Valuation: $24,929,465 $39,212,602 $24,659,676 $22,738,202 $31,810,021 

Multiple Family Dwellings      
No. of new buildings: 13 0 0 1 0 
Valuation: $3,690,000 $0 $0 $2,509,166 $0 

Dwelling Additions & Alterations      
No. of permits issued: 888 984 814 953 958 
Valuation: $10,369,480 $13,372,316 $12,275,059 $16,145,127 $14,297,484 

Commercial/Industrial/Other      
No. of new buildings: 29 18 6 5 13 
Valuation: $20,895,047 $119,598,350 $35,949,227 $7,157,100 $41,810,169 

Commercial /Industrial /Other  
Additions & Alterations 

     

No. of permits issued: 101 104 110 88 119 
Valuation: $11,697,488 $13,242,304 $15,064,004 $11,790,534 $17,124,227 
      
Total Permits: 1,125 1,233 1,012 1,137 1,179 
Total Valuations: $71,581,480 $185,425,572 $87,947,966 $60,340,129 $105,041,901 

 
UNEMPLOYMENT RATES 
 

  City of  
Cedar Falls 

Black Hawk 
County 

State of 
Iowa 

     

Annual Averages: 2020 4.3% 6.1% 5.2% 
 2021 2.9% 4.2% 2.8% 
 2022  2.4% 3.0% 2.8% 
 2023 2.5% 3.2% 2.9% 
 2024 (through June) 2.5% 3.3% 2.9% 

 

Source:  U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics 
 
EDUCATION 
 
The Cedar Falls Community School District (the “District”) owns and operates seven elementary schools, two junior 
high schools, one alternative high school and one senior high school, in addition to an administration center and 
central services building, all of which are located within the City.  The District employs approximately 849 full-time 
and part-time employees (not included athletic coaches and substitute teachers) and has an October 2023 certified 
enrollment of 5,525.2. 
 
The University of Northern Iowa, located within the City, is a public, co-educational university with approximately 
1,811 full-time, part-time and seasonal employees.  Wartburg College, a private, four-year liberal arts college, is 
located in the City of Waverly, Iowa, which is 15 miles north of the City.  The Area VII Hawkeye Community 
College, a public, post-secondary vocational/technical school, is located within the City of Waterloo, Iowa which is 
adjacent to the City. 

97

Item 8.



 

A-18 

FINANCIAL SERVICES 

Financial services for residents of the City are provided by Lincoln Savings Bank and branch offices of BankIowa, 
Cedar Rapids Bank and Trust Company, Community Bank & Trust, Farmers State Bank, First Bank, First National 
Bank, First Security State Bank, MidWestOne Bank, Regions Bank, US Bank N.A., and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. as 
well as by several credit unions. 
 
Lincoln Savings Bank, one of the largest providers of financial services in the City, reports the following deposits as 
of June 30 for each year: 
 

Year Lincoln Savings Bank 
  

2019 $1,074,848,000 
2020 1,124,074,000 
2021 1,234,286,000 
2022 1,412,199,000 
2023 1,582,145,000 

 

Source:  FDIC website 
 

98

Item 8.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

FORM OF LEGAL OPINION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

99

Item 8.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

JUNE 30, 2023 ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

100

Item 8.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

101

Item 8.



 

OFFICIAL BID FORM 
 

TO: City Council of Sale Date:  October 7, 2024 
 City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 10:00 A.M., Central Time 
 

RE:  $4,520,000* General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, Series 2024 (the “Notes”) 
 

This bid is a firm offer for the purchase of the Notes identified in the TERMS OF OFFERING, on the terms set forth in this bid 
form, the TERMS OF OFFERING, and is not subject to any conditions, except as permitted by the TERMS OF OFFERING. 
 

For all or none of the above, the Notes, in accordance with the TERMS OF OFFERING, we will pay you not less than 
$_____________________________ (minimum amount of $4,474,800) plus accrued interest to date of delivery for fully 
registered Notes bearing interest rates and maturing in the stated years as follows: 
 

Coupon Maturity Yield  Coupon Maturity Yield 
       

__________ 2026 __________  __________ 2032 __________ 
__________ 2027 __________  __________ 2033 __________ 
__________ 2028 __________  __________ 2034 __________ 
__________ 2029 __________  __________ 2035 __________ 
__________ 2030 __________  __________ 2036 __________ 
__________ 2031 __________  __________ 2037 __________ 

 
* Preliminary; subject to change.  The City reserves the right to increase or decrease the aggregate principal amount of the Notes and to 

increase or reduce each scheduled maturity thereof after the determination of the successful bidder.  The City may increase or 
decrease each maturity in increments of $5,000 but the total amount to be issued will not exceed $4,750,000.  Interest rates specified 
by the successful bidder for each maturity will not change.  Final adjustments shall be in the sole discretion of the City. 

 
 The dollar amount of the purchase price proposed by the successful bidder will be changed if the aggregate principal amount of the 

Notes is adjusted as described above.  Any change in the principal amount of any maturity of the Notes will be made while 
maintaining, as closely as possible, the successful bidder’s net compensation, calculated as a percentage of Notes principal.  The 
successful bidder may not withdraw or modify its bid as a result of any post-bid adjustment.  Any adjustment shall be conclusive and 
shall be binding upon the successful bidder. 

 

We hereby designate that the following Notes to be aggregated into term Notes maturing on June 1 of the following years and in 
the following amounts (leave blank if no term Notes are specified): 

 
Years Aggregated Maturity Year Aggregate Amount 

_______ through _______ _____________ _____________ 
_______ through _______ _____________ _____________ 
_______ through _______ _____________ _____________ 

 

In making this offer we accept all of the terms and conditions of the TERMS OF OFFERING published in the Preliminary 
Official Statement dated September 16, 2024, and represent we are a bidder with established industry reputation for underwriting 
new issuances of municipal notes.  In the event of failure to deliver these Notes in accordance with the TERMS OF OFFERING 
as printed in the Preliminary Official Statement and made a part hereof, we reserve the right to withdraw our offer, whereupon 
the deposit accompanying it will be immediately returned.  All blank spaces of this offer are intentional and are not to be 
construed as an omission. 
 

Not as a part of our offer, the above quoted prices being controlling, but only as an aid for the verification of the offer, we have 
made the following computations: 
 

NET INTEREST COST:  $_________________________ 
 

TRUE INTEREST COST:  _________________________% (Calculated to the dated date of November 13, 2024) 
 

Account Manager:  ______________________________________By:  _______________________________________ 
 

Account Members:_________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

The foregoing offer is hereby accepted by and on behalf of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this 7th day of 
October 2024. 
 

Attest:  _________________________________ By:  ________________________________________ 
 

Title:  __________________________________ Title:  _______________________________________ 

102

Item 8.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M     
 

Human Resources Division 
 

TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council Members  

FROM: Bailey Schindel, Human Resources Manager 

DATE: September 9, 2024              

SUBJECT: Revision to Personnel Policies CFD 2257: Employee Wellness and CFD 
2159: Severance Pay 
 
 

Attached for your approval are revisions to personnel policies CFD 2257: Employee 
Wellness and CFD 2159: Severance Pay. The revision to the Employee Wellness 
personnel policy reflects an addition of one (1) wellness paid-time-off (PTO) day for 
eligible employees at the suggestion of the City’s wellness committee to promote 
employee wellness, wellbeing, and work-life balance. The revision to the Severance 
Pay personnel policy reflects how the one wellness PTO day would be handled upon 
leaving employment with the City similar to other employee benefits and a few minor 
formatting revisions.  

If you have questions regarding the attached, feel free to contact me at 319-268-5531. 

Attachment 

     

103

Item 9.



CFD 2257.243: Personnel Policy – Employee Wellness CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 1 of 2 

  

 

CFD 2257: Personnel Policy – Employee Wellness 
Approved March 1, 2019September 16, 2024 by the Cedar Falls City Council 

Received and Filed August 21, 2023 by the Cedar Falls City Council 

POLICY: 

It is the policy of the City of Cedar Falls to support a wellness/wellbeing program with related 

activities for full-time and year-round permanent part-time employees, reserves/volunteers, elected 

officials, and retirees enrolled in the City’s health plan. The City recognizes that effectively serving 

the community depends in part upon the wellbeing of the above individuals. 

PROCEDURES: 

1. General Guidance. 

A. The City has authorized the formation of a City wellness committee whose mission is to 

provide opportunities and programs for employees to engage in activities that promote 

wellness and wellbeing. 

1). Eligible employees who complete wellness programs and activities have the opportunity 

to earn various incentives and rewards including paid-time-off (PTO) based on the then 

current fiscal year’s wellness guidelines set by the wellness committee and approved by 

the City Administrator. 

a. Eligible employees must participate in and complete all the wellness requirements 

determined by the wellness committee within the same fiscal year to be eligible to 

earn PTO. 

b. Eligible employees hired after the fiscal year begins are eligible to participate in 

wellness programs and activities immediately upon hire., Hhowever, such employees 

will not be eligible to earn PTO until after completion of all wellness requirements 

determined by the wellness committee for the entirety of the next fiscal year after hire. 

a.c. Ffull-time employees are eligible to earn up to eight (8) hours of PTO. Full-time 

pPublic safety employees assigned to a 6-3 shift are eligible to earn up to 8.25 hours. 

Full-time pPublic safety employees assigned to a 24-hour shift are eligible to earn up 

to 24 hours.  

d. Ppermanent part-time employees who work 20 hours or more per week on a 

consistent year-round basis are eligible to earn PTO under this policy on a pro rata 

basis, based upon the number of normal hours worked in a pay period.  

e. Earned PTO under this policy will be added to eligible employees’ accrual balance at 

the start of the fiscal year on July 1st. Eligible employees must take the earned PTO 

on or after the date the fiscal year begins through the last day of the same fiscal year. 

Unused PTO will be forfeited without exception.  

104

Item 9.



CFD 2257.243: Personnel Policy – Employee Wellness CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 2 of 2 

  

 

B. Certain individuals may be offered reduced rates on annual membership fees to the Cedar 

Falls Recreation Center and passes to other City-sponsored fitness activities. Such reduced 

rates must be approved on an annual basis. These individuals are as follows: 

1). Full-time employees (individual and family). 

2). Elected officials (individual and family). 

3). Police Reserves who have served the City for at least one year with no break in service 

and who meet departmental work requirements (individual and family). 

4). Permanent Ppart-time employees who work 20 hours or more per week year-round 

(individual and family). 

5). Retirees enrolled in the City’s health plan in good standing (individual only unless family 

members are also enrolled in the retiree’s health plan in which case family is also eligible). 

C. Reduced rates on influenza immunizations and health screenings may be offered from time 

to time to these eligible individuals. 

ADOPTED / AMENDED: 3/1/19, 9/16/24 

105

Item 9.



CFD 2159.243: Personnel Policy – Severance Pay CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 1 of 3 

  

 

CFD 2159: Personnel Policy – Severance Pay 
Approved September 16, 2024March 7, 2022 by the Cedar Falls City Council 

Received and Filed August 21, 2023 by the Cedar Falls City Council 

POLICY: 

It is the Policy of the City of Cedar Falls to provide severance pay to qualifying terminating employees 

in accordance with the below guidelines. 

PROCEDURES: 

1. General Guidance. 

A. Employees hired on or before July 1, 1983, have the sick leave severance program they 

elected in writing and filed with the Financial Services Division. Non-union employees hired 

on or before July 1, 1983, have the option to elect the formula set forth in Comment #2 by 

filing a written election with the Financial Services Division no later than June 30, 2004. 

B. Full-time employees hired after July 1, 1983, and before July 1, 1989, will be paid for unused 

sick leave remaining as of their termination date using the following formula: 

1). 0 – 720 hours remaining: No severance pay 

2). More than 720 hours but equal to or less than 1440 hours remaining: 100% payment for 

the hours remaining over 720 hours up to a maximum of 1440 hours 

3). More than 1440 hours remaining: 50% payment for the remaining hours 

4). Example: 400 hours remaining equals No severance pay 

5). Example: 1200 hours remaining equals 480 hours of severance pay: (1200 - 720 = 480 

x 100% = 480) 

6). Example: 2000 hours remaining equals 1000 hours of severance pay: (50% x 2000 = 

1000) 

C. A “day” of unused sick leave for 8-hour work dayworkday employees is equal to 8 hours for 

purposes of this policy. 

D. A “day” of unused sick leave for less than 8-hour work dayworkday employees is equal to the 

hours normally worked for purposes of this policy. 

E. A “day” of unused sick leave for more than 8 hour8-hour work day employees is equal to 8 

hours for purposes of this policy. This would include eligible 24 hour24-hour shift employees. 

F. Employees hired after July 1, 1989 are not eligible for any sick leave severance benefits to 

be paid to them in cash. However, effective July 1, 2004, employees hired after July 1, 1989 

who are non-union, and who have given timely written notice of resignation or retirement in 

accordance with CFD 2113: Termination of Employment and CFD 2114: Retirement, shall 

106

Item 9.



CFD 2159.243: Personnel Policy – Severance Pay CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 2 of 3 

  

 

be eligible to use any sick leave accruals remaining after application of the formula set forth 

in Paragraph B for future medical insurance premiums for the employee and, if eligible, the 

employee’s spouse and/or children. For purposes of this policy the term “medical insurance” 

shall include group health and prescription coverage, but not dental, vision, or any other 

coverage. Also for purposes of this policy, initial and continued eligibility for payment of future 

medical insurance premiums for the employee’s spouse and children is determined in the 

same way as eligibility for coverage is determined according to the terms of the City’s group 

medical insurance policy in effect at the time eligibility is being determined. Any payments 

for medical insurance premiums shall be made in accordance with any IRS publications and 

regulations in effect at the time of the employee’s severance. Any payments or 

reimbursements shall be made in accordance with the Finance Policies of the Financial 

Services Division.  

1). Employees shall be required to show reasonable proof of medical insurance as required 

by the Financial Services Division in order to be reimbursed. 

F.G. Part-time employees shall be eligible for sick leave severance calculated in 

accordance with the formula set forth in Paragraph B above, but such eligible part-time 

employees shall be paid for remaining sick leave in a lump sum cash payment, and not 

payment for medical insurance premiums. 

G.H. Any sick leave casual day that was earned within one year of termination shall be 

forfeited upon termination. Employees are not eligible for any sick leave casual day benefits 

effective July 1, 2004.  

H.I. Employees who have completed the probationary period shall receive their accrued vacation 

time benefits on the basis of the number of days accrued on a pro-rata basis of time worked 

during the fiscal year. However, new employees will not receive accrued vacation benefits if 

they leave City employment prior to their one-year anniversary (see also CFD 2256: 

Vacations). 

J. Employees who have completed the probationary period shall receive any accrued floating 

holiday pay on the basis of the number of days accrued on a pro-rata basis of time worked 

during the fiscal year. 

I.K. Employees who have earned wellness paid-time-off (PTO) in accordance with CFD 2257: 

Employee Wellness, shall be paid for any unused wellness PTO balance. 

J.L. Non-exempt employees shall receive compensation for any unused, accrued compensatory 

time. 

K.M. Any benefit time off which is used in excess of that which is earned or accrued at 

the time of termination shall be paid back to the City by deduction from the final paycheck or 

will be billed to the terminating employee and shall be paid back to the City no later than 10 

days from receipt of final paycheck. 

L.N. All severance benefits of an eligible employee or former employee that have been 

earned but not used at the time of the employee or former employee’s death shall be paid to 

107

Item 9.



CFD 2159.243: Personnel Policy – Severance Pay CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA | Page 3 of 3 

  

 

the employee's estate. 

M.O. Employees may elect to split their severance payment between two tax years or 

have it held in escrow for payment of benefits as allowed by Federal law and in accordance 

with any plans which may be implemented by the City. 

N.P. Benefit plan termination options will be discussed with the Financial Services 

Division during the employee’s pre-departure meeting. 

O.Q. Employees may receive a severance estimate once per calendar year upon 

request to the Financial Services Division. 

P.R. Employees whose status changes from part-time to full-time shall be credited with 

the sick days earned while part-time. Employees whose status changes from full-time to part-

time shall be paid in a lump sum under the formula in Paragraph B above if eligible, and such 

payment shall include sick days earned while working full-time. Employees whose status 

changes from union member to non-union member shall be credited with sick days earned 

while a union member. 

Q. Employees shall be required to show reasonable proof of medical insurance as required by 

the Financial Services Division in order to be reimbursed. 

ADOPTED / AMENDED: 3/22/04, 6/1/15, 7/18/16, 3/1/19, 1/6/20, 3/7/22, 9/16/24 

108

Item 9.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: September 11, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Warranty Deed 4109 West 1st Street, Cedar Falls 
 
 

Please find attached a Warranty Deed and attendant documents executed by Mary Fogarty, the owner of 

the property located at 4109 W. 1st Street in Cedar Falls.  This is the property located at the northwest 

corner of the intersection of W. 1st Street and Union Road.  This intersection will be improved by IDOT in 

the coming years and a portion of this property will be needed for this project.  Council approved the 

purchase agreement for this property on August 5, 2024. 

 

Staff recommends that the Deed and attendant documents be approved and accepted by Council.    

 

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.   

 

Thank you.  

109

Item 10.



110

Item 10.



111

Item 10.



112

Item 10.



113

Item 10.



114

Item 10.



115

Item 10.



116

Item 10.



117

Item 10.



118

Item 10.



119

Item 10.



120

Item 10.



121

Item 10.



122

Item 10.



123

Item 10.



124

Item 10.



125

Item 10.



 

 
RESOLUTION NO.  

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A WARRANTY DEED FOR PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 4109 WEST 1ST STREET RELATIVE TO SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS AT 

THE HIGHWAY 57 & UNION ROAD INTERSECTION 
 
 

WHEREAS, City Staff has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, that a Warranty Deed from Mary Ramsey Fogarty, for property located at 4109 

West 1st Street relative to safety improvements at the Highway 57 & Union Road 

intersection, be approved and accepted, and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 

interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve and accept said Warranty Deed. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, that said Warranty Deed, copies of which are hereto attached, conveying real estate 

to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby approved and accepted. 

 
ADOPTED this 16th day of September, 2024. 
 

                                                  
________________________________ 

                                                                                              Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

126

Item 10.



RESOLUTION NO. ________________ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING A COMMITMENT OF LOCAL MATCH FUNDS                           

TO THE CEDAR FALLS LOCAL HOUSING TRUST FUND 

       WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has resolved to support the 

creation of the Cedar Falls Local Housing Trust Fund (“CFLHTF”) via Resolution No. 23,569 

dated April 15, 2024; and 

       WHEREAS, one of the requirements of Iowa Finance Authority’s State Housing Trust Fund 

funding being provided to the CFLHTF is local match funding; and 

       WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls has provided the sum of $2,620.00 to date to the 

CFLHTF as a local match to aid in the drafting of legal documents to create the CFLHTF via 

Resolution No. 23,508 dated March 4, 2024; and 

       WHEREAS, additional local match funding is needed by CFLHTF to meet the local match 

requirement of twenty-five (25) percent to capture the full amount of potential state funds and 

support CFLHTF’s application to the State Housing Trust Fund; and 

       WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar falls, Iowa, deems it in the best interest of 

the City of Cedar Falls to provide additional local match funding to CFLHTF under the terms and 

conditions set forth herein. 

       NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as 

follows: 

       1.  Up to $15,607.00 is authorized and approved to be provided to CFLHTF, designated as 

local match funds, in support of CFLHTF’s application to the Iowa Finance Authority for State 

Housing Trust Fund funding. 

       2.  Said funding shall be provided to CFLHTF within fifteen (15) days of written request 

therefore by CFLHTF. 

       3.  Consistent with City of Cedar Falls policy, and in particular the City’s Finance Policy 

Manual, CFD 3100, as a condition of such funding CFLHTF agrees to enter into an agreement 

for public services upon such terms and conditions as the City may require, contemporaneously 

with CFLHTF’s request for such funding.  The terms and conditions of such agreement shall not 

be in conflict with the provisions of the State Housing Trust Fund program.    

       ADOPTED this 16th day of September, 2024. 

                                                                                     
                    
                                                                                         Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
Attest:   
 
       
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

127

Item 11.



128

Item 12.



129

Item 12.



    ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: September 6, 2024 

SUBJECT:      Assignment and Assumption Agreement: DS Warehouse, LLC 
    
 

On December 16, 2014 the City and DS Warehouse, LLC entered into an Agreement 
for Private Development pertaining to the construction of a new 40,000 square foot 
industrial building located at 6813 Technology Place in the West Viking Road Industrial 
Park. This agreement was approved under the standard terms and conditions for 
projects that are located within the industrial park. Part of the standard terms and 
conditions of the Agreement prohibits the sale of property and assignment of the 
Agreement without the written approval of the City of Cedar Falls. This language is 
included to allow the City to review these proposed ownership transfers and ensure 
compliance with the terms of the Agreement. 
 
The City recently received a request from DS Warehouse, LLC to transfer the 
ownership of the property to Reel Deal Holdings, LLC. DS Warehouse, LLC has 
submitted the Assignment and Assumption Agreement to the City for approval, which 
will allow for the sale of the property by DS Warehouse, LLC to Reel Deal Holdings, 
LLC. 
 
The attached Assignment and Assumption Agreement has been reviewed and 
approved by all parties. The obligations pertaining to building and development have 
already been met (building was built in 2015), and the new ownership company (Reel 
Deal Holdings, LLC) will assume any and all ongoing obligations applicable within the 
Agreement for Private Development. 
 
Staff recommends that City Council approve and adopt the following: 
 

1. Resolution approving assignment of Agreement for Private Development and 
conveyance of development property by DS Warehouse, LLC to Reel Deal 
Holdings, LLC. 

 

If you have any questions pertaining to this project, please let me know. 
 
xc:  Ron Gaines, PE, City Administrator 

130

Item 13.



131

Item 13.



132

Item 13.



133

Item 13.



134

Item 13.



135

Item 13.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by:  Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ___________ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING ASSIGNMENT OF AGREEMENT FOR 

PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT AND CONVEYANCE OF DEVELOPMENT 

PROPERTY BY DS WAREHOUSE, LLC, TO REEL DEAL HOLDINGS, LLC, 

PURSUANT TO THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE 

DEVELOPMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

AND DS WAREHOUSE, LLC 

 

 WHEREAS, DS Warehouse, LLC and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, entered into that 

certain Agreement for Private Development dated December 16, 2014, regarding the development 

of the following described real estate, to-wit: 

 

Lot 1 in West Viking Road Industrial Park Phase III Addition, and Lot 20 in West Viking 

Road Industrial Park Phase IV Addition, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 

(the “Development Property”); and 

 

WHEREAS, DS Warehouse, LLC proposes to assign the Agreement for Private 

Development and transfer and convey the Development Property to Reel Deal Holdings, LLC, an 

Iowa limited liability company; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Agreement for Private Development requires the approval and consent of 

the City of Cedar Falls to such assignment and transfer; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls has been presented with a proposed 

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, pursuant to which DS Warehouse, LLC proposes to 

assign the Agreement for Private Development and transfer the Development Property to Reel 

Deal Holdings, LLC, and Reel Deal Holdings, LLC, agrees to assume the obligations of DS 

Warehouse, LLC under the Agreement for Private Development, and agrees to perform all duties 

and obligations thereunder; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best 

interests of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to consent to the assignment of the Agreement for Private 

Development and to approve the transfer of the Development Property from DS Warehouse, LLC, 

136

Item 13.



 

to Reel Deal Holdings, LLC, on the terms and conditions stated in the proposed Assignment and 

Assumption Agreement. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

 

1. That the assignment of the Agreement for Private Development by DS Warehouse, 

LLC to Reel Deal Holdings, LLC, be and the same is hereby in all respects authorized, approved 

and confirmed. 

 

2. That the transfer and conveyance of the Development Property by DS Warehouse, 

LLC to Reel Deal Holdings, LLC, be and the same is hereby authorized, approved and confirmed. 

 

3. That the form and content of the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, the 

provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same are hereby in all respects 

authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby 

authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Assignment and 

Assumption Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now 

before this meeting, but with such changes, modifications, additions or deletions therein as shall 

be approved by such officers, and that the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, 

empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may 

be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Assignment and Assumption 

Agreement as executed.   

 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this ________ day of _________________________, 2024. 

 

 

 

      _______________________________________ 

(SEAL)     Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

137

Item 13.



138

Item 14.



139

Item 14.



140

Item 14.



141

Item 14.



142

Item 14.



143

Item 14.



144

Item 14.



145

Item 14.



146

Item 14.



147

Item 14.



148

Item 14.



149

Item 14.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 

 M E M O R A N D U M 

  

  

 

   

 
 
 
 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 
 FROM: Jennifer Pickar, Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager 

 DATE: September 6, 2024 

SUBJECT:  Intent to Apply for an Iowa Tourism Grant 

 

The Iowa Tourism Grant (ITG) Program promotes tourism in Iowa by funding tourism-related 
marketing initiatives, meetings and events that benefit both local economies and the state's 
economy. ITG awards range from $2,500 to $10,000 and require a 25 percent cash match.   
 
Cedar Falls Tourism plans to apply at the $10,000 level for promotion of the new Gateway 
Water Trail. Funds will be used for professional video and photography, printed materials, and 
advertising campaigns. 
 
Cedar Falls Tourism also plans to collaborate on a separate grant request with several other 
Iowa communities, including Charles City, for additional white water and river recreation joint 
promotions and materials. Cedar Falls Tourism would only be responsible for our portion of the 
25 percent cash match. 
 
The application is due September 30, 2024. If awarded, funds may be used January 1 – 
December 31, 2025. The matching funds are accounted for in the Tourism budget. 
 
If you have any questions about our applications, please feel free to contact me. 
 
CC: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 

150

Item 15.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Chris Sevy, AICP, Planner II 

  Brett Armstrong, EI, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: September 16, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Encroachment Agreement for Greenhill Village Subdivision Sign 
 
Recent construction of Ashworth Drive, 
including alignment of the intersection at 
Hudson Road necessitated the removal of 
a marker in the center island of Ashworth 
Drive on the east side of Hudson Road 
which identified the Greenhill Village 
Subdivision (circled in yellow on the right). 
Since the City removed the sign, Staff has 
negotiated with the Greenhill Village 
Neighborhood Association an arrangement 
for them to reconstruct the sign in a 
different spot. Attached is a proposed 
encroachment agreement and a site plan showing where the new sign is to be placed. 
 
To formalize and ensure the approval and proper maintenance of the sign in the public 
right of way, staff recommends entering into a general encroachment agreement 
between the City and the Greenhill Village Neighborhood Association. The purpose of 
Council’s consideration of the matter is to authorize both the agreement and the 
placement of the sign in the City’s right of way. The proposed encroachment agreement 
is modeled after other encroachment agreements entered into by the City and has been 
reviewed by City Attorney Kevin Rogers. Note that this agreement outlines an 
arrangement for reimbursement of costs of up to $36,550.00 which is the cost to 
construct an exact replica of the previous sign based on a bid from a sign contractor. 
 
Attachment: Encroachment Agreement 

 
xc: Karen Howard, Planning and Community Services Manager 
 Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 

151

Item 17.



 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Chris Sevy, Planner II, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, Phone: (319) 273-8600 

 

ENCROACHMENT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT 

GREENHILL VILLAGE NEIGHBORHOOD ENTRY MONUMENT 

 

THIS ENCROACHMENT AND REIMBURSEMENT AGREEMENT is entered into by and between 

Greenhill Village Neighborhood Association, an Iowa nonprofit Corporation, hereinafter “Applicant”, 

and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter the “City”, on this _____ day of ____________________, 

2024. 

 

WHEREAS, Applicant is the Greenhill Village Neighborhood Association, whose role is to be an entity 

for ownership and maintenance of detention ponds, green spaces and common areas and assets within the 

Greenhill Village Subdivision in Cedar Falls, Iowa; and 

 

WHEREAS, an existing Subdivision entry monument that identifies the Greenhill Village Neighborhood 

sits in the center island of the Ashworth Street public right-of-way, which intersection with Hudson Road 

has been reconstructed necessitating removal of the monument; and 

 

WHEREAS, the cost of removal and replacement of the existing Subdivision entry monument is the 

responsibility of the City under Iowa law; and  

 

WHEREAS, Applicant proposes to install and maintain a new Subdivision monument that identifies the 

Greenhill Village Neighborhood, (hereinafter the “Encroachment”), that will encroach into the public 

right-of-way of Hudson Road, (hereinafter the “Public Right-of-Way”); and 

 

WHEREAS, a site plan describing the location of the Encroachment in relation to the Public Right-of-

Way is attached hereto, marked Exhibit “A”, and by this reference incorporated herein, (hereinafter the 

“Site Plan”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the City deems it mutually beneficial to the Applicant and to the City for a marker to be 

placed that identifies the Greenhill Village Neighborhood; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City is willing to allow the Encroachment to encroach and extend into the City’s Public 

Right-of-Way as herein described, subject, however, to the terms and conditions set forth in this 

Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the parties have reached agreement on the reasonable cost of removal of the existing 

Subdivision entry monument and installation of the Encroachment; and  

 

152

Item 17.



2 

 

WHEREAS, the City and the Applicant have reached agreement on these matters, and desire to reduce 

their agreement to writing. 

 

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY MUTUALLY AGREED by and between the City and the Applicant, as 

follows: 

 

1. Acknowledgment of City Ownership of Public Right-of-Way. Applicant hereby acknowledges, 

recognizes and affirms the existence and public ownership of the Public Right-of-Way, and 

claims no rights or interests therein, except to the limited extent expressly provided for in this 

Agreement. 

2. Grant of Encroachment. The City hereby grants Applicant a non-exclusive, limited license and 

right to construct, install and maintain the Encroachment within the Public Right-of-Way, subject 

to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and further subject to the rights of the City, of the 

Cedar Falls Utilities, and of any other public or private corporation to which the City has granted 

a utility license or right-of-way license or permit, for access over, under, or upon the Public 

Right-of-Way, and expressly subject to the condition that any damage that occurs to the 

Encroachment during the term of this Agreement shall be at the sole risk and expense of 

Applicant, including any expenses relating to removal or replacement of the Encroachment, as 

provided herein, regardless of cause. 

3. Construction and Installation of Encroachment.  Applicant agrees that designing, acquiring, 

constructing and installing the Encroachment shall be the responsibility of the Applicant.  

However, the Applicant and the City agree that the reasonable cost of such activities is $36, 

550.00, which amount shall be reimbursed by the City to the Applicant as set forth in Paragraph 4 

below.  Final design of the Encroachment shall be subject to City approval prior to installation.  

Installation of the Encroachment shall be as provided for in the Site Plan (Exhibit A). Applicant 

shall obtain at its cost all necessary licenses and permits required by the City for installation of 

the Encroachment and Encroachment construction and installation shall be subject to City 

inspection and approval.  The timing of such installation shall be coordinated with the City so as 

not to hinder or interfere with City operations, and shall be completed within 24 months from the 

effective date of this Agreement.  Any damage to the Public Right-of-Way caused by the 

installation or removal of the Encroachment shall be immediately repaired by Applicant. 

4. Reimbursement by City.  At the completion of installation of the Encroachment and approval of 

such installation by the City, Applicant shall provide in writing to the City invoices(s) setting 

forth the cost of design, acquisition, construction and installation of the Encroachment.  Within 

45 days of receipt of such invoice(s), the City shall reimburse Applicant for such costs, up to a 

maximum of $36,550.00 to be paid in a lump sum.  Should the City dispute any item(s) 

comprising such costs, the parties agree to cooperate to reasonably resolve such dispute within 30 

days of receipt of such invoice(s), including by way of non-binding mediation.  Any such dispute 

shall not relieve the City of its obligation to reimburse the Applicant for all undisputed costs.  If 

such costs exceed the amount of $36,550.00, the City’s obligation to reimburse the Applicant 

shall be a maximum of $36,550.00.         

5. Maintenance and Repair of Encroachment.  Applicant agrees to maintain the Encroachment in a 

reasonably safe, sound and attractive condition and to promptly repair any damage to the 

Encroachment that occurs by any cause, all at Applicant’s sole cost and expense.  If such damage 

is not repairable to a condition satisfactory to the City in the City’s sole discretion, then the 

Encroachment shall be removed from the Public Right-of-Way at Applicant’s cost.           

153

Item 17.



3 

 

6. Relocation at Request of City or Cedar Falls Utilities. In the event that either the City, or Cedar 

Falls Utilities, undertakes any construction, reconstruction, repair, replacement, relocation or 

other modifications to City or Cedar Falls Utilities public infrastructure facilities within the 

Public Right-of-Way, and such work cannot reasonably be accomplished without the removal of 

part or all, as the case may be, of the Encroachment, then, upon reasonable notice from City or 

Cedar Falls Utilities to Applicant, Applicant shall remove such part or all of the Encroachment 

from the Public Right-of-Way as determined necessary by the City in its sole discretion. All such 

costs of removal of the Encroachment shall be at Applicant’s sole cost and expense. In the event 

Applicant fails to act within a reasonable time after such notice to remove the Encroachment, the 

City or Cedar Falls Utilities may cause such Encroachment to be removed, and the cost thereof 

shall be paid by Applicant within thirty (30) days of the mailing to Applicant of an invoice for 

such costs. Applicant hereby authorizes the City to charge to Applicant all costs of removal of the 

Encroachment incurred by the City or by Cedar Falls Utilities under such circumstances. 

7. Removal at Request of Other Utility Provider. If a utility provider other than the City or Cedar 

Falls Utilities obtains a license or permit from the City for installation or relocation of its utility 

facilities within the Public Right-of-Way that reasonably requires the removal of part or all, as the 

case may be, of the Encroachment, the provisions of paragraph 5 above shall then apply. 

8. Removal of Encroachment at Request of City. Applicant also acknowledges and agrees that the 

City may, upon ninety (90) days’ advance written notice, terminate this Agreement and require 

Applicant to permanently remove the Encroachment from the Public Right-of-Way, if the City 

determines the removal of the Encroachment is necessary or appropriate for any reason. In that 

event, all costs of removal of the Encroachment shall be at Applicant’s sole cost and expense. In 

the event Applicant fails to act within said ninety (90) day period to remove the Encroachment, 

the City may cause such Encroachment to be removed, and the cost thereof shall be paid by 

Applicant within thirty (30) days of the City’s mailing of an invoice for such costs to Applicant. 

Applicant hereby authorizes the City to charge to Applicant all costs of removal of the 

Encroachment incurred by the City under such circumstances. 

9. Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall be perpetual, unless terminated pursuant to 

the provisions of this Agreement. 

10. Termination of Agreement. This Agreement shall terminate upon the occurrence of any one of the 

following events: 

a. Installation of the Encroachment is not completed within 24 months of the effective date 

of this Agreement, unavoidable delays excepted; or 

b. The Encroachment is no longer maintained by Applicant or no longer continues to exist; 

or 

c. Applicant is required to remove the Encroachment as provided in paragraph 6 or in 

paragraph 7 of this Agreement. 

d. The City calls for removal of the Encroachment as provided in paragraph 8 of this 

agreement. 

Upon the happening of any one or more of the foregoing events, Applicant shall promptly remove 

the Encroachment and all related infrastructure from the Public Right-of-Way at Applicant’s sole 

cost, and this Agreement shall thereupon automatically terminate. 

154

Item 17.



4 

 

11. Effect of Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the City, 

Cedar Falls Utilities, and any other utility provider to which the City has granted a license or 

permit for installation of its utility facilities within the Public Right-of-Way. The provisions of 

this Agreement shall be binding upon Applicant, and Applicant’s grantees, transferees, successors 

and assigns.  

12. No Restriction on City Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall restrict the right of the City to 

engage in any work anywhere within the public right-of-way of the City, whether occupied by 

Applicant’s Encroachment or otherwise. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the City 

and Cedar Falls Utilities reserve the right to install any public infrastructure that may be deemed 

necessary or proper by the City or Cedar Falls Utilities anywhere within the public right-of-way, 

whether occupied by the Encroachment or not. The City may also permit other utility providers or 

public or private corporations to install facilities within the public right-of-way of the City, and 

the City shall not be liable to Applicant for any damages to the Encroachment arising out of any 

work by such other entities.  

13. Powers of City. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, nothing in this Agreement shall 

be construed to limit any right or power of the City in any manner whatsoever, whether relating to 

the City’s public right-of-way or any other rights and powers of the City. 

14. Release of Liability and Indemnification. Applicant shall protect, indemnify, defend, and hold the 

City and its officers, agents and officials, and Cedar Falls Utilities, and any utility provider or 

other public or private corporation to which the City has granted a license or permit to install 

utility facilities in the public right-of-way, harmless from any claim or liability, and against all 

damages or expenses on the part of any person or entity arising directly or indirectly out of the 

use, presence, location, design, construction, maintenance or removal of the Encroachment, 

including all expenses and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of litigation. Applicant agrees to 

accept the risk of having the Encroachment located in the Public Right-of-Way, including the 

possible risk of damage or injury to the Encroachment, and agrees to release and discharge the 

City, Cedar Falls Utilities, and any other public or private entity which has been granted a license 

to install utility services in the Public Right-of-Way, for damage or injury to the Encroachment. 

15. Delivery of Notices. Any notices hereunder shall be in writing and shall be delivered via certified 

mail and addressed as follows, unless indicated otherwise in the future: 

If to the City: City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 ATTN: City Clerk 

 220 Clay Street 

 Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 

If to Neighborhood Association:  Greenhill Village Neighborhood Association 

  1517 Athens Ct 

  Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 

16. Governing Law; Legal Action. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Iowa. In any legal proceedings to enforce this Agreement, the parties 

agree and consent to submit to the jurisdiction and venue of the Iowa District Court for Black 

Hawk County.  

17. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with any exhibits referenced herein, together 

constitute the entire Agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof. This 

155

Item 17.



5 

 

Agreement may not be modified or amended except by a written instrument signed by both 

parties. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first set forth above. 

 

 

GREENHILL VILLAGE NEIGHBORHOOD CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

ASSOCIATION 

 

By: __________________________________ By: ______________________________ 

Tim Hanson Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

President, Greenhill Village Neighborhood Association 

 ATTEST: 

 

 _______________________________ 

 Kim Kerr, City Clerk 

 

 

 

  

156

Item 17.



6 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

 

This record was acknowledged before me on this _____ day of __________________________, 20___, 

by Tim Hanson, President of the Greenhill Village Neighborhood Association, as Applicant. 

 

 

 __________________________________ 

 Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

 

This record was acknowledged before me on this _____ day of __________________________, 20___, 

by Daniel Laudick, as Mayor, and Kim Kerr, as City Clerk, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

 __________________________________ 

 Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

  

157

Item 17.



7 

 

Exhibit “A” 

Site Plan 

 

 

 

158

Item 17.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

 

   

   

 

 

 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Thom Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 
  Ben Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD., PE.    

 DATE: September 16, 2024 

 SUBJECT: HWY-1 District Site Plan for Golden China  
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

HWY-1 District Site plan approval for construction of a new restaurant,  
Golden China, on Lot 4 of Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South, Phase V 
(Case # SP24-004) 

PETITIONER: 
 

Dan Levi, Levi Architecture; Darren Fang, LLC, Owner; Monica Smith, 
Robinson Engineering Company  

LOCATION: 
 

1150  Brandilynn Boulevard and east of Prairie Parkway.  

 

 
Note: Planning and Zoning Commission deferred this request to their August 28, 
2024, to allow the petitioner to address some concerns with the Brandilynn 
Boulevard façade elevations and pedestrian access from Brandilynn Boulevard to 
the main entrance. The resolutions are shown in blue. 
 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to construct 
3,461 square foot restaurant, Golden 
China, at 1150 Brandilynn Boulevard. 
The site is east of Veridian Credit 
Union, which is located at the 
southeast corner of the intersection of 
Brandilynn Boulevard and Prairie 
Parkway (see location map at right). 
The site is Lot 4 of Pinnacle Prairie 
Commercial South – Phase V. The 
proposal includes sitework, 
landscaping, private access way, 
parking, a drive-up pickup window (no 
menu board), signage, and a new 
restaurant building. The proposed 

159

Item 18.



layout of the building sits on about 0.78 acres of land that fronts on Brandilynn 
Boulevard.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The parcel is located in the 
HWY-1, Highway 
Commercial Zoning District. 
The proposal is for a 
restaurant to be located on 
Lot 4 of Pinnacle Prairie 
Commercial South-Phase V 
approved in 2021. The 
development will have 
access from the shared 
private drive established with 
that subdivision. A site plan 
for the Boulder Tap House 
was recently approved on 
the lots to the south, as 
shown below.  
 
ANALYSIS 
The HWY-1 District is intended to promote and facilitate comprehensively planned 
commercial developments located adjacent to major transportation corridors and 
interchanges. The HWY-1 regulations are to encourage high standards of building 
architecture, and site planning that will foster commercial development to maximize 
pedestrian convenience, comfort, and pleasure. The ordinance requires a detailed site 
plan review before approval to ensure that the development site satisfies the specific 
standards of this zoning district. Attention to details such as parking, open green space, 
landscaping, signage, building design and orientation, and other similar factors help to 
ensure orderly development in the entire area.  
 
Following is a review of the zoning ordinance requirements for the proposed 
development: 
 

1) Use: The proposed use, a restaurant, is permitted in the HWY-1 District. This use 
is allowed. 
 

2) Building Location and Vehicular Access: The parcel has street frontage on 
Brandilynn Boulevard and access to the site is via shared private drives 
established with the subdivision connecting to Prairie Parkway on the west and 
Brandilynn Boulevard to the north. The building is situated roughly equidistant 
between Brandilynn Boulevard and the private access drive on the south side of 
the property. There will be two access points on the east side of the property from 
the private drive. The main façade of the building is oriented to the south toward 
the private access drive and the main building entrance is located on the west end 

160

Item 18.



of the building near an order pick-up drive. There will be no drive-thru menu 
board, only an order pick-up window.   
 

There are two rows of parking located north and south of the building.  
 
The building and parking lot setbacks and vehicular access satisfies the 
requirements.   

 
3.  Building Orientation and Pedestrian Access The property is located in the 

Pinnacle Prairie master planned area, so the Pinnacle Prairie Design Guidelines 
apply.  These guidelines note that buildings in commercial areas are to be sited 
with the primary building elevation oriented to the street. It is also the intent of the 
HWY-1 Commercial district to “promote a high standard of building architecture 
and site planning that maximizes pedestrian convenience, comfort, and pleasure.” 
 
This property only has one street frontage, Brandilynn Boulevard. However, the 
site is designed so the back side of the building is oriented toward the public 
street. As shown below, the façade facing Brandilynn is clearly the service side of 
the building meant for access for employees only and is the location of the refuse 
enclosure. There is no customer entrance on this side, nor is a customer entrance 
visible from the public street. This side of the building is largely a blank façade 
with no design elements typical of a front façade, such as storefront windows and 
customer entrance features.  

 
Compared to adjacent buildings, Veridian Credit Union and Unity Point Clinic 
Express have windows facing the adjacent streets and the Boulder Tap House 
has storefront windows on the Viking Road facade.  
 

 
 
The proposed orientation of the building poses a particular challenge for 
pedestrian and bicycle access to the site. The sidewalk connection from 
Brandilynn Boulevard to the entrance of the building, leads the public to a blank 
wall on the rear of the building. The pedestrians are then required to walk along 
the rear of the building to the east side, turn and go south along the building’s 
eastside to the sidewalk on the south side the building, and turn west and walk to 
the opposite end of the building to the public entrance on the southwest corner of 

161

Item 18.



the building. There are no sidewalks along the private shared drive, so there is no 
direct or visible pedestrian access to the restaurant.  
  
If the building was rotated 180 
degrees, the main entrance would 
face Brandilynn Boulevard, and the 
public entrance would be located to 
address both Brandilynn Boulevard 
and the north-south access drive.  
The sidewalk connection could be 
location parallel to the access drive 
and create a more inviting public 
entrance to the building by 
providing a direct connection from 
the sidewalk along Brandilynn 
Boulevard to the main entrance.  
This change would not only make 
pedestrian access to the building 
more direct and easier it would 
provide a more welcoming and 
appealing appearance to 
pedestrians and the motoring public.  

 
The orientation of the building with the back side of the building facing the public 
street does not meet the intent of the HWY-1 District. The orientation presents the 
less attractive aspects of the building and site within public view, including a blank 
façade, service entrance, and dumpster area. The pedestrian connection from the 
public sidewalk along Brandilynn leads to a service entrance rather than to the 
public entrance to the restaurant. In addition, the orientation of the building does 
not meet the Pinnacle Prairie Design Guidelines which require the primary façade 
of buildings to be oriented toward the street.  
 
Due to topographical constraints, the applicant could not provide a more 
direct route to the entrance from Brandilynn Boulevard and meet the ADA 
requirements. While not ideal, staff finds that due to the topographical 
constraints, this route is acceptable. 
 
The applicant has added two pairs of windows with spandrel glass and a 
canopy to the Brandilynn façade matching the placement of the windows 
and canopies on the south and east sides of the building. The downspout 
color has changed to the board and batten siding color to blend in with the 
façade. The refuse area has been relocated to the parking area on the south 
side of the building and the screen has been removed from the location in 
front of the east door. The changes to the façade and the relocation of the 
refuse area improved the visual appearance of the building and provides a 
more inviting appearance from the street. 

162

Item 18.



 

 
Revised North Elevation 
 

4) Parking: The parking requirement for a standard eat-in restaurant is one space for 
every 150 square feet of gross floor area plus one space for every two employees 
with 5 as a minimum number for employees. The plan shows 28 parking spaces 
meeting the commercial space requirement with two marked as accessible. The 
gross floor area of the building is 3,115 square feet, which would require 21 
spaces and maximum number of employees per shift will 8, leaving 2 additional 
spaces beyond the minimum requirement.  

 
The relocation of the refuse area has eliminated 1 parking space while still 
leaving the site with one space above the minimum requirement. 

 
The parking requirement has been met.  

 

5) Open Space Requirements: The HWY-1 District requires that open 
space/landscaping requirements be provided at the rate of 10% of the total 
development site area excluding the perimeter setback area. Following is a 
summary of the landscape plan that details how this provision is met.   
 
 
 

Lot Area 
Minus 25 ft. Easement and 20 ft. 
Perimeter setback 

34,036 SF 
 
15,542 SF 

 

Development Site Area  
Required Open/Green Space 

18,494 SF   
  1,849 SF 

 
10% 

Provided Open/Green Space   3,418 SF 18.4% 
 
Landscaping is shown throughout the site, both around the building as well as 
within the parking lot, and along the streets within required setbacks.  
The open green space exceeds the minimum requirement and is well 
distributed. 

 

163

Item 18.



6) Landscaping: The HWY-1 District requires minimum landscaping at the rate of 
0.02 points per square foot of the total development site area. This can be 
achieved through planting a combination of trees and shrubbery. A minimum of 
0.75 points per linear foot of street frontage shall be planted with street trees. In 
addition, parking lot landscaping requirements must be met, including peripheral 
landscape screening and parking lot trees according to City Code Section 26-
220(i).  
 
The total required site landscaping points are 681 points for the site and 320 
points for street trees. The site plan shows the points for the street trees has been 
met and the total points for the site as 694 points; however, the landscape plan 
incorrectly identified the points for a 3” caliper Common Hackberry as 40 points 
and all 2 gallon size shrubs as 2 points. A 3” caliper Hackberry is worth 90 points, 
and 2 gallon shrubs are worth 5 points thus the total points landscape points equal 
920 points and so the site exceeds the requirement by 239 points. Planting point 
details can be seen in the attached landscaping plan for review. 
 
Peripheral landscaping requirements for parking lots include placement of 
continuous landscaped strip not less than 5 feet in width and at least three feet in 
height, and one tree for every 50 lineal feet of landscaping barrier to screen the 
parking areas from the public streets and abutting lots. The internal landscaping 
requirement includes placement of one overstory tree for every 21 parking stalls to 
shade the parking areas.  
 
The applicant has provided 2 parking lot trees and 4 peripheral trees meeting the 
requirements. The applicant has provided hydrangea, weigela, and ninebark 
shrubs to screen the parking lot areas from Brandilynn Boulevard and the private 
access street. In addition, the applicant will be providing prairie grass scattered 
throughout the site. The landscaping is well distributed on the site and exceeds 
the minimum required number of points.  
 
The landscaping plan shows the addition of a Norway Spruce along the 
south side of the refuse area and tall prairie grass along the west side to 
add screening from the private drive and adjacent property. A Norway 
Spruce has been added on the north side of the building in the place were 
the refuse area had been located along with shrubs and grasses. With the 
addition of the two spruces, the number of landscape points exceeds the 
required number of landscape points and the number of points on the plan 
submitted at the August 14 meeting.    
 
Landscaping requirements have been met. 

 
7) Building Design: The HWY-1 District requires a design review of various elements 

to ensure a high quality of design and materials and compatibility with nearby 
buildings. These are noted below with a review on how each element is 
addressed.  

164

Item 18.



 
Proportion: The relationship between the width and height of the front elevations of 

adjacent buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building; the 
relationship of width to height of windows and doors of adjacent buildings shall be 
considered in the construction or alteration of a building.  

 
 

 
View From Prairie Parkway 

 

 
View corner of Prairie Parkway and Brandilynn Blvd. 

 
 

165

Item 18.



 
Boulder Tap House – View from Viking Road 

 
 

 
Previous Design as viewed from Brandilynn Boulevard 

 

 
Revised plan as viewed from Brandilynn Boulevard 

 
The Golden China is similar is height and scale to Veridian, the Express Clinic, 
and the Boulder Tap House. Veridian, Boulder Tap House, and Golden China use 
a “tower” to denote their primary entrances while the Express Clinic uses a higher 
parapet wall. The windows and doors on the front elevations the Express Clinic, 
Veridian, and Boulder Tap House are similar in size, scale and proportion not only 
to the individual building, but to each other. With the changes made to the 
street-facing façade since the last meeting, there is now some window 

166

Item 18.



coverage consistent with other buildings in the vicinity. While these 
windows are not functional with the spandrel glass, they give the 
impression of a front façade. De-emphasizing the more utilitarian back-of-
building elements by matching paint colors of the service doors and 
downspouts also helps to give a better visual impression as viewed from 
the public street.   
 
Roof shape, pitch, and direction: The similarity or compatibility of the shape, pitch, and 

direction of roofs in the immediate area shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. 

 
The adjacent buildings utilize flat roofs with a parapet around the edges. The 
proposed new building will likewise utilize a flat roof for main building and the roof 
for the main entrance tower. Staff finds that the proposed design is similar to the 
design of the neighboring buildings. 
 

Pattern: Alternating solids and openings (wall to windows and doors) in the front facade 

and sides and rear of a building create a rhythm observable to viewers. This pattern of 
solids and openings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building.  
 
On the previous design, the street-facing façade had few windows and 
doors, so it did not have a pattern discernible to viewers and was not 
consistent with other buildings in the area. On the south, west, and east-facing 
elevations, the placement of windows and board and batten siding create a strong 
vertical rhythm, while the use of the canopy on these two façades provides 
horizontal relief. The brackets for the awning introduce an additional rhythm to 
these elevations. Similar windows and canopy elements have been added to 
the street-facing façade. The windows are now well-distributed, including on 
the façade facing Brandilynn. With these revisions to the design, staff finds 
that the building meets the standard.    
 

Materials and texture: The similarity or compatibility of existing materials and textures 

on the exterior walls and roofs of buildings in the immediate area shall be considered in 
the construction or alteration of a building. A building or alteration shall be considered 
compatible if the materials and texture used are appropriate in the context of other 
buildings in the immediate area. 

 
Staff finds that the exterior materials are consistent with neighboring buildings by 
using the combination of stone, wood, and metal. The height of the building is 
within the allowances of the zoning district and is consistent with the general 
height of the neighboring buildings. 
 

Color: The similarity or compatibility of existing colors of exterior walls and roofs of 

buildings in the area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 

 

167

Item 18.



Golden China uses a combination of gray and woodsy brown materials for the 
facades. The fascia, canopy, and roofing material will be matte black. The varied 
use of materials and color will enhance the architectural elements of the building.  
The colors and materials are compatible with those used by the other buildings. 
 
Architectural features: Architectural features, including but not limited to, cornices, 

entablatures, doors, windows, shutters, and fanlights, prevailing in the immediate area, 
shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. It is not intended that 
the details of existing buildings be duplicated precisely, but those features should be 
regarded as suggestive of the extent, nature, and scale of details that would be 
appropriate on new buildings or alterations. 

 
The profile of the building subtly provides an image of East Asian design. The 
façade materials will complement the materials that will be used on the Boulder 
Tap house. The proposed colors of the building will blend with the neighboring 
and proposed buildings. The roof is flat like the neighboring buildings, but like 
Veridian Credit Union and Boulder Tap House, the entrance location will be 
marked by a tower. The placement and distribution of windows along the dining 
side of the building are in scale with the neighboring properties.  With the 
changes proposed to the street-facing façade to add more windows and 
similar canopy as the other elevations, staff finds the architectural features 
as viewed from the public street to be acceptable.  

 

The improvements to the north elevation make the Brandilynn Boulevard 
façade’s appearance comparable to the Veridian Credit Union Building, the 
Unity Point Clinic Express, and the design of the Boulder Tap House.  
 
The standards for the HWY-1 have been met. 
 

8) Trash Dumpster Site: The dumpster enclosure is located at the northwest corner 
of the building. This location is in a highly visible from Brandilynn Boulevard. 
Trash enclosure is over seven feet in height and will be constructed using a rock-
face block painted to match the gray board and batten siding. The gate is metal 
and over six feet high and will be clad with vinyl slats resembling vertical boards.  
 
The dumpster enclosure meets City standards; however, the placement should be 
in a less visible location and not in the front yard and visible from Brandilynn 
Boulevard. 
 
The applicant has relocated the refuse area to the southwest side of the 
building away from direct view from Brandilynn Boulevard. This location is 
less visible than the previous location. The landscape plan shows a spruce 
tree and additional native grasses around the dumpster location, which will 
help to screen the area from the Veridian site and the private access drive. 
 

9) Lighting: The HWY-1 District regulations do not have specific lighting design 
guidelines. The applicant has proposed seven wall sconces on the pick-up 

168

Item 18.



window and rear sides of the building and downcast floodlights for the building 
canopy. The parking lot lighting will consist of one downcast LED luminaire fully 
shielded to prevent spillover light on to adjacent properties. A photometric plan 
has been submitted for review.  
 
Lighting is acceptable.  

 

10) Signage: For the proposed new building, two wall signs are illustrated on the 
building; one on the south wall near the main entrance from the parking lot and 
the other on the north wall facing Brandilyn Boulevard. As per code, wall sign 
areas cannot exceed 20 percent of the surface area of the single wall to which it 
is affixed. No more than two wall surfaces of any single structure may be utilized 
for sign displays. Both wall sign areas meet the code requirement (see elevations 
included in packet). The applicant will need to obtain a separate sign permit for 
each sign prior to installation. 

 
Proposed Signage is acceptable. 

 

11) Sidewalks: There is a 5-foot-wide PCC sidewalk proposed which will connect to 
the Brandilynn Boulevard sidewalk. The sidewalk is circuitous in its connection 
from Brandilynn Boulevard. The sidewalk enters the property centered on the 
service-side wall of the building, and then turns east to the corner of the building, 
turning south to the southeast corner of the building, before turning again and 
crossing the entire length of the south façade to the entrance. If the building was 
re-oriented so the main entrance was at the northeast corner of the building facing 
Brandilynn Boulevard, the sidewalk could be installed along the private drive and 
cross the driveway and connect to the building entrance in a direct more inviting 
manner.  
 
Due to topographical constraints, the applicant could not provide a more 
direct route to the customer entrance from Brandilynn Boulevard and meet 
the ADA requirements. While not ideal, staff finds that due to the 
topographical constraints, this route is acceptable. 

 
12) Storm Water Management: All storm water will be collected by a private storm 

sewer which ties into the public storm sewer and which flows to the regional 
detention pond approximately 300 feet east of the project site. No on-site 
detention will be required since this development falls within the area the regional 
detention facility was originally designed to accommodate.  

 

TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
 
Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) has reviewed the site plan for Golden China next to 1000 
and 1050 Brandilynn Blvd. Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are 
available in accordance with the service policies of CFU. 
 

169

Item 18.



All water lines shall be installed a minimum of 5.5 ft below grade. The water service 
material shall be copper. All water services in Cedar Falls are customer owned. Cedar 
Falls Utilities advises the Golden China owner to provide an easement to Veridian 
Credit Union for their water service. It is also recommended that an agreement between 
Veridian CU and the owner of Golden China be put in place for the repair of the shared 
water service on the Golden China property. 
 
Natural gas is available from the south side of Brandilynn Blvd. Cedar Falls Utilities will 
install and own the gas service. Coordinate the gas meter location and building loads 
with CFU Gas & Water Operations. 
 
The landscaping plan shows trees and other landscaping features in the right of way or 
utility easements. Removal and replacement of the trees or any other landscaping 
including monument signs located within these areas that may be disturbed by utility 
maintenance, repair, or replacement is the responsibility of the property owner. 
 
The parking lot on the north side of the property shows the pavement will be placed 
over the utility easement. If access is needed to the utility infrastructure, removal and 
replacement of the pavement is the responsibility of the property owner. 

 

The applicant has addressed the concerns with the orientation of the building by 
adding the spandrel glass and canopy to the Brandilynn Boulevard side of the 
building making it compatible with other buildings in the area that face a public 
street.  In addition, the refuse area has been relocated to the southside of the 
building in a less visible location. Due the constraints created by the existing 
topography of the site and the location of the customer entrance on the south 
side of the building, the proposed route is the best option to meet ADA 
compliance.   
 
A courtesy notice to surrounding property owners was mailed on July 8, 2024. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
On a vote of 8-0, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of SP24-
004, for a HWY-1 District site plan for Golden China Restaurant located at 1150 
Brandilynn Boulevard, subject to conformance with all city staff recommendations and 
technical requirements.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 

Introduction 
& 
Discussion 
8/14/2024 
 
 
 
 
 

The first item of business was a HWY-1 District Site Plan for a Golden China restaurant 
at 1150 Brandilynn Boulevard (Case #SP24-004). Chair Hartley introduced the item and 
Mr. Weintraut provided background information. He explained that the site is located at 
the corner of Brandilynn Boulevard and Prairie Parkway and is part of the Pinnacle 
Prairie Commercial South Phase V. All HWY-1 standards have been met except for the 
primary building elevation not facing the street as required, the refuse container is highly 
visible from the public right of way and the sidewalk connection does not provide 
convenient access to the main entrance. Mr. Weintraut discussed the view from the 
street view and provided renderings of the different aspects of the proposal.  
  

170

Item 18.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Planning 
and Zoning 
Commission 
decision 
8/28/2024 

 

Staff recommends denial due to the following issues: the primary building façade does 
not face the street as required by the Pinnacle Prairie Design Guidelines and does not 
meet the architectural standards of the HWY-1 District; the refuse enclosure is highly 
visible from the public right-of-way; and the sidewalk connection from Brandilynn 
Boulevard does not provide a convenient, comfortable, or pleasant means for the public 
to access the main entrance from the public street. Alternatively, staff recommends 
deferral if the applicant is willing to work on an alternative proposal that would re-orient 
the building toward the public street frontage to meet code requirements. 
 
Sorensen made the observation that the Veridian building does not have access from 
the Brandilynn side either. He also noted that it is easier to have windows on four sides 
of a bank building than a restaurant.  
 
Dan Levi, Levi Architecture, 3228 Cedar Heights Drive, stated that the item was 
submitted knowing that there were some issues as they are willing to make adjustments. 
He noted that the north elevation has been revised and has all been reviewed again. He 
also stated that they would not be able to relocate sidewalk as shown because of 
existing grade conditions.  
 
Chair Hartley asked about the refuse area and what can be done to improve it. Mr. Levi 
explained the options available. Ms. Howard also provided other potential options. There 
was lengthy discussion about what options are most ideal. 
 
Ms. Alberhasky stated that she feels this is a great development and appreciates the 
cultural context with a north facing entrance. She feels it would be great to find some 
compromise with the façade and the refuse area. 
 
Moser made a motion to defer to the next meeting. Alberhasky seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Johnson, Moser and Sorensen), and 0 nays. 
 
 
The first item of business was a HWY-1 District Site Plan for Golden China restaurant at 
1150 Brandilynn Boulevard (Case No. SP24-004). Chair Hartley introduced the item and 
Mr. Weintraut provided background information. He explained that the item was 
discussed at the last meeting and spoke about the changes that have been made by the 
developer since that time. He noted that the issues that were discussed at the last 
meeting that were the reason for denial of the item have now been addressed. The 
applicant has created panels that look like windows from the street view, the refuse 
container was relocated and will be screened, as well as adding landscaping to help 
hide the container. Changes were also made to allow the sidewalk to remain as it is.  
 
Staff recommends approval with any comments or direction specified by the 
Commission and conformance with all city staff recommendations and technical 
requirements. 
 
Sorensen made a motion to approve the item. Johnson seconded the motion. The 
motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Alberhasky, Grybovych, Hartley, 
Henderson, Johnson, Moser, Sorensen and Stalnaker), and 0 nays. 

 
 

171

Item 18.



Cedar Falls City Council
September 16, 2024

Location 
Map

Golden China Restaurant
1150 Brandilynn Blvd

Site

172

Item 18.



1-800-292-8989
www.iowaonecall.com

 STATE OF IOWA 

C0.1
8/20/2024

SUBMITTAL 4

 LOCATION MAP 

GOLDEN CHINA RESTAURANT
IN THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS,
BLACK HAWK COUNTY, IOWA

1150 BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

NEW COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT

PN: 24001

DEVELOPER

ARCHITECT

Sheet List Table

Robinson Engineering Company
Consulting Engineers

819 Second Street NE
Independence, Iowa 50644

319-334-7211

MONICA M. SMITH           LICENSE NO. 15074

Signature Date

CIVIL ENGINEER

173

Item 18.



R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

SH
A

R
ED

 D
R

IV
E

SHARED DRIVE

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

C0.2

SI
T
E 

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T
 P

LA
N

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

174

Item 18.



R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C0.3

G
EN

ER
A

L 
N

O
T
ES

 A
N

D
A

PP
LI

C
A

B
LE

 S
PE

C
IF

IC
A

T
IO

N
S

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

GENERAL NOTES

TRAFFIC CONTROL APPLICABLE SUDAS SECTIONS:

” 

DIVISION 2: Earthwork

DIVISION 3: Trench Excavation and Backfill

DIVISION 4: Sewers and Drains

DIVISION 5: Water Mains and Appurtenances

DIVISION 6: Structures for Sanitary and Storm Sewers

DIVISION 7: Streets and Related Work

DIVISION 8: Traffic Control

DIVISION 9: Site Work and Landscaping

Division 11: Miscellaneous

APPLICABLE SUDAS DETAILS:

DIVISION 2: Earthwork

DIVISION 3: Trench Excavation and Backfill

DIVISION 4: Sewers and Drains

DIVISION 5: Water Mains and Appurtenances

DIVISION 7: Streets and Related Work

DIVISION 8: Traffic Control

DIVISION 9: Site Work and Landscaping

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

175

Item 18.



R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C1.1

U
T
IL

IT
Y
 P

LA
N

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

NOTES:

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

EA
ST

 S
H

A
R

ED
 D

R
IV

E
SOUTH SHARED DRIVE

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

NORTH SHARED DRIVE

176

Item 18.



R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C2.1

PA
V

IN
G

 P
LA

N
 -

 S
O

U
T
H

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

PAVEMENT NOTES:

PAVEMENT HATCHING LEGEND

ADA CODE SUMMARY:

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

EA
ST

 S
H

A
R

ED
 D

R
IV

E

SOUTH SHARED DRIVE
177

Item 18.

https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_101.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf
https://iowadot.gov/design/SRP/IndividualStandards/pm111.pdf


R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C2.2

PA
V

IN
G

 P
LA

N
 -

 C
EN

T
ER

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

PAVEMENT NOTES:

PAVEMENT HATCHING LEGEND

ADA CODE SUMMARY:

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

EA
ST

 S
H

A
R

ED
 D

R
IV

E

NORTH SHARED DRIVE

178

Item 18.

https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7030_202.pdf


R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C2.3

PA
V

IN
G

 P
LA

N
 -

 N
O

R
T
H

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

EA
ST

 S
H

A
R

ED
 D

R
IV

E

NORTH SHARED DRIVE

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

PAVEMENT NOTES:

PAVEMENT HATCHING LEGEND

ADA CODE SUMMARY:

179

Item 18.

https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf
https://intrans.iastate.edu/app/uploads/sites/15/2020/02/7010_102.pdf


R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C3.1

SW
PP

P 
- 

IN
IT

IA
L 

D
IS

T
U

R
B
A

N
C

E

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

SEQUENCE OF ACTIVITIES
INITIAL

PREPARATION OF SITE FOR MOBILIZATION

AND COMMENCEMENT OF WORK

NOTES:

LEGEND KEY

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

SH
A

R
ED

 D
R

IV
E

SHARED DRIVE

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

180

Item 18.



R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

C3.2

SW
PP

P 
- 

C
O

N
ST

R
U

C
T
IO

N
 P

H
A

SE

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

SEQUENCE OF ACTIVITIES
CONSTRUCTION

CONTINUED MAINTENANCE, IMPLEMENTATION,
AND EVOLUTION OF SWPPP

NOTES:

LEGEND KEY

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

SH
A

R
ED

 D
R

IV
E

SHARED DRIVE

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

181

Item 18.



R
ob

in
so

n 
E

ng
in

ee
ri

ng
 C

om
pa

ny
C

on
su

lti
ng

 E
ng

in
ee

rs

8
1
9
 S

ec
o
n
d
 S

tr
ee

t 
N

E
In

d
ep

en
d
en

ce
, 
Io

w
a 

5
0
6
4
4

3
1
9
-3

3
4
-7

2
1
1

LA.1

LA
N

D
SC

A
PE

 P
LA

N

SUBMITTAL 4
8/20/2024

LANDSCAPE PLAN
 GOLDEN CHINA RESTAURANT

PN
: 
2
4
0
0
1

D
A

R
R
EN

 F
A

N
G

, 
LL

C
 (

C
O

N
T
R
A

C
T
)

G
O

LD
EN

 C
H

IN
A

 R
ES

T
A

U
R
A

N
T

SH
A

R
ED

 D
R

IV
E

SHARED DRIVE

BRANDILYNN BOULEVARD

·

·

½

MEASURED COMPLIANCE

182

Item 18.



183

Item 18.



GOLDEN CHINA
1150 Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

184

Item 18.



GOLDEN CHINA
1150 Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

185

Item 18.



SOUTH ELEVATION

FUTURE WALL SIGNAGE TO NOT EXCEED
20% OF THE ATTACHED SURFACE AREA.

TOTAL SOUTH WALL AREA = 1,527 SF
20% OF SOUTH WALL AREA = 305 SF

CURRENT SIGNAGE AS SHOWN = 28 SF
FINAL SIGNAGE TO BE REVIEWED W/ EACH BUILD-OUT

T.O. HIGH PARAPET

T.O. LOW PARAPET

T.O. TOWER

20' - 0"

23' - 8"

27' - 0"

16'-6 3/4"

1'
-8

"

1

1

1

1

1

2 74

5

4

4 4

4

7 7 7 7

3

3
9 9

GOLDEN CHINA
1150 Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

1

2

3

4

5

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CAP - FIRESTONE DARK BRONZE

NICHIHA VINTAGE WOOD PANELS - CEDAR

STONE VENEER - COLOR TBD

LP BOARD & BATTEN & TRIM - CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE

LP BOARD & BATTEN & TRIM - WHITE BY DIAMOND KOTE

INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE6

7 ALUM. STOREFRONT FRAMING - DARK BRONZE

DRIVE-THRU WINDOW - DARK BRONZE8
PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - DARK BRONZE9

186

Item 18.



EAST ELEVATION

FUTURE WALL SIGNAGE TO NOT EXCEED
20% OF THE ATTACHED SURFACE AREA.

TOTAL EAST WALL AREA = 1,158 SF
20% OF EAST WALL AREA = 232 SF

CURRENT SIGNAGE AS SHOWN = 28 SF
FINAL SIGNAGE TO BE REVIEWED W/ EACH BUILD-OUT

T.O. HIGH PARAPET

T.O. LOW PARAPET

T.O. TOWER

20' - 0"

23' - 8"

27' - 0"1

1

1

1

1

1

4

4

4

4

7 7 7 7

7

2

9 9

3

3

5

GOLDEN CHINA
1150 Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

1

2

3

4

5

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CAP - FIRESTONE DARK BRONZE

NICHIHA VINTAGE WOOD PANELS - CEDAR

STONE VENEER - COLOR TBD

LP BOARD & BATTEN & TRIM - CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE

LP BOARD & BATTEN & TRIM - WHITE BY DIAMOND KOTE

INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE6

7 ALUM. STOREFRONT FRAMING - DARK BRONZE

DRIVE-THRU WINDOW - DARK BRONZE8
PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - DARK BRONZE9

187

Item 18.



NORTH ELEVATION

T.O. HIGH PARAPET

T.O. LOW PARAPET

T.O. TOWER

20' - 0"

23' - 8"

27' - 0"

4

1

1

1

1

34

4

2

10
7

9 9

6

DOWNSPOUTS, DARK
BRONZE BY FIRESTONE

GOLDEN CHINA
1150 Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

1

2

3

4

5

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CAP - FIRESTONE DARK BRONZE

NICHIHA VINTAGE WOOD PANELS - CEDAR

STONE VENEER - COLOR TBD

LP BOARD & BATTEN & TRIM - CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE

LP BOARD & BATTEN & TRIM - WHITE BY DIAMOND KOTE

INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE6

7 ALUM. STOREFRONT FRAMING - DARK BRONZE

DRIVE-THRU WINDOW - DARK BRONZE8
PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - DARK BRONZE9

16'-6 3/4"

1'
-8

"

4

1

INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH FIRESTONE DARK BRONZE10

7 7

9

6

DOWNSPOUTS, COLOR MATCH
CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE

188

Item 18.



WEST ELEVATION

T.O. HIGH PARAPET

T.O. LOW PARAPET

T.O. TOWER

20' - 0"

23' - 8"

27' - 0"1

4

1

1

1 5

8

9

9

GOLDEN CHINA
1150 Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

1

2

3

4

5

PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CAP - FIRESTONE DARK BRONZE

NICHIHA VINTAGE WOOD PANELS - CEDAR

STONE VENEER - COLOR TBD

LP BOARD & BATTEN & TRIM - CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE

LP BOARD & BATTEN & TRIM - WHITE BY DIAMOND KOTE

INSUL. GALV. H.M. DOOR - MATCH CLAY BY DIAMOND KOTE6

7 ALUM. STOREFRONT FRAMING - DARK BRONZE

DRIVE-THRU WINDOW - DARK BRONZE8
PREFIN. SHT. MTL. CANOPY - DARK BRONZE9

3

4

16
' -

 0
"

2

1

2

189

Item 18.



GOLDEN CHINA
1150 Brandilynn Blvd. | Cedar Falls, IA

11' - 4"

T
.O

. 
M

A
S

O
N

R
Y

7
' 
- 

4
"

T
.O

. 
G

A
T

E

6
' 
- 

8
"

PREFIN. SHT. 
MTL. CAP, 
MATTE BLACK

GALV. METAL GATE W / 
VINYL SLATS, PAINT TO 
MATCH CLAY BY 
DIAMOND KOTE

CLCL

10' - 0"

8" ROCK-FACE 
BLOCK, BLOCK 
FILLER & PAINT

PREFIN. SHT. 
MTL. CAP, 

MATTE BLACK

SCALE:   1/4" = 1'-0"

ENCLOSURE SIDE ELEVATION
SCALE:   1/4" = 1'-0"

ENCLOSURE FRONT ELEVATION

190

Item 18.



191

Item 19.



192

Item 19.



193

Item 19.



194

Item 19.



195

Item 19.



196

Item 19.



197

Item 19.



198

Item 19.



199

Item 19.



200

Item 19.



201

Item 19.



202

Item 19.



203

Item 19.



204

Item 19.



205

Item 19.



206

Item 19.



207

Item 19.



208

Item 19.



209

Item 19.



210

Item 19.



211

Item 19.



212

Item 19.



213

Item 19.



214

Item 19.



215

Item 19.



216

Item 19.



217

Item 19.



218

Item 19.



219

Item 19.



220

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: September 16th, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Strand Associates Inc. 
  2023 Stormwater Planning Project 
  City Project Number: ST-000-3306 
  Supplemental Agreement No. 1 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval is the Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the 
Professional Services Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Strand 
Associates Inc. for the 2023 Storm Water Planning Project. This Supplemental 
Agreement provides for continued professional services to complete the study based off 
the gathered storm infrastructure data. The consultant will continue to perform data 
analysis, create models of our existing storm water infrastructure, and identify future 
Capital Improvement Projects to solve drainage problems within our current 
infrastructure. Compensation for the services equate to an additional amount of $17,800 
and extend the project to a completion date of March 31, 2025. 
 
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Strand 
Associates Inc. for the 2023 Stormwater Planning Project on June 6th, 2023. The project 
will be funded by the Storm Water Fund and Federal Grant Funding. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration 
and approval of this Supplemental Agreement No. 1 with Strand Associates Inc. for the 
2023 Stormwater Planning Project.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

221

Item 20.



222

Item 20.



223

Item 20.



224

Item 20.



225

Item 20.



226

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE – City Engineer 
 
 DATE: September 9, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Katoski Drive Box Culvert Replacement 
  City Project Number: BR-265-3261 
  Permanent and Temporary Easements 

 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to replace the existing bridge on Katoski Drive east of Cedar 
Heights Drive over the Branch Black Hawk Creek with a new double box concrete culvert. The 
project will require the acquisition of temporary and permanent easements to complete the work. 
The owner of the properties has accepted our offer and is shown below. 
 

Parcel # Property Owner Street Address Temporary 
Easement 

Permanent 
Easement 

1 Marco Properties, 
LLC 

6000 Douglas Ave., Ste. 
210, Des Moines, IA 

X X 

2 Marco Properties, 
LLC 

6000 Douglas Ave., Ste. 
210, Des Moines, IA 

X X 

 
 
Attached is the map that identifies the location of this property. Also attached is the individual 
Easement Agreements for the new easements and the documentation. 
 
The City has used Storm Water Funds, General Obligation Funds and Local Option Sales Tax for 
the design and right of way portion of this project. The City entered into a Professional Service 
Agreement with Foth Infrastructure & Environmental, LLC of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, on January 16, 
2024, for design and property acquisition services for the project. If approved, staff will prepare 
the necessary documents and will complete the acquisition process for the parcel 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving 
the easement acquisition and authorizing the Mayor to execute the agreements for the Katoski 
Drive Box Culvert Replacement Project. 
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 Lisa Roeding, City Controller/Treasurer 
  

227

Item 21.



Project Location

228

Item 21.



5/
28

/2
02

4
pw

://
fo

th
-p

w
.b

en
tle

y.
co

m
:fo

th
-p

w
-0

1/
Do

cu
m

en
ts

/C
lie

nt
s/

Ce
da

r F
al

ls
 IA

 C
/K

at
os

ki
 D

riv
e 

Br
id

ge
 R

ep
la

ce
m

en
t/

CA
D/

Di
sp

la
ys

/P
ar

ce
l I

m
pa

ct
 E

xh
ib

its
/0

02
4C

01
7.

00
_A

CQ
(2

0 
Sc

al
e)

.d
gn

11
:5

8:
02

 A
M

Approximate Lot Line

Parcel #891332151003
Marco Properties LLC

Parcel #891332176001
Marco Properties LLC

Parcel #891332176001
Marco Properties LLC

Parcel #891332151003
Marco Properties LLC

KATOSKI DRIVE

0 8020

SCALE: 1"= 40'

40 40

Temporary Easement
Permanent Easement

Property Lines

Right of Way Legend



Parcel #891332151003 = 0.02 acres
Parcel #891332176001 = 0.22 acres

Permanent Easement Summary

Parcel #891332151003 = 0.01 acres
Parcel #891332176001 = 0.11 acres

Temporary Easement Summary

66
'-0

" 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

 R
O

W

60'-0"

25'-6"

50'-0"

73'-10"

23
'-5

"

24
'-6

"

117'-7"

25
'-1

"

CITY PROJECT NO.: BR-265-3261
OVER BRANCH BLACK HAWK CREEK
KATOSKI DRIVE BRIDGE REPLACEMENT

S. INGERSOLLCHECKED: 

S. DILLAVOUDRAWN: 
PCL 1

 © 2024 Microsoft Corporation  © 2024 Maxar  ©CNES (2024) Distribution Airbus DS 

229

Item 21.



230

Item 21.



231

Item 21.



232

Item 21.



233

Item 21.



234

Item 21.



235

Item 21.



236

Item 21.



237

Item 21.



238

Item 21.



239

Item 21.



240

Item 21.



241

Item 21.



242

Item 21.



243

Item 21.



244

Item 21.



245

Item 21.



246

Item 21.



247

Item 21.



248

Item 21.



249

Item 21.



250

Item 21.



251

Item 21.



252

Item 21.



253

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
  
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: September 16, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Snyder and Associates 
  Gibson Properties 
  City Project Number: SU-290-3345 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval is the Professional Services Agreement 
between the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder and Associates which outlines the scope of 
services and costs for the development of Gibson Properties. 
 
The enclosed agreement with Snyder and Associates provides for the concept plan and 
design for the construction of a new commercial park on the east side of Hudson Road 
between W. Ridgeway Ave. and Highway 20. The fees of this agreement are based on 
hourly rates and fixed expenses and shall not to exceed the total amount of $508,000.  
 
The project will be initially paid for by Economic Development Funds then will be certified 
as TIF debt within the South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Plan. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration 
and approval of this Professional Service Agreement with Snyder and Associates for the 
Gibson Properties. 
 
If you have any questions or comments, feel free to contact me.  
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

254

Item 22.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

SNYDER & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

Project: Gibson Properties 

City Project Number: SU-290-3345 

 

This Agreement is by and between   Snyder & Associates, Inc.  (“Consultant”) and the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa (“City”), and is to be effective on the date last signed by the Consultant or the City below. 

1.0.       Consultant’s Services 

1.1.       Consultant’s services shall consist only of those services and/or products provided or supplied by Consultant 
as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Consultant shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 
authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 
Consultant and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Consultant shall be conclusively 
presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 
work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 
not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Consultant shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Consultant hereby 
warrants to the City that Consultant has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 
required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 
Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 
Consultant agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 
approved by the City. 

1.4.       Consultant shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 
Exhibit “A”.   

1.5.       Consultant warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of 
any third party, and that the Consultant has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services 
to the City.   

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Consultant represents and warrants that the person has 
full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Consultant.   

1.7.       If requested by Consultant in writing, the City shall provide all criteria and information as to the City’s 
requirements and furnish all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to the Services.  Any 
additional reports, data or services required for the Services shall be the responsibility of the Consultant unless 
otherwise specified in the Scope of Services, Exhibit “A.”  Consultant shall be entitled to rely upon all information, 
data and the results of other services furnished by the City.  

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 
Agreement.  

255

Item 22.



2 
 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Consultant in 
accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “B”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 
be the amount set forth in Exhibit “B”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 
case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Consultant within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum. The name and address of the Consultant, the 
invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 
goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 
or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Consultant unless specifically described in Exhibit “B”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Consultant must 
provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Consultant, the Consultant may charge the City interest 
on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Consultant may, after giving seven (7) 
days written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Consultant for 
faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 
services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as required.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 
(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Consultant in the performance of the 
Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 
property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Consultant hereby assigns to the City all right, title 
and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 
City’s request, Consultant shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 
rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Consultant retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 
other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Consultant 
and any authorized Subconsultants shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 
providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 
information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 
years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 
Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Consultant for such retention or 
inspection by the City or designee.  

 

 

 

256

Item 22.



3 
 

5.0.       Termination. 

5.1        The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 
Consultant of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 
before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 
prepared or furnished by the Consultant shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 
is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Consultant shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 
approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 
from the Consultant. 

 5.2       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 
other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 
initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Consultant represents that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the standard of care of 
other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Consultant shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 
Services under this Agreement.  Consultant shall promptly and without charge, provide all work to correct the 
Consultant’s Services as a result of Consultant’s errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of 
Consultant’s Services. 

6.3.       Consultant shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Consultants 
acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 
remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.4.       Consultant’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 
availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Consultant.  None of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 
Consultant’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Consultant represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 
any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 
entity. 

7.2.       Consultant represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by 
the City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity 
or privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Consultant represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 
Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 
dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

8.2.       Consultant agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 
all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 
payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Consultant fail to 
continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 
incurred by the City or the Consultant as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Consultant. 

257

Item 22.



4 
 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 
mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 
except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 
mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification and Hold Harmless. 

9.1.       To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant (for purposes of this Section 9.0, includes employees, 
subConsultants, agents and others working on behalf of Consultant under this Agreement) agrees to defend (for all 
non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City (for purposes of this Section 9.0 includes elected and 
appointed officials, and employees) against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including any and all outlay 
and expense connected therewith, and for damages, which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from 
the City, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or death, 
and property damage, which arises out of or is in any way connected or associated with the work and/or services 
provided by the Consultant to the City under this Agreement, to the extent caused by or arising out of the errors, 
omissions, negligent acts  or willful misconduct  of the Consultant.  

9.2.       Consultant’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Consultant’s breach 
or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above and shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement.  Such duty also includes damage, loss or injury to the City or City property. 

9.3.       Consultant expressly assumes full responsibility for loss, expense, damages or injuries which may result to 
the Consultant by reason of or in connection with the work and/or services provided by Consultant under this 
Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the 
Consultant. 

9.4.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 
member of the public third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 
suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

9.5       The City agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to indemnify and hold harmless the Consultant, its 
officers, directors, employees and  (collectively, Consultant) against all damages or liabilities, to the extent caused by 
the Client’s negligent acts, errors or omissions in connection with the Project.  

10.0.       Insurance. 

Consultant shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “C” 
unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

Insurance requirement waived:  _______________________________________________ (Signature and title of 
authorized City employee or officer) 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Consultant certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 
state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations and shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that its 
employees, agents, subconsultants and others working on behalf of the Consultant under this Agreement do the 
same. 

12.0.       Independent Consultant. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 
employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 
deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

258

Item 22.



5 
 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Consultant, nor anyone acting on behalf of Consultant, has employed any person to solicit or 
procure this Agreement, nor will the Consultant make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 
connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Consultant agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 
contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 
such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Consultant, nor anyone acting on behalf of Consultant, has either directly or indirectly entered 
into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 
competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Consultant will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, sex, 
color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, 
genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification protected by federal, state, or local law, except where 
age or sex is an essential bona fide occupational requirement, or where disability is a bona fide occupational 
disqualification.   

14.2.       Consultant shall inform all subconsultants and agents performing under this Agreement of this 
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 
the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Consultant represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 
Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Consultant shall 
participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  
Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Consultant or any employee, officer or agent 
of Consultant, Consultant shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 
excess costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Consultant or deducted from any sums yet 
due to Consultant. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 
order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 
such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 
labor disputes; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or referred to in this 
Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of performance by 
either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim for damages, if 
and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 
exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 
party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 
such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 
Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

 

259

Item 22.



6 
 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Consultant without the prior written consent of the 
City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Consultant’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 
approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 
bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Consultant’s bid 
or quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Consultant’s bid or quote is incorporated into 
this Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Consultant’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 
shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 
bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 
and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 
behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 
agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 
information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 
submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 
designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 
to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 
endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 
asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 
the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 
employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 
disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 
occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Consultant hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Consultant further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

No information shared between Consultant and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 
confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

260

Item 22.



7 
 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 
for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 
party, or as required by law, or by an order of a court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 
confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 
until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 
entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 
representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 
be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 
and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

24.0.       Additional Terms for Consulting Agreements. 

24.1        If Consultant provides cost estimates to the City, the City acknowledges that Consultant has no control over 
any such costs, including, but not limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or 
over competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction Consultants’ methods of determining 
their prices.  The City acknowledges and understands that any estimates, projections or opinions of probable project 
costs provided by Consultant are estimates only, made on the basis of Consultant’s experience and represent 
Consultants reasonable judgment as a qualified professional.  Consultant does not guarantee that proposals, bids or 
actual costs will not vary from the opinions of probable costs prepared by Consultant, and the City hereby waives any 
and all claims that it may have against Consultant as a result of any such variance. 

24.2.       Because this is a consulting agreement only, any necessary approvals and permits required from all 
governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Services shall be obtained by the City at the City’s cost. 

24.3.         Consultant shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for construction means, 
methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures and programs including enforcement of 
federal or state safety requirements in connection with construction work performed by the City’s construction 
Consultants.  Nor shall Consultant be responsible for the supervision of the City’s construction Consultants, 
subconsultants or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such Consultants; or for inspecting 
machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by Consultants and subconsultants on the City’s 
construction projects and shall not have the right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval 
of the City.  In no event shall Consultant be liable for the acts or omissions of the City’s construction contractors s, 
subcontractors  or any persons or entities performing any construction work, or for the failure of any of them to carry 
out construction work under contracts with the City. 

24.4.       Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Consultant shall have no legal responsibility or liability for 
any pre-existing contamination.  “Pre-existing contamination” is any hazardous or toxic substance present at any site 
related to the Services performed by Consultant under this Agreement that was not brought onto the site by 
Consultant.  The City agrees to release Consultant from and against any and all liability to the City which may in any 
manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-existing contamination except if such liability arises 
from Consultant’s sole negligence or willful misconduct.  The City shall, at the City’s sole expense and risk, arrange 
for the handling, storage, transportation, treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination.  The City 
shall be solely responsible for obtaining a disposal site for such material.  The City shall look to the disposal facility 
and/or transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such material.  
Consultant shall not have or exert any control over the City in the City’s obligations or responsibilities as a generator 
in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing contamination.  The City shall complete and 
execute any governmentally required forms relating to regulated activities including, but not limited to, generation, 
storage, handling, treatment, transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination. 

261

Item 22.



8 
 

24.5.       For any Consultant Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, the City shall approve 
selection of the Consultants to perform such services, all site locations, and provide Consultant with all necessary 
information regarding the presence of underground hazards, utilities, structures and conditions at the site.                    

25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 
provided to: 

 

City:                                                                                               Consultant: 

Name: David Wicke_____________                                           Name: Eric Cannon    

Title: City Engineer________________                                       Title: Business Unit Leader   

Address: 220 Clay Street___________                                       Address: 2727 SW Snyder Blvd.   

             Cedar Falls, IA 50613_______                                                       Ankeny, IA 50023   

Telephone: 319-268-5161___________                                       Telephone: 515-964-2020    

Email: David.wicke@cedarfalls.com___                                        Email: ecannon@snyder-associates.com  

Unless otherwise specified in the Scope of Services (Exhibit “A”), the above listed persons have full authority to act 
on behalf of their respective party in relation to the Services.  

 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Consultant have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 
below. 

 

CONSULTANT 

Snyder & Associates, Inc.     
 
 
By:        

 Tim L. West 

Its: Business Unit Leader                      Date: September 9, 2024  

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

By: __________________________________ 

        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 

              Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  

Digitally signed by Tim L. West 
Date: 2024.09.09 13:30:41 -05'00'

262

Item 22.

mailto:ecannon@snyder-associates.com


 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

    
Exhibit A 

 
Gibson Property Development 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number SU-290-33454 

 
  

Scope of Services 
 

The services generally include the development of an overall concept plan for the construction of a 
new commercial park on the east side of Hudson Road between W Ridgeway Ave and Highway 20, 
including approximately 76 acres to the east of Hudson Road.   It shall also include the 40 Acres on 
the West side of Hudson Road will be surveyed with an Environmental review to be performed to 
install regional detention for the commercial park on the west side of Hudson Road.   
 

A. The CONSULTANT shall perform the following management administrative services 
during the design of the PROJECT.  
 

1. Monthly billing reports. 

2. Project coordination for engineering and coordination with the CLIENT, design 
professionals, and utility companies. 

3. Project design review. 

B. The CONSULTANT shall complete concept designs for the purpose of providing the 
CLIENT with lot and street layout options prior to the preparation of preliminary design 
efforts. 
 

1. Prepare two (2) to three (3) concept designs for the layout of the 76-acre 
commercial Park, showing varied lot sizes ranging generally from two (2) to ten 
(10) acres and streets to complement the terrain and maximize the efficient use of 
the area.  
 

2. Existing terrain and features will be based on available LiDAR and aerial imagery. 
 

3. The overall concept to include both areas should include review considerations for 
potential connections to W. Ridgeway Ave, as well as connections to Hudson 
Road. 
 

4. Scalable documents of concept designs will be provided electronically. 
 

5. Attend one meeting to discuss concepts, and changes will be incorporated into the 
final concept that will be submitted to the CLIENT.   

 
6. Prepare a preliminary grading and utility layout plan. 

 
7. Preliminary stormwater management study will be conducted to identify site needs 

to aid in preliminary grading. Sanitary sewer routing is to be considered during the 
concept design and further preliminarily detailed to accompany the grading plan.   

 

263

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

8. Scalable documents of the preliminary design exhibit(s) will be provided 
electronically. 

 
9. Cursory review of the FEMA Flood Map associated with Dry Run Creek that runs 

through the middle of the west development area along with Wetland Mapper 
systems to understand the potential Environmental limitations to the areas and the 
potential restrictions they pose to development. This task will identify any 
Environmental Design items needed for additional future tasks to be included in 
any development of future construction documents.    

 
10. In coordination with the Traffic Impact Analysis, coordination with the Iowa DOT 

will be conducted to determine allowed development access locations, including 
potential Right-in-Right-Out access locations along Hudson Road to provide for 
the most efficient access and use of the development while maintaining safe traffic 
control of the area.   

 
11. Concept sketches (2) on Community Gateway features along the edge of the 

development adjacent to Hudson Road for potential community signage to the City 
of Cedar of Cedar Falls. Shall include recommendations on potential monument 
locations along with imagery of gateway features that could be utilized to be 
developed to be included with the development of future construction documents.  

 
12. One meeting to discuss preliminary design exhibit(s) with changes to be 

incorporated into an exhibit to be submitted to the CLIENT. 
 

C. The CONSULTANT shall perform the following survey services: 
 

1. Topographic Survey - provide topographic survey of the subject area to be 
improved. This includes ground shot elevations, existing site features, pertinent 
utility locates flow line elevations and centerline pavement connections to adjacent 
public streets. The terrain shall demonstrate existing contour relief at one-foot 
intervals and include spot elevations.   

 
2. Utility Assessment - provide known existing public utility information based on 

record information, surface evidence, and as-built drawings. This service includes 
contacting Iowa One Call and submitting a Design Request System Ticket for 
public utilities. Record information and as-built drawings requested from the utility 
providers will be used to depict mapped locations of public utilities placed on the 
survey as Quality Level “D” (QLD) and as outlined in the ASCE-38-02 Standard 
Guideline for the collection and depiction of existing subsurface utility data. Private 
utility locates are not part of this service but can be provided upon request for 
additional fee. 

 
3. Boundary Verification Survey – Based on the existing recorded platting document 

to create the proposed parcel as completed by others, re-establish existing 
boundary lines and or right of way lines by means of existing monuments, plats 
and or other documents as provided by owner and or recorded with the County 
Recorder’s Office. This work is to facilitate design and this work is not to be 
construed as a certified boundary survey and missing monuments will not be set.  
The CLIENT shall provide subject property description and information regarding 
existing easements or land covenants which affect the property.  Title searches for 
the property are not included within this Scope of Services. 

 

264

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

D. The CONSULTANT will review United States Geological Survey topographic maps, 
National Wetland Inventory maps, Soil Survey, and aerial photographs as part of a 
preliminary data search. Maps will be developed to identify potential Waters of the US 
(WOTUS), including wetlands, based on the preliminary data search. The CONSULTANT 
will review Iowa Department of Natural Resources and US Fish and Wildlife Service 
databases to determine which state and federally listed species may be present, are known 
to be present, or have potential habitat at or near the project sites. A windshield survey will 
be completed to determine the potential for suitable habitat and potential WOTUS. Using 
current aerial photography, the CONSULTANT will develop a map identifying potential 
habitat areas and WOTUS within the project limits. The maps and data from the state and 
federal agencies will be provided to the Client for review. A memo summarizing the findings 
of the preliminary data searches will be provided to the Client.  
 

E. The CONSULTANT shall prepare a preliminary plat document in general conformance with 
the finalized Conceptual Site Plan for the property.  The preliminary plat shall be prepared 
in accordance with the City Subdivision Regulations and Zoning Ordinances. 

 
1. The preliminary plat shall indicate general lot layout and dimensions, site 

topography, proposed grades, storm water management, anticipated routing for 
sanitary sewers, storm sewers, water mains, roadways, and other items required 
in accordance with the City.  Easements for preliminary location of gas, telephone, 
electric, and other utilities may be indicated. The plan shall be submitted to the City 
and attendance of staff meetings, Plan and Zoning Commission meeting, and City 
Council meetings are included.  

 
F. The CONSULTANT shall subcontract to have geotechnical services completed as has 

been requested by the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT. 
 

1. Provide ten (12) soil borings after the concept design has been approved and 
before the field has been tilled and planted for the 2025 growing season. 
 

2. Provide three (3) pavement core samples of existing Ridgeway Avenue near the 
Cyber Lane intersection in order to assist with construction details of the Ridgeway 
Avenue Roundabout.   
 

3. Prepare a geotechnical report of findings and design considerations for use by the 
CONSULTANT and the CLIENT. 

 
 

G. CONSULTANT shall complete a Traffic Impact Study (TIS) to assist with the overall master 
plan for the development area: 
 

1. Assumed study area contains: 
 

i. Hudson Rd from US 20 south ramp to W Ridgeway Ave 
 

ii. W Ridgeway Ave from 2800’ west of Hudson Rd to Chancellor Dr on east 
 

2. Collect turning movement traffic counts at up to 2 intersections 
 

3. Hudson Rd & Ridgeway Ave 
 

4. Ridgeway Ave & Chancellor Dr 
 

265

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

5. Utilize existing turning movement counts from the Iowa DOT in 2021 at the IA 20 
& Hudson Rd interchange 

 
6. Review traffic safety performance of existing roads and intersections per five year 

Iowa DOT crash database (ICAT) 
 

7. Confirm access management plan and potential US 20 interchange improvements 
with Iowa DOT District 2 

 
8. Estimate Opening Year and Design Year trip generation 

 
9. Estimate Opening Year and Design Year background traffic condition 

 
10. Estimate AM and PM peak hour turning movement forecasts for Opening Year and 

Design Year 
 

11. Perform AM and PM peak hour traffic operations analysis for existing, Opening 
Year, and Design Year 

 
12. Identify roadway and intersection lane configuration, intersection traffic control 

needs, and access management considerations for the study area intersections 
and proposed access points for the Opening Year and Design Year 

 
13. Prepare a technical memorandum summarizing analyses and recommendations 

 
H. The CONSULTANT shall complete the following Traffic Signal Design services for two 

intersections providing access to the Development (W Ridgeway Ave & Cyber Ln and W 
Ridgeway Ave & Waterway Ave): 
 

1. Preliminary signal design and plans to accompany preliminary plan submittal 
 
a. Plan sheets included: 

 
i. A signal layout sheet for each intersection 

 
b. Primary purpose of layouts will be to establish pole locations and signal cabinet 

locations with respect to existing and proposed features and utilities 
 

2. Final signal design and plans to accompany check and final plan submittals 
 

a. Plan sheets included: 
 
i. Notes and estimated quantities 

 
ii. Signal layouts 

 
iii. Signal wiring, phasing, and detection 

 
iv. Signal details 

 
I. The CONSULTANT shall complete preliminary and final design services and preparation 

of construction documents for the W Ridgeway Avenue and Cyber Lane Roundabout 
Improvements.  

266

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

 
1. Preliminary Plans: The CONSULTANT shall develop preliminary design plans. 

Upon completion, the design plans will be approximately 50% complete. 
Preliminary plans shall include the following sheets:  
 

i. B Sheets: Typical sections and details 
 

ii. C Sheets: Quantities and tabulations 
 

iii. D Sheets: Roadway plan and profile information 
 

iv. F Sheets: Removal information 
 

v. G Sheets: Roadway alignment and staking information 
 

vi. H Sheets: Right-of-Way acquisition information 
 

vii. J Sheets: Traffic Control and Staging (It is assumed through traffic on W 
Ridgeway Ave shall be maintained.) 

 
viii. LS Sheets: Landscape and monument Information 

 
ix. M Sheets: Storm sewer plan and profile information 

 
x. MWM Sheets: Water main plan and profile information (it is assumed 

the existing water main will need to be realigned to be located outside 
of the roundabout) 

 
2. Preliminary Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 

 
3. Final Plans: The CONSULTANT shall develop check plan (90%) and final plans 

(100%). Final plans shall include the following sheets: 
 

i. B, C, D, F, G, H, J, LS, M, and MWM Sheets per preliminary plan submittal 
 

ii. L Sheets: Roadway geometrics and jointing information 
 

iii. N Sheets: Lighting information 
 

iv. P Sheets: Signing and paving marking information 
 

v. R Sheets: Erosion control and final surface restoration information 
 

vi. S Sheets: Sidewalk information 
 

4. Final Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 
 

5. The CONSULTANT shall provide landscape/hardscape improvements to the 
center of the proposed roundabout and approaching splitter islands. The 
improvements shall have similar design elements as those recently built at other 
roundabouts within the City The CONSULTANT shall provide 3D color images of 
landscape/hardscape concepts and include precedent images and material 
options to the CLIENT for comments. The CONSULTANT shall include in the final 

267

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

plans elevations, hardscape features, planting designs and tables, details, and 
lighting. 

 
6. The CONSULTANT shall coordinate with existing franchise utility owners in the 

corridor. The CONSULTANT will coordinate with the CLIENT and utility companies 
to discuss the location of facilities and potential impacts as a result of the project, 
review utility relocation plans prepared by the utility company; and help facilitate a 
schedule with the CLIENT and utility companies to perform relocations prior to the 
project construction.  

 
J. The CONSULTANT shall provide the following ROW services: 

 
CONSULTANT will provide State of Iowa licensed real estate agents who will 
negotiate and endeavor to acquire for the CLIENT all of the necessary easements 
and/or real property parcels needed for the Project based on the quantities noted 
above.  Ben Alison and/or Cody Frederickson is an employee of the CONSULTANT, 
and is a state of Iowa licensed real estate broker with SNYDER & ASSOCIATES 
RIGHT-OF-WAY SERVICES, LLC, Ankeny, Iowa, a State of Iowa licensed real 
estate broker and a wholly owned subsidiary of CONSULTANT.  Ben Alison and/or 
Cody Frederickson will be designated as “Appointed Agents” and will represent the 
CLIENT in a “Buyer Exclusive Agency” capacity in all matters pertaining to the 
negotiation and acquisition of easements and/or real property for said public 
improvement project.  CLIENT shall also be a CLIENT of Appointed Agent. 

 
CLIENT and CONSULTANT acknowledge and agree that the Appointed Agents are 
required to adhere to Federal and State of Iowa statutes; the rules of the Supreme 
Court of Iowa as they may pertain to real estate agents; the rules and regulations 
promulgated by the Iowa Real Estate Commission; and, the Iowa Administrative Rules 
and regulations in regards to real estate agents’ conduct, responsibilities, and duties.  
Said statutes, rules and regulations will supersede and be paramount to any provision 
contained herein, anything to the contrary notwithstanding. 
 
In regard to acquisitions, CONSULTANT will: 
 
1. Attend initial project meetings with the representatives of CLIENT to establish lines 

of communication regarding elements of the scope and schedule and to set 
property acquisition parameters for the Project;  

2. Complete a parcel file for each property involved with the Project in accordance 
with the needs of CLIENT and/or the Project requirements; 

3. Retain and coordinate the services of a licensed, certified appraiser (hereinafter 
referred to as “Appraiser”) who, subject to the approval of the CLIENT, will be a 
subconsultant to CONSULTANT.  The Appraiser or Broker will prepare project data 
books and of brokers opinion of value, as needed. The Appraiser will prepare, sign 
and furnish to the CONSULTANT and CLIENT appraisal documentation following 
accepted appraisal principles and techniques in accordance with the Iowa DOT 
“Appraisal Policy & Procedures Manual”.  The CLIENT will review and forward 
written approval of all findings by the Appraiser. It is assumed that individual 
appraisals are not required or included with this scope; 

4. Retain and coordinate the services of an abstractor, who will be a subconsultant 
to CONSULTANT, who will prepare Certificates of Title for parcels where fee title 
and permanent easements are required. 

5. Use acquisition forms and documents provided by CLIENT or prepare acquisition 
documents under the direction, review and approval of the CLIENT’s legal 

268

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

department.  Acquisition documents may include, but not be limited to: (1) Offer to 
Purchase, (2) 10 day-waiver, (3) real estate purchase agreement, (4) Easements, 
(5) Warranty Deed, (6) title clearing documents as directed by CLIENT’s attorney, 
and (7) release of tenant interest and leasehold claims; 

6. Make (through the Appointed Agent) personal and private contacts with each 
property owner and tenant (the Parties) or their representative to explain the effect 
of the acquisition, answer questions, present a written offer, and consider counter 
offers and to make approved offers for administrative settlements.  Non-resident 
property owners will be contacted by certified or registered mail or by U.P.S. 

7. Make a good faith effort to acquire the necessary property within 90 days after a 
written offer has been submitted to the owner and tenant.  Negotiations will be 
considered complete upon occurrence of one of the following: (1) the parties 
accept the offer, (2) the parties accept an administrative settlement, (3) the parties 
fail or refuse to accept the offer or administrative settlement, and/or (4) in the 
judgment of the CONSULTANT, negotiations have reached an impasse; 

8. Notify the CLIENT of every parcel on which negotiations have reached an impasse 
or which cannot be acquired by negotiated Agreement at the completion of the 
negotiations phase of the work.  If the CLIENT is to condemn, the CONSULTANT 
will deliver as much of the file to the CLIENT as is necessary for the CLIENT’s 
condemnation attorneys to begin preparation for the condemnation of the parcel.  
The CLIENT will provide written notice to the parties that the parcel is being 
prepared for condemnation.  The CONSULTANT, when notified in writing by the 
CLIENT, will continue in an attempt to negotiate an Agreement after notice has 
been sent that condemnation is being prepared, but before notice of condemnation 
has been served.  Once notice of condemnation has been served, negotiations will 
cease unless requested by CLIENT to continue as additional services. 

9. Deliver all signed acquisition documents and title clearing (as directed by CLIENT’s 
attorney), to CLIENT for payment and closing tasks. 

10. No relocation services are included by the CONSULTANT. 
11. If the CLIENT would like additional services after negotiations have reached an 

impasse (e.g. attending the condemnation hearings) this would be an additional 
service.  

 
CLIENT’S ACQUISITION RESPONSIBILITIES: CLIENT understands and agrees that 
it will be responsible for and will provide the following, in a timely manner: 
 
1. Unless produced by Snyder & Associates, Inc. survey and engineering staff, 

provide to CONSULTANT all known and existing plans, specifications and data 
pertaining to the project that may affect CONSULTANT’s Services to be provided.  
Unless otherwise noted by CLIENT, CONSULTANT may rely upon the plans, 
specifications and data provided being accurate and complete; 

2. Provide all licenses, permits, and government or agency approvals that may be 
necessary to complete the Work and/or Project; 

3. Unless produced by Snyder & Associates, Inc. survey and engineering staff, 
provide to CONSULTANT legal descriptions and acquisition plats for each parcel 
to be acquired, unless CLIENT requests CONSULTANT to provide said legal 
descriptions and acquisition plats and incorporates this request as a part of 
CONSULTANT’s scope of work. 

4. Provide all necessary forms and/or documents to complete each acquisition and/or 
provide the services of CLIENT’s attorney to supervise, review and approve any 
and all legal documents prepared by CONSULTANT.   

5. Coordinate the timing and sequence of CONSULTANT’s Services with the 
Services of others to the Project;  

6. Make interim and final decisions utilizing information supplied by CONSULTANT. 

269

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

7. Process Council Roll Calls/Requisitions. 
Perform the following task for closings: Provide title opinions; prepare and 
distribute proceed checks to owners and tenants; prepare closing statements; 
prepare 1099 tax forms; update abstracts; record all pertinent documents. 

 
K. The CONSULTANT shall complete preliminary and final design services and preparation 

of construction documents for the roadway, storm sewer, water main and sanitary sewer 
infrastructure improvements and mass grading of the site based on approved concept plan 
for the eastern 76 Ac to the east of Hudson Road along with the regional detention basin 
to the west of Hudson Road.  
 

1. Prepare a functional design memo that includes design parameters and criterial 
items that will be utilized (e.g. typical section, roadway classification, speeds, etc.), 
project assumptions, potential design exceptions, etc. This information will be 
utilized for the remainder of the design. Shall include development of left turn lane 
at Waterway Ave and  closure at existing intersection east of Cyber Lane. Right 
turn lanes are not anticipated or included for the design.  
 

2. Attend two public meetings as deemed necessary by the CLIENT for public input 
and clarification.  

 
3. Shall include tunneling of new culvert under Hudson Road to allow for regional 

detention basin on the west side of Hudson Road.  Regional detention basin design 
details and outlet structure will be provided. 

 
4. Develop preliminary design plans (50%) and the associated engineer’s opinion of 

probable cost (EOPC). These shall generally include pavement plan and profile 
information, storm sewer, water main, sanitary sewer, and lighting layout. 
Pedestrian ramps will be included and detailed but sidewalk design is not included 
and will be completed with the individual site developments.  

 
5. Prepare a final grading plan with one-foot contours, spot elevations and 

construction notes.  
 

6. Develop final design plans (90%), and updated EOPC, and a draft project manual 
upon receipt and incorporation of review comments from the preliminary plans. 

 
7. Prepare a Storm Water Pollution Preventions Plan for the project site and apply 

for NPDES Permit No. 2 through the City of Cedar Falls. All fees associated with 
permits to be pass-through expenses or supplied by the CLIENT at time of 
submittal. 

 
8. Prepare and apply for applicable DNR water and wastewater construction permits. 

All fees associated with the permits to be pass-through expenses or supplied by 
the CLIENT at time of submittal. 

 
9. Prepare and compline all design bid documents (100%), prepare final project 

manual (including specifications), and a final EOPC of proposed improvements 
after incorporation of review comments from final plans. 

 
10. Attend three meetings with CLIENT for reviews and approvals.  

 
L. The CONSULTANT shall complete a storm water management per the following: 

 

270

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

1. Complete the Master Storm Water Management Plan as required through the City. 
The Plan shall analyze what storm water management practices are proposed on 
site with the anticipated regional detention basin to be located on the west side of 
Hudson Road.  It is anticipated that a regional basin will be provided and the size, 
layout and depth of the basin will be determined through configuration of the 
basin and the drainage areas of the development. Snyder and Associates shall 
prepare the storm water calculations and modeling report as required by City.  
 

2. Detailed site plan design calculations required for site development will be 
completed for the development of the interior storm sewer. Based upon the storm 
water calculations report, the Engineer shall prepare the model to provide storm 
water quality volume improvements as required by the City. Includes design details 
as necessary for submittal. 

 
M. The CONSULTANT shall assist the CLIENT with bid letting services.  These services shall 

include addressing contractor questions and issuance of any site clarifications during the 
bidding phase. 
 

N. The CONSULTANT shall prepare the final plat document in accordance with the City 
Subdivision Regulation, Zoning Ordinance requirements.  Final plat document, plat book 
pages, and recording prints shall be prepared and provided to the CLIENT for recording by 
the CLIENT’s Attorney. Prints for submittal to the City including review sets and the 
required official document sets shall be provided. 

 
O. The CONSULTANT shall prepare an acquisition plat document for the anticipated ROW 

needs for the round-a-bout at W Ridgeway Ave and Cyber Lane in accordance with the 
City Subdivision Regulation, Zoning Ordinance requirements.  Acquisition plat 
document,and recording prints shall be prepared and provided to the CLIENT for recording 
by the CLIENT’s Attorney. Prints for submittal to the City including review sets and the 
required official document sets shall be provided. 
 

P. The Consultant shall prepare community entry gateway construction drawings for the 
anticipated entry feature.  This shall include the proposed sign elevations and construction 
details along with electrical plans for the sign lighting and light fixtures.   A structural plan 
shall be provided for the sign footings, walls and reinforcement details.   
 

Q. The following shall be considered additional services as requested by CLIENT. Items may 
be performed on an hourly basis or should a specific scope be defined, quotation for 
services may be provided:  
 

1. A Second Roundabout on Ridgeway Avenue at Waterway Ave 
2. Culvert reconstruction under Hudson Road and closure of Hudson Road 
3. Ridgeway Avenue right turn lanes design at Waterway intersection 
4. Hudson Road improvements 
5. DOT permitting and access on Hudson Road 
6. FEMA permitting 
7. Army Corps of Engineer permitting 
8. Waterway Avenue extension 
9. Environmental delineations and/or permitting 
10. Offsite sanitary sewer extension 
11. Site certification 
12. Concepting or design for 80 acres west of Hudson Road 
13. Individual site building pad area grading plans 
14. Trail improvements 

271

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 

15. Lighting design for street lights associated with the Commerce Park (Roundabout 
lighting included in design fees for Roundabout) 

16. Construction staking 
17. Construction observation 
18. Construction administration 

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion 

of the Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all 

necessary approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having 
jurisdiction over the project; and designate a person with authority to act on 
CLIENT’s behalf on all matters concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data 

pertinent to the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be 
required for the project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such 
information, data and the results of such other services in performing its Services 
hereunder. 

 

272

Item 22.



 
Consultant  Gibson Property Development 
Project No.   Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. SU-290-33454 

 

    
Exhibit B 

 
Gibson Property Development 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
City Project Number SU-290-3345 

 
  

Payment Terms 
 

Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 
other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not 
to exceed fee of five hundred and eight thousand dollars ($508,000). 
 
 Project Administration   $12,000 
 Concept Development   $16,000  
 Survey Services   $33,000  
 Desktop Environmental Review    $4,000 
 Preliminary Plat    $14,000 
 Geotechnical Investigation   $15,000  
 Traffic Impact Analysis   $19,000 
 Traffic Signal Design   $25,000 
 Preliminary Design (Roundabout) $90,000 
 Final Design (Roundabout)   $86,000 
 Landscaping (Roundabout)   $23,000 
 Franchise Utility Coord (Roundabout) $10,000 
 ROW Services    $12,000 
 Preliminary Development Design $32,000 
 Final Development Design  $28,000 
 Bid Documents    $15,000 
 Storm Water Management Plan  $10,000  
 Letting Assistance     $5,000 
 Final Plat      $8,000  
 Acquisition Plat      $2,000 
 Entrance Feature Design  $24,000 
 Contingency 5%    $25,000 

 

273

Item 22.



Billing Classification/Level Billing Rate 
PROFESSIONAL 

Engineer, Landscape Architect, Land Surveyor, GIS, Environmental Scientist 
Project Manager, Planner, Right-of-Way Agent, Graphic Designer 

Principal II $252.00/hour 

Principal I $237.00/hour 

Senior $216.00/hour 
VIII $198.00/hour 
VII $187.00/hour 

VI $178.00/hour 

V $166.00/hour 

IV $153.00/hour 
III $141.00/hour 
II $128.00/hour 
I $115.00/hour 
TECHNICAL 

CAD, Survey, Construction Observation 

Lead $150.00/hour 
Senior $144.00/hour 

VIII $134.00/hour 

VII $124.00/hour 
VI $111.00/hour 
V $101.00/hour 
IV $91.00/hour 

III $82.00/hour 

II $75.00/hour 

I $66.00/hour 
ADMINISTRATIVE 

II $77.00/hour 
I $63.00/hour 
REIMBURSABLES 

Mileage Current IRS standard rate 

Outside Services As Invoiced 

EXHIBIT B

274

Item 22.



EXHIBIT “C” 

 
 

    
Exhibit C 

 
 

Gibson Property Development 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number SU-290-33454 
 

   
 

01-19-2022 
 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
FOR CONTRACTORS 

FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 

 
This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who perform 
work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “Contractor” as used in this document shall be 
defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design contractor that will be 
performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract.  The term “Agreement” 
herein shall mean the agreement of which this Exhibit forms a part.  
 
 

1. All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized 
by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be issued by 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   

 
2. The Contractor shall obtain and maintain through the term of the Agreement, 

insurance with the terms set forth in this Exhibit and with limits of coverage equal 
to or in excess of those set forth on Pages 3-4 of this Exhibit.  By requiring the 
insurance as set forth in this Exhibit the City does not represent that coverage or 
limits will necessarily be adequate to protect Contractor’s interests and such 
coverage and limits shall not be deemed a limitation on Contractor’s liability 
under the Agreement or under the indemnity provisions of this Exhibit.  The City 
shall have the right at any time to require liability insurance with greater coverage 
than that otherwise specified herein.   

 
3. Coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. All deviations 

or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 
shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the review and approval of the 
City. 

 
 

275

Item 22.



Gibson Property Development 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

4. Contractor shall maintain ongoing Commercial General Liability coverage for at 
least 2 years following substantial completion of the work, under the Agreement, 
to cover liability arising from the products-completed operations hazard and 
liability assumed under an insured contract. 

 
5. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not contain 

the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially similar 
clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 

6. Certificate of Insurance: Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of 
Insurance, with accompanying endorsements, to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for 
the coverage required herein. See Pages 6-12 of this Exhibit.  

 
A. Upon request by the City, Contractor shall provide Certificates of 

Insurance for all subcontractors and sub-sub-contractors who perform 
work or services pursuant to the provisions of the Agreement. 

 
B. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 

Cancellation & Material Changes Endorsement.   
 

7. Termination: Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver 
of these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure of the Contractor to 
obtain or maintain the required insurance shall be considered a material breach 
of the Agreement, and at City’s option, shall allow City to terminate the 
Agreement for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s expense. 

 
 

  

276

Item 22.



Gibson Property Development 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

8. Insurance Limits 
 

A. Commercial General Liability 
 
The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a primary and non-
contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of subrogation endorsement 
in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
Fire Damage (any one occurrence) $100,000  
Medical Payments $5,000  
Personal & Advertising Injury $1,000,000  
General Aggregate $2,000,000  
Products-Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000  

 
Required Endorsements - sample endorsements Pages 7-11 of this Exhibit 
Blanket or Scheduled Additional Insured  
Owners, Lessees or Contractors - Scheduled Person or 
Organization 

CG 20 10 12 19         
or Equivalent 

Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees or Contractors - 
Completed Operations 

CG 20 37 12 19           
or Equivalent 

Governmental Immunity                                     
(Nonwaiver of Government Immunity -                    
Code of Iowa §670.4) 

Equivalent to sample 
on Page 7 of this 
Exhibit. 

Designated Construction Project(S) General Aggregate 
Limit (if applicable) 

CG 25 03 05 09         
or Equivalent 

 
 
B. Automobile Liability 
 
Coverage is required for non-owned and hired vehicles, if the Contractor does 
not own any vehicles.  The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a 
primary and non-contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of 
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Bodily Injury & Property Damage (each accident) $1,000,000  (CSL) 
Hired & Non-Owned Autos  If required 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

277

Item 22.



Gibson Property Development 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

C. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability  
 
As required by any applicable law or regulation.  The policy will include waiver 
of subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Workers' Compensation Statutory Limits 
Bodily Injury Each Accident $500,000  
Bodily Injury by Disease Policy Limit $500,000  
Bodily Injury by Disease Each Employee $500,000  

 
 
D. Umbrella/Excess Liability 
 
If the umbrella/excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the 
same endorsement as required of the primary policies including but not 
limited to additional insured on a primary and non-contributory, and waiver of 
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls.   
 

Each Occurrence $3,000,000  
Aggregate $3,000,000  

 
 
E. Errors & Omissions/Professional Liability 
 
If the Agreement’s scope of services includes design work or other 
professional consultation services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except 
for intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services 
performed by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & 
Omissions coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the 
Agreement, and continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date 
of completion of all work completed or services performed under the 
Agreement. 
 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

278

Item 22.



Gibson Property Development 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

 
9. Indemnification and Hold Harmless Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted by 

law, the Contractor agrees to defend (for all non-professional claims), indemnify, 
and hold harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed 
officials, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, (hereinafter, collectively the “City”) against any and all claims, demands, 
suits or loss, including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and 
for damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the 
City, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason of personal injury, 
including bodily injury or death, and property damages, which arises out of or is 
in any way connected or associated with the work and/or services provided by 
the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, pursuant to the provisions of the 
Agreement to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or 
intentional acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is the intention of the parties that the City 
shall not be liable or in any way responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss 
or expense incurred by the Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, 
and others affiliated with the Contractor due to accidents, mishaps, misconduct, 
negligence or injuries either in person or property resulting from the work and/or 
services performed by the Contractor pursuant to the provisions of the 
Agreement, except for and to the extent caused by the negligence of the City.   

 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
pursuant to the Agreement to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions, 
negligent or intentional acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, 
subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, premises resulting from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its 
officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to 
the extent arising out of such errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts. 

 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of the 
Agreement will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its agents, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety laws, rules, regulations and standards. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

279

Item 22.



Gibson Property Development 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 

ENDORSEMENTS 
 
 

ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 
 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its 
employees, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, are 
included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 20 10 12 19 or 
equivalent, and completed operations CG 20 37 12 19 or equivalent. See specimens on 
Pages 9-10 of this Exhibit. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing with any 
other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, whether other 
available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
_______________________________ 

 
GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 

(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 
 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees and 
states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of governmental immunity 
available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now 
exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of governmental 
immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be 
amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any 
time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing 
contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from asserting the defense of 
governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under 
this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits 
accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of governmental 
immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the 
defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall not otherwise 
change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

280

Item 22.



Gibson Property Development 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. SU-290-33454 
 
 

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 
 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction in 
coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-payment of premium shall 
be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement supersedes the standard cancellation 
statement on the Certificate of Insurance to which this endorsement is attached.  
Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 days advance written notice of 
cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage and/or limits, and 10 days advance 
written notice of non-payment of premium. 

 
 

________________________________ 
 
 
 

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS 
OF RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US  

(Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement) 
 
To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby releases the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its directors, employees, and agents working 
on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or 
responsibility to the Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by 
way of subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s employees. This 
provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss or 
damage occurring during the time of the Agreement or arising out of the work performed 
under the Agreement. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for Professional 
Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 

281

Item 22.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: August 29, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Latest group of Ordinance Amendments 
 
 

Please find attached the latest group of proposed changes to the Code of Ordinances.  These are the 

result of an extensive study of the City’s insurance and bonding requirements found in the Code of 

Ordinances.  Much of it is updating the requirements, simplifying them, and in some cases eliminating 

them.  There are four separate ordinances proposed in this group.  An explanation for each ordinance 

follows: 

 

First ordinance:  Sec. 19-14.  This is a new section.  The purpose of the ordinance is to establish a 

standard and other requirements for work performed in City right-of-way or on City property, and to make 

bond requirements simpler for those performing such work.  Note that this is to be distinguished from City 

contracted work, which has separate insurance and bond requirements.  This is aimed at those who are 

licensed to perform work in City rights-of-way or who have a permit to do so.  For example, those who 

perform sidewalk repairs or construct driveway approaches would be subject to this new ordinance.   

 

In upcoming ordinance changes you will see references to new Section 19-14. 

 

Second ordinance:  This ordinance is proposed to repeal Section 3-46 and Section 7-93.  Section 3-46 

relating to a painter’s or erector’s license is unnecessary because the City has not required such a license 

for many years.  It is believed that general contractors generally perform such work, and such general 

contractors are already licensed by the State of Iowa. 

 

The repeal of Section 7-93 is necessary because the State of Iowa has different bonding requirements for 

those who perform work with natural gas and this ordinance is in conflict with those State requirements. 

 

Third ordinance:  Section 7-275 and Section 25-29 are proposed to be amended in this ordinance.  

Section 7-275 is proposed to be amended to clarify and update insurance requirements for licensed 

building movers in the City.  The change to Section 25-29 accomplishes the same thing regarding 

taxicabs and limousine services. 

 

Fourth ordinance:  This proposed ordinance amends Section 7-276, Section 7-311, Section 10-73, and 

Section 13-103.  

 

Section 7-276 simplifies the bond requirement for licensed building movers. 

 

Section 7-311 eliminates the bond requirement for a building moving permit because only licensed 

building movers may take out a permit for this work and they are already required to carry a bond as a 

282

Item 23.



2 

 

condition of licensure (see Section 7-276 above). 

 

Section 10-73 eliminates the bond requirement for filling on private property.  This bond requirement in 

the amount of $200 has not been enforced for many years. 

 

Section 13-103 adds another condition to the bond requirement for those having a retail distress sale to 

pay all sums due to the City.  This is a typical bond requirement. 

 

There will be more insurance and bond ordinance changes to come in the future but those will 

accompany substantive changes to the same ordinances or those within the same Division to ensure 

continuity.  

 

I recommend approval of these ordinance changes.          

 

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.   

 

Thank you.  

283

Item 23.



 

ORDINANCE NO.    

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ARTICLE I, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 19, STREETS AND 

SIDEWALKS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

BY ADDING A NEW SECTION 19-14, WORK PERFORMED WITHIN CITY RIGHT-OF-WAY 

OR PROPERTY, TO ESTABLISH STANDARDS FOR SUCH WORK. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Article I, In General, of Chapter 19, Streets and Sidewalks, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended by enacting a new Section 19-14, Work 

Performed Within City Right-of-Way or Property, as follows: 

Sec. 19-14.  Work performed within city right-of-way or property. 

     All work performed within city right-of-way or in or on other city property shall be done in accordance 
with all applicable city ordinances, standards, and regulations, and be done in a good and workmanlike 
manner, and all material included in such work shall be free from defect.  Further, all sums that may 
become due to the city on account of such work shall be paid by the person performing the work or on 
whose behalf the work is being performed.  Any damage to city right-of-way or other city property caused 
by or arising out of such work shall be repaired by such person.  A surety bond may be required to ensure 
compliance with this section. 
       
INTRODUCED:          

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

                                                                                   

             

                                                                                       

                                                                                                                      Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

     
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

284

Item 23.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING ARTICLE II, SIGNS, OF CHAPTER 3, ADVERTISING, BY 

REPEALING SECTION 3-46, PAINTER’S OR ERECTOR’S LICENSE, TO CONFORM THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CITY PRACTICE OF NOT REQUIRING SUCH A LICENSE; 

AND 2)  AMENDING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, GAS REGULATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS, BY REPEALING SECTION 7-93, 

BOND; GUARANTEE OF SERVICE, TO CONFORM THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CITY 

PRACTICE AND STATE LAW, ALL OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 1.  Section 3-46, Painter’s or Erector’s License, of Article II, Signs, of Chapter 3, 

Advertising, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety, as follows: 

Sec. 3-46. Painter's or erector's license. 

(a) Required; fee; renewal. 

(1) Painter's license. Any person desiring to engage in the act of drawing, painting or posting a sign 

on any existing building or billboard or signboard surface subject to the provisions of this article must first 

obtain a painter's license from the city clerk. Such license shall be limited to the drawing, painting or 

posting of signs only. The license fee shall be in the amount established annually by resolution by the city 

council, subject of the exceptions as contained in subsection (a)(2) of this section and said license fee 

shall be payable annually on January 1 of each year.  

(2) Erector's license. Any person engaging in the act of painting, erecting, maintaining, repairing, 

servicing, installing or removing signs, billboards or signboards, regardless of size or weight, must first 

apply to the city for an erector's license. The erector's license provided for in this subsection shall be in 

lieu of the painter's license contained in subsection (a)(1) of this section. The license fee for the first year 

shall be in the amount established annually by resolution by the city council. Renewals shall be made on 

or before January 1 of each year, and the cost of such renewal, shall be in the amount established 

annually by resolution by the city council.  

(b) Exemptions. No license required in subsection (a) of this section shall be required for the 

following:  

(1) A sign erected by an owner on his property which is exempt from a certificate of liability.  

(2) Signs advertising the sale, rental or lease of the premises or part of the premises on which the 

sign is displayed. One such nonilluminated sign, not to exceed six square feet in size, shall be permitted 

on each premises.  

(3) Address signs posted in conjunction with doorbells or mailboxes showing only the numerical 

address and occupants of the premises upon which the sign is situated. One such nonilluminated sign 

shall be permitted per address.  

(4) Home occupation signs.  

285

Item 24.



(5) Traffic, regulatory and other municipal signs erected upon direction of the city council.  

(c) Bond. An applicant for an erector's license, at the time of applying for such license, shall execute 

and file with his application a surety and performance bond, signed by sureties to be approved by the city 

council and in the amount established annually by resolution by the city council. The terms of such bond 

shall guarantee full compliance by the principal with all ordinances of this city regulating and licensing 

such operation and shall guarantee the payment of any fines or penalties which may be assessed to the 

extent of the face amount of the bond.  

(Code 2017, § 3-46; Ord. No. 2067, § 2, 10-10-1994) 

          Section 2.  Section 7-93, Bond; Guarantee of Service, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Gas 

Regulations, of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, as follows: 

Sec. 7-93. Bond; guarantee of service. 

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person, except as otherwise provided in this article, to install, alter or 

repair any gas piping, gas vent, or gas burning appliances until the person has first obtained a 

surety bond in the amount of $1,000.00, which must be approved by the inspector and held on file 

in the gas operations department at the Cedar Falls Utilities.  

(b) The bond shall be accompanied by a guarantee of future 24-hour on call service on all equipment 

to be installed. This guarantee shall be limited to a period of two years from the date of installation 

of such equipment.  

(c) It shall be the responsibility of the person to keep a current bond on file in the gas operations 

department at the Cedar Falls Utilities. If the bond expires, no further installation permits shall be 

issued to the individual or company until a valid bond is issued and filed as provided herein.  

(Code 2017, § 7-196; Ord. No. 2321, § 2, 1-8-2001) 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

                                                                                   

_______________________________                                Attest: ______________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                    Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

286

Item 24.



 

ORDINANCE NO.    

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING ARTICLE II, SIGNS, OF CHAPTER 3, ADVERTISING, BY 

REPEALING SECTION 3-46, PAINTER’S OR ERECTOR’S LICENSE, TO CONFORM THE 

CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CITY PRACTICE OF NOT REQUIRING SUCH A LICENSE; 

AND 2)  AMENDING DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, GAS REGULATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS, BY REPEALING SECTION 7-93, 

BOND; GUARANTEE OF SERVICE, TO CONFORM THE CODE OF ORDINANCES TO CITY 

PRACTICE AND STATE LAW, ALL OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 1.  Section 3-46, Painter’s or Erector’s License, of Article II, Signs, of Chapter 3, 

Advertising, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in 

its entirety, as follows: 

 

          Section 2.  Section 7-93, Bond; Guarantee of Service, of Division 1, Generally, of Article IV, Gas 

Regulations, of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, as follows: 

 

INTRODUCED:          

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

                                                                                   

                                    

               Daniel Laudick, Mayor            

                                                          

Attest:  

 

      

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

287

Item 24.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 7-275, INSURANCE, OF DIVISION 2, LICENSE, 

OF ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING 

REGULATIONS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 25-29, LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIRED, 

OF ARTICLE II, TAXICABS AND LIMOUSINES, OF CHAPTER 25, VEHICLES FOR HIRE, 

ALL OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO 

UPDATE INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 1.  Section 7-275, Insurance, of Division 2, License, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, 

of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Section 7-275, Insurance, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-275. Insurance. 

                  Before any license required by this division shall be issued, the applicant therefor shall first 

obtain and furnish to the city clerk satisfactory proof ofan commercial general liability insurance with limits 

of at leastpolicy for public liability and property damage in the amount of $1,000,000.00 per occurrence 

and $2,000,000.00 in the aggregate, and such insurance shall be maintained during the period of the 

licenseperson injured, $300,000.00 for each accident, and $50,000.00 property damage. The insurance 

policy shall name the city and the applicant as named insured, and shall provide that the policy cannot be 

revoked, cancelled or modified in any material way until the city has been notified in writingby certified 

mail at least ten days prior to the proposed action.  

(Code 2017, § 7-448) 

 Section 2.  Section 25-29, Liability Insurance Required, of Article II, Taxicabs and Limousines, 

of Chapter 25, Vehicles for Hire, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 

hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Section 25-29, Liability Insurance Required, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 25-29. Liability insurance required. 

(a) No permit shall be issued or continued in operation unless and until the owner of the vehicle for hire 

shall have furnished to the city clerk satisfactory proofan insurance policy or certificate of 

commercial automobile insurance issued by an insurance company licensed to do business in the 

state, providing insurance coverage as follows:  

(1) For taxicabs, commercialprimary automobile insurance with combined single limitin the amount of 

at least $21,000,000.00 because of bodily injury to or death of one or more persons and injury to or 

destruction of property of others in any one accident.  

(2) For limousines, commercialprimary automobile insurance with combined single limitin the amount of 

at least $21,0500,000.00 because of bodily injury to or death of one or more persons and injury to 

or destruction of property of others in any one accident.  

288

Item 25.



(b) The insurance policy or certificate of insurance referred to in this section shall not be revoked, 

cancelled or modified in any material way until the city has been notified in writing at least ten days 

prior to the intended actionprovide that it cannot be canceled or terminated until ten days' notice of 

such cancellation or termination shall have been given by registered or certified mail to the city 

clerk. Satisfactory proofThe certificate of insurance must accompany the application required in 

section 25-25.  

(c) The cancellation or other termination of any insurance policy issued in compliance with this section 

shall automatically revoke and terminate the permit and all licenses issued for the vehicle for hire 

business and the vehicles covered by the insurance policy, unless another policy, complying with 

this section, shall be provided and in effect at the time of the cancellation or termination. The city 

clerk shall immediately issue written notification of the revocation of the permit and all licenses for 

the vehicle for hire business and the vehicles covered by insurance which is canceled or 

terminated.  

(d) By applying for and accepting a permit from the city for the purposes contained in this article, the 

holder of a permit shall hold the city harmless from any liability resulting from the operation of the 

holder's vehicle for hire business.  

(Code 2017, § 28-33; Ord. No. 2182, § 1, 2-14-1997; Ord. No. 2347, § 1, 9-24-2001; Ord. No. 2891, § 

1(28-33), 12-19-2016) 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

                                                                                   

_______________________________                                Attest: ______________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                    Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

289

Item 25.



 

ORDINANCE NO.    

 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 7-275, INSURANCE, OF DIVISION 2, LICENSE, 

OF ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING 

REGULATIONS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 25-29, LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIRED, 

OF ARTICLE II, TAXICABS AND LIMOUSINES, OF CHAPTER 25, VEHICLES FOR HIRE, 

ALL OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO 

UPDATE INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                 Section 1.  Section 7-275, Insurance, of Division 2, License, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, 

of Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Section 7-275, Insurance, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-275. Insurance. 

                  Before any license required by this division shall be issued, the applicant shall first obtain and 

furnish to the city clerk satisfactory proof of commercial general liability insurance with limits of at least 

$1,000,000.00 per occurrence and $2,000,000.00 in the aggregate, and such insurance shall be 

maintained during the period of the license. The insurance policy shall provide that the policy cannot be 

revoked, cancelled or modified in any material way until the city has been notified in writing at least ten 

days prior to the proposed action.  

(Code 2017, § 7-448) 

 Section 2.  Section 25-29, Liability Insurance Required, of Article II, Taxicabs and Limousines, 

of Chapter 25, Vehicles for Hire, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is 

hereby repealed in its entirety, and a new Section 25-29, Liability Insurance Required, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 25-29. Liability insurance required. 

(a) No permit shall be issued or continued in operation unless and until the owner of the vehicle for hire 

shall have furnished to the city clerk satisfactory proof of commercial automobile insurance 

providing insurance coverage as follows:  

(1) For taxicabs, commercial automobile insurance with combined single limit of at least $2,000,000.00.  

(2) For limousines, commercial automobile insurance with combined single limit of at least 

$2,000,000.00.  

(b) The insurance policy referred to in this section shall not be revoked, cancelled or modified in any 

material way until the city has been notified in writing at least ten days prior to the intended action. 

Satisfactory proof of insurance must accompany the application required in section 25-25.  

290

Item 25.



(c) The cancellation or other termination of any insurance policy issued in compliance with this section 

shall automatically revoke and terminate the permit and all licenses issued for the vehicle for hire 

business and the vehicles covered by the insurance policy, unless another policy, complying with 

this section, shall be provided and in effect at the time of the cancellation or termination. The city 

clerk shall immediately issue written notification of the revocation of the permit and all licenses for 

the vehicle for hire business and the vehicles covered by insurance which is canceled or 

terminated.  

(d) By applying for and accepting a permit from the city for the purposes contained in this article, the 

holder of a permit shall hold the city harmless from any liability resulting from the operation of the 

holder's vehicle for hire business.  

(Code 2017, § 28-33; Ord. No. 2182, § 1, 2-14-1997; Ord. No. 2347, § 1, 9-24-2001; Ord. No. 2891, § 

1(28-33), 12-19-2016) 

 

INTRODUCED:          

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:        

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:        

ADOPTED:           

                                                                                   

                                             

               Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                     

 

Attest: 

 

      
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

291

Item 25.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 7-276, BOND, OF DIVISION 2, LICENSE, OF 

ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING 

REGULATIONS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 7-311, ISSUANCE, OF DIVISION 3, 

PERMIT, OF ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND 

BUILDING REGULATIONS; AND 3) AMENDING SECTION 10-73, UNLAWFUL DUMPING; 

FILLING ON PRIVATE LAND, OF ARTICLE III, CITY DUMPING GROUNDS, OF CHAPTER 

10, GARBAGE AND REFUSE; AND 4) AMENDING SECTION 13-103, BOND, OF DIVISION 

3, DISTRESS SALES, OF ARTICLE II, SPECIFIC BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 13, LICENSES AND BUSINESS REGULATIONS, ALL OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO UPDATE AND SIMPLIFY BOND 

REQUIREMENTS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 7-276, Bond, of Division 2, License, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of 

Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 7-276, Bond, is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-276. Bond. 

The applicant for a license required by this division shall file with thehis application a bond with an 

approved corporate surety in the penal sum of $10,000.00, conditioned in accordance with the 

requirements of section 19-14that all work done under the license shall be done in a good and 

workmanlike manner, in accordance with all provisions of this Code and all other ordinances of the city 

relating to house moving, and that the applicant will pay to the city, to the city utilities or to any person all 

costs incurred or all damages for injuries to person or property, including, but not limited to, damages to 

any street, curb or sidewalk or to any other public property caused by negligence, fault or 

mismanagement of the applicant or person in his employ, or due to any other cause, in doing any work 

under the license or a permit for such work.  

(Code 2017, § 7-449) 

                    Section 2. Section 7-311, Issuance, of Division 3, Permit, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of 

Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 7-311, Issuance, is enacted in 

lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-311. Issuance. 

Upon the filing of the application for a permit to move a building, payment of the fee therefor and filing of 

bond, and upon approval of the proposed move by the city arborist, chief of police and the director of 

public works, the permit sought shall be issued by the building official.  

(Code 2017, § 7-477; Ord. No. 2941, § 2, 6-3-2019) 

292

Item 26.



                 Section 3. Section 10-73, Unlawful Dumping; Filling on Private Land, of Article III, City 

Dumping Grounds, of Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 10-73, Unlawful 

Dumping; Filling on Private Land, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 10-73. Unlawful dumping; filling on private land. 

Any person who shall use any lot, open space, street or roadway in the city, instead of the burying, 

dumping and burning ground provided for and established by the council, for the dumping or depositing of 

dead animal matter, garbage matter, offensive materials and substances and other refuse or rubbish shall 

be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be punished in accordance with section 1-

8; provided, however, that any person owning a lot or tract of ground which is low and in need of being 

filled may file with the city clerk a bond in the amount of $200.00 guaranteeing that such person will keep 

the lot or tract of ground in a sanitary and sightly condition, and may then have such lot or tract of ground 

filled by dumping rubbish such as ashes, earth and stones thereon on the approval of the director of 

public worksbond by the council.  

(Code 2017, § 12-64) 

                 Section 4. Section 13-103, Bond, of Division 3, Distress Sales, of Article II, Specific Businesses 

and Occupations, of Chapter 13, Licenses and Business Regulations, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Section 13-103, Bond, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 13-103. Bond. 

Before a license shall be issued by the council, the applicant for the license shall execute and deliver to 

the city a bond in the penal sum of $1,000.00 signed by the applicant, and also signed by a surety 

company duly authorized to transact business in the state, which bond shall be conditioned upon the 

faithful observance of the provisions of this division, payment of all sums that may become due to the city, 

and also conditioned to reimburse and indemnify any purchaser at the closing-out sale held by the 

applicant for any loss incurred or damage sustained by the purchaser by reason of misrepresentation or 

fraud in the sale of any such goods, wares or merchandise.  

(Code 2017, § 16-187) 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

 

__________________________________                                              Attest: ___________________________ 

     Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                                              Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

                                                                                                           

293

Item 26.



 

ORDINANCE NO.    

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 7-276, BOND, OF DIVISION 2, LICENSE, OF 

ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING 

REGULATIONS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 7-311, ISSUANCE, OF DIVISION 3, 

PERMIT, OF ARTICLE VI, MOVING OF BUILDINGS, OF CHAPTER 7, BUILDINGS AND 

BUILDING REGULATIONS; AND 3) AMENDING SECTION 10-73, UNLAWFUL DUMPING; 

FILLING ON PRIVATE LAND, OF ARTICLE III, CITY DUMPING GROUNDS, OF CHAPTER 

10, GARBAGE AND REFUSE; AND 4) AMENDING SECTION 13-103, BOND, OF DIVISION 

3, DISTRESS SALES, OF ARTICLE II, SPECIFIC BUSINESSES AND OCCUPATIONS, OF 

CHAPTER 13, LICENSES AND BUSINESS REGULATIONS, ALL OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO UPDATE AND SIMPLIFY BOND 

REQUIREMENTS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 7-276, Bond, of Division 2, License, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of 

Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 7-276, Bond, is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-276. Bond. 

The applicant for a license required by this division shall file with the application a bond with an approved 

corporate surety in the penal sum of $10,000.00, conditioned in accordance with the requirements of 

section 19-14.  

(Code 2017, § 7-449) 

                    Section 2. Section 7-311, Issuance, of Division 3, Permit, of Article VI, Moving of Buildings, of 

Chapter 7, Buildings and Building Regulations, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 7-311, Issuance, is enacted in 

lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 7-311. Issuance. 

Upon the filing of the application for a permit to move a building, payment of the fee therefor, and upon 

approval of the proposed move by the city arborist, chief of police and the director of public works, the 

permit sought shall be issued by the building official.  

(Code 2017, § 7-477; Ord. No. 2941, § 2, 6-3-2019) 

                 Section 3. Section 10-73, Unlawful Dumping; Filling on Private Land, of Article III, City 

Dumping Grounds, of Chapter 10, Garbage and Refuse, of the Code of Ordinances of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 10-73, Unlawful 

Dumping; Filling on Private Land, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 

 

294

Item 26.



Sec. 10-73. Unlawful dumping; filling on private land. 

Any person who shall use any lot, open space, street or roadway in the city, instead of the burying, 

dumping and burning ground provided for and established by the council, for the dumping or depositing of 

dead animal matter, garbage matter, offensive materials and substances and other refuse or rubbish shall 

be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be punished in accordance with section 1-

8; provided, however, that any person owning a lot or tract of ground which is low and in need of being 

filled may have such lot or tract of ground filled by dumping rubbish such as ashes, earth and stones 

thereon on the approval of the director of public works.  

(Code 2017, § 12-64) 

                 Section 4. Section 13-103, Bond, of Division 3, Distress Sales, of Article II, Specific Businesses 

and Occupations, of Chapter 13, Licenses and Business Regulations, of the Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Section 13-103, Bond, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 13-103. Bond. 

Before a license shall be issued by the council, the applicant for the license shall execute and deliver to 

the city a bond in the penal sum of $1,000.00 signed by the applicant, and also signed by a surety 

company duly authorized to transact business in the state, which bond shall be conditioned upon the 

faithful observance of the provisions of this division, payment of all sums that may become due to the city, 

and also conditioned to reimburse and indemnify any purchaser at the closing-out sale held by the 

applicant for any loss incurred or damage sustained by the purchaser by reason of misrepresentation or 

fraud in the sale of any such goods, wares or merchandise.  

(Code 2017, § 16-187) 

INTRODUCED:           

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:           

 

                                                       

            Daniel Laudick, Mayor                                                                                               

 

Attest: 

 

      

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk                                                                                                     

295

Item 26.



296

Item 27.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 09/16/24 COUNCIL MEETING



297

Item 27.



298

Item 27.



299

Item 27.



300

Item 27.



301

Item 27.



302

Item 27.



303

Item 27.



304

Item 27.



305

Item 27.



306

Item 27.



307

Item 27.



308

Item 27.



309

Item 27.



310

Item 27.



311

Item 27.



312

Item 27.



313

Item 27.



314

Item 27.



315

Item 27.



316

Item 27.



317

Item 27.



318

Item 27.



319

Item 27.



320

Item 27.



321

Item 27.



322

Item 27.



323

Item 27.



324

Item 27.



325

Item 27.



326

Item 27.



327

Item 27.



328

Item 27.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 09/16/24 MEETING



329

Item 27.



330

Item 27.



331

Item 27.



332

Item 27.



333

Item 27.



334

Item 27.



335

Item 27.



336

Item 27.



337

Item 27.



338

Item 27.



339

Item 27.



340

Item 27.



341

Item 27.



342

Item 27.



343

Item 27.



344

Item 27.



345

Item 27.



346

Item 27.



347

Item 27.



348

Item 27.



349

Item 27.



350

Item 27.



351

Item 27.



352

Item 27.



353

Item 27.



354

Item 27.



355

Item 27.



356

Item 27.



357

Item 27.



358

Item 27.



359

Item 27.



360

Item 27.



361

Item 27.



362

Item 27.



363

Item 27.



364

Item 27.



365

Item 27.



366

Item 27.



367

Item 27.



368

Item 27.



369

Item 27.



370

Item 27.



371

Item 27.



372

Item 27.



373

Item 27.



374

Item 27.



375

Item 27.



376

Item 27.



377

Item 27.



378

Item 27.


	Top
	Item 1.	Council Minutes-09/03/24
	240903MINUTES

	Item 2.	Ord.3079-Chapter 5, Alcoholic and Malt Beverages
	1. CC Memo TA24-002.alcohol regs ch.5
	2. Outdoor Service Area Ordinance tracked changes 8.23.24
	3. Liquor License Adoption Ord.final (1)

	Item 3.	Ord.3080-Chapter 12, Human Relations
	1- Memo HRC Ordinance Change 9-3-24 Final
	2- HRC Ordinance Sec. 12-2 Amendment For Council
	3- HRC Ordinance Sec. 12-2 Amendment For Council-Final

	Item 4.	Bicycle & Pedestrian Commission Reappointment - Lauri Young
	2024-09-16_BPC_Reappoint_Lauri Young

	Item 5.	Holiday Hoopa Fireworks
	Holiday Hoopla Fireworks

	Item 6.	Retail Alcohol 9-19-24
	Retail alcohol 9-16-24

	Item 8.	GO Capital Loan Notes-Sale of $4,520,000
	1. bond sale council sale & OS.mem
	2. Cedar Falls (193) - Elec-OS 2024 GO CLN (02400169x7F7E1)
	3. Cedar_Falls_IA_GO_2024_Preliminary_Official_Statement_09-03-2024 (002)

	Item 9.	Wellness and Severance Personnel Policy Updates
	9.16.24 Employee Wellness and Sev. per. pol revisions MEMO
	CFD 2257.24 - Personnel Policy - Employee Wellness 8.29.24 DRAFT
	CFD 2159.22 - Personnel Policy - Severance Pay 9.4.24 DRAFT

	Item 10.	Warranty Deed-4109 West 1st Street
	Memo to Mayor Council Warranty Deed 4109 W 1st St
	1832_001
	Res.-4109 West 1st Street

	Item 11.	CF Housing Trust Fund
	Local match resolution Cedar Falls Local Housing Trust Fund

	Item 12.	Public Safety Aerial Platform Apparatus
	Aerial Platform CC

	Item 13.	Assignment and Assumption Agreement - DS Warehouse, LLC
	1_Memo to Council 09-16-24
	2_Signed Assignment & Assumption Agreement - DS Warehouse, LLC
	Resolution Approving Assignment of Agreement - DS Warehouse, LLC

	Item 14.	Lease Extension-311 Main Street Sculpture
	1810_001

	Item 15.	Gateway Trail-Grant Application: Iowa Tourism
	IA Tourism Grant Funding _Tourism Programs_09-05-24

	Item 17.	Encroachment Agreement for Greenhill Village Subdivision Sign
	1. Memo to Council - Encroachment Agreement
	2. Greenhill Village NA ROW Encroachment Agreement.fv

	Item 18.	Golden China Restaurant
	1_PZ staff report for Golden China Site Plan 9-16-2024
	2. Location Map
	3. 2024_0820 GoldenChina-Civil-Submittal4
	4. Landscape Plan
	5, Golden China - Architect P&Z - 8.20.24

	Item 19.	Compost Facility Management Contract
	2616_001

	Item 20.	PSA - Strand Associates Inc.-2023 Stormwater Master Plan
	1. SA Memo - 2023 Stormwater Planning 
	2.SA 1 - 2023 Stormwater Planning

	Item 21.	Katoski Drive Box Culvert Replacement
	1. Memo Easement Aquisition - Katoski Box Culvert
	2. Katoski Culvert Area Map
	3. Katoski Drive_Exhibit(11x17)
	4. Easements - Marco Properties LLC - Parcel 1
	5. Easements - Marco Properties LLC - Parcel 2

	Item 22.	Professional Service Agreement - Gibson Properties
	1. PSA Memo - Gibson Properties
	2. PSA - Gibson Properties

	Item 23.	1. Ord.-Chap. 19-14: Streets & Sidewalks
	Memo to Mayor Council Ordinance changes September 3 2024
	Ordinance Amendment Section 19-14 Final

	Item 24.	2. Ord.-Chap. 3-46 & 7-93: Advertising & Buildings & Building Regs.
	Ordinance Repeal 3-46 and 7-93-Redline
	Ordinance Repeal 3-46 and 7-93-Final

	Item 25.	3. Ord. Chap. 7-275 & 25-29: Buildings & Building Regs. & Vehicles for Hire
	Ordinance Amendment 7-275 and 25-29-Redline
	Ordinance Amendment 7-275 and 25-29-Final

	Item 26.	4. Ord. Chap. 7-276, 7-311, 10-73 & 13-103: Buildings & Building Regs-Bonds, etc.
	Ordinance Amendments Sections 7-276 7-311 10-73 13-103-Redline
	Ordinance Amendments Sections 7-276 7-311 10-73 13-103-Final

	Item 27.	Bills and Claims 09/16/24
	1 Daily Invoices 091624
	2 Council Invoices 091624

	Bottom

